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Rarely has movement on the global financial markets

been as tumultuous as it was during 2008. Decisive

yet adaptable, HCI is in motion as well. Staying on

course and seizing upon opportunities in a shifting

world is our call.

In motion
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Results                                                            Unit                        2008              2007               Change in %

Revenues                                                         EUR mn                 120.0             137.3                            -12.6

Revenues, other operating income 
and changes in inventories                                EUR mn                 127.2             149.8                            -15.1

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)           EUR mn                 -17.3               40.3                                  --

Earnings before taxes (EBT)                              EUR mn                 -23.2               40.8                                  --

Consolidated net result for the year                   EUR mn                 -16.8               30.6                                  --

EBIT margin                                                      %                                 --               29.4                                  --

Balance sheet

Total assets                                                      EUR mn                 172.6             239.9                            -28.1

Equity                                                               EUR mn                   86.2             118.0                            -26.9

Equity ratio                                                       %                            50.0               49.2                   +0.8% pts.

Employees

Average number of employees                          Number                    309                286                               8.0

Personnel expenses                                         EUR mn                   27.8               28.0                              -0.7

Personnel expense ratio                                   %                            23.2               20.4                     2,8% pts.

Share                                                               

Earnings per share                                           EUR                       -0.70               1.27                                    

Dividend per share (2008 proposal)                   EUR                             --               0.70                                    

Company-specific  
indicators

Customers                                                       Number             119,400         101,900                             17.2

New issues                                                       Number                      25                  32                            -21.9

Investment volume (aggregate)                         EUR mn               14,577           13,274                               9.8

Administered trust assets                                 EUR mn                4,788             4,337                             10.4

Trust fees                                                          EUR mn                  22.7               22.6                               0.4

Key financial indicators
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Investment focus on tangible assets

Enduring value

Indexes fluctuate – tangible assets endure: the per-

formance of tangible assets – be they ships, aircraft

or real estate – has only limited correlation to the

development of the financial markets. Returns from

tangible investments may fluctuate during econo-

mic cycles, but their intrinsic value remains intact

over the long term. 

Transparency

Investments in tangible assets are more transparent

than virtual financial products. Conditions for the

success of investments in HCI's funds are clearly

laid out in the prospectuses. Regular financial state-

ments and performance reports provide our inve-

stors with comprehensive information about the per-

formance of their investment.

Security

By investing in a closed-end fund, an investor holds

a stake in something real. HCI mitigates risks not

only by investing in a diverse selection of tangible

assets, but also through its active management

approach. The structure of each fund makes it pos-

sible for individuals to invest in asset classes other-

wise unavailable to them.
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Dear shareholders of HCI Capital AG, 
dear business associates,

The 2008 financial year was a challenging one, not only for the HCI Group, but for the financial markets and

the industry as a whole. The current financial crisis is a test of endurance for every market participant. Our

company has performed respectably in this challenging environment, especially where our operational busi-

ness is concerned. The entire team showed commitment and character during these turbulent times. That

is a foundation we can build upon.

Fluctuation and flexibility are at the core of what has shaped this Annual Report: market and environmental

flux met with the flexibility shown by the HCI Group, its employees and the company's executive bodies.

International economic developments set fluctuations in motion in 2008. Unfortunately, the global economy

and international trade fluctuated mostly in the wrong direction: in particular, rising prices for commodities,

fuels and foodstuffs stymied economic growth. This was accompanied by corrections in real estate mar-

kets, with assets being written off and banks scrambling for liquidity. Serious structural problems in the

financial sector and other key industries, such as the automotive sector, became apparent. Over the last

few months, these developments have culminated in a financial markets crisis resulting in a recession for

Dr. Ralf Friedrichs – CEO

• 1983 – 1987 Studied economics and organisational sciences

• 1991 – 1995 Doctoral study at the Institute for Tax Management

• 1999 Examination as a tax advisor

• 1995 – 2001 Worked for various audit and tax advisory firms

• 2001 – 2003 Tax and legal consultant to the HCI Group

• 2003 – 2005 Managing Director, HCI Holding GmbH

• 2005 – 2007 Member of the Management Board of HCI Capital AG

• Appointed Chairman of the Management Board of HCI Capital AG 
Since 1 June 2008
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the real economy that has gripped industrial and emerging markets countries. The closed-end investment

sector was unable to insulate itself from the fallout emanating from the crisis affecting the financial markets

and the real economy. This is reflected in the 25% drop in the amount of equity capital placed on the market

as a whole, and the more than 80% drop in market capitalisation for companies active in this sector. These

developments in the financial markets, and predictions of weak economic developments to come, have left

investors shaken. Widespread reluctance now exists amongst investors to make new investments of any

kind, despite the fact that issuing houses are designing predominantly long-term investments in tangible

assets with terms that extend far beyond individual market cycles, and whose performance has only limited

correlation to the financial markets.

Fluctuations also marked HCI Capital AG's shareholder structure and executive bodies. MPC Capital AG

increased its stake to about 41% of the company's total share capital through a takeover bid in the first half of

2008. The Döhle Group increased their total holdings in HCI Capital AG to 21%. This reduced the level of shares

in free float to about 38% of the share capital. On the basis of a resolution adopted by the General Meeting,

the size of the Supervisory Board was increased from three to six members. The new Chairman of the Super -

visory Board is Dr John Benjamin Schroeder. Messrs Wolfgang Essing and Dr Rolando Gennari left the Man-

agement Board. Over the course of the changes that were taking place, I was called to fill the role of Chair-

man of the Management Board of HCI Capital AG. We were fortunate enough to win Dr Andreas Pres as CFO.

Dr. Andreas Pres – CFO

• 1984 – 1990 Studied law at the Universities of Freiburg 
and Munich

• 1986 – 1992 Studied business administration at LMU, Munich

• 1994 Second state bar examination in Munich; 
doctorate in law

• 1994 – 2000 Consultant, THE BOSTON CONSULTING 
GROUP, Munich/Chicago

• 2000 – 2001 Chairman of the Management Board and 
CFO of Odeon Film AG, Munich

• 2002 – 2008 CFO of EM.Sport Media AG, Munich

• Member of the Management Board of HCI Capital AG 
since 13 August 2008

Dr. Oliver Moosmayer – CPO

• 1990 – 1992 Vocational training as a bank officer

• 1993 – 1997 Studied law

• 1997 – 2000 Hamburger Sparkasse, Group Development

• 2000 Doctorate in law

• 2000 – 2003 Head of Marketing, HCI Hanseatische Capitalber-
atungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg, responsible 
for HCI Group’s PR and strategic development

• 2003 – 2007 Managing Director, HSC Hanseatische Sach wert
Concept GmbH, Hamburg (a subsidiary 
of HCI Capital AG), and of various limited 
investment partnerships

• Member of the Management Board of HCI Capital AG 
since 1 October 2007



6

Welcome | Company | Management Report | Financial Statements | Notes

Despite all the market fluctuations and changes in the HCI Group, we achieved remarkable success in our

operational business in 2008: looking at the overall market deterioration, the scant 9% decrease in the

amount of equity capital placed with private investors signalled a positive achievement. The HCI Group

increased its market share, and its placements achieved the best results in the industry. In short: HCI is

 Germany's leading issuing house.

The source of this success is a combination of old strengths and new concepts: HCI Group has a very

broadly diversified sales network compared with its competitors. The Group’s close cooperation with its

trusted independent sales partners has led to continued product sales over the last few months despite the

difficult environment we are faced with. HCI's traditional strengths represented another contributory  factor,

such as its proven track record of expertise in ship investments, an asset class that attracted more than half

of the total equity capital placed in 2008, as in previous years. We will foster these strengths and develop

them further. During the first year of the global financial and economic crisis, having broadened HCI Group's

product portfolio with determination at an earlier point in time proved to be another helpful tactic. By doing

this, we were largely able to compensate for larger fluctuations in individual product areas. The HCI

Deepsea Oil Explorer and the HCI Aircraft One funds are current examples of this strategy. Whether unlock-

ing the potential of new asset classes or beyond, the HCI Group consistently sets the bar for the entire

industry in developing innovative product structures. Guaranteed products that appeal to investors with a

low tolerance for risk, and asset creation plans that make widely diversified  investments in closed-end

funds accessible to investors via smaller ongoing contributions, amounted to total placements of approxi-

mately EUR 102 million in 2008. These innovative product concepts truly set HCI apart from other providers

in the closed-end fund market, as well as further expanding the company's investor base via numerous

sales channels. 

The HCI Group's consolidated financial statements for 2008 were affected in particular by the write-down 

of approximately EUR 34 million pertaining to an indirect investment in NY Credit Operating Partnership LP.

Net loss in the consolidated statement of operations amounts to EUR 16.8 million. Without this one-off

effect from the write-down, the HCI Group would have achieved positive earnings in the double-digit million

euro range. This shows that HCI Group, with its comparatively strong placement record and stable recur-

ring revenues from trust management and asset management activities, performed strongly in its opera-

tional business despite the difficult landscape facing it during 2008.



Dr. Ralf Friedrichs, Chairman of the Management Board
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What can we expect in the 2009 financial year? Economic development is fraught with considerable doubt.

Overall economic performance and private household income in Germany are expected to fall. It is difficult

to predict how the market for closed-end funds will develop. The HCI Group faces considerable challenges,

due to higher risks facing the Group alongside other companies in the industry. As a matter of priority, we

must prevent any drawdown from contingent liabilities related to our pipeline of ships. With this in mind, we

maintain an intensive dialogue with banks and shipowners, with the objective of negotiating joint action

plans. Moreover, we must bolster investor confidence in order to create a basis for reinstating growth in

closed-end fund placements. We must also effectively manage both our product pipeline and existing funds

in this difficult economic environment. To this end, we have introduced a series of additional measures to

successfully overcome these challenges. These include intensifying our sales operations and realigning the

product design process. Our products must be oriented towards efficiency in their design, facilitating the

active management of both the product pipeline and existing funds. Last but not least, we must implement

strict cost control. Forecasting our placement performance and the HCI Group's net income for the 2009

financial year is also difficult. We can say this much: according to our calculations, HCI Group's placements

need to reach approximately EUR 300 million in order to achieve positive earnings from operations.

Overall, quite a lot depends on how quickly the financial sector recovers and investor confidence returns.

Even if profit developments continue to face obstacles, large volumes of assets will still seek secure forms of

investment with balanced risk/return profiles. We see the possibility for investments in solid and tangible

assets to experience a renaissance, especially in light of the signs for rising inflation that we see around us.

Dear shareholders and business associates: the HCI Group and its employees have shown endurance, and

it is this willpower that has positioned the company as the industry leader. The Management Board in its

new composition has introduced the necessary measures to steer HCI Group across these stormy waters,

and to pave the way for future success. 

Hamburg, March 2009

Dr. Ralf Friedrichs
Chairman of the Management Board

We structure long-term investments in tangible assets, which extend way beyond single

market cycles. Their performance shows only a limited degree of correlation to the finan-

cial markets. I am convinced that investors will once again focus on such investments,

recognising their transparency. 

»

«
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From a distance it looks like a chaotic mess. A closer

look reveals that each individual is following a unique

path, and pursuing personal goals. It is motion that

makes achieving these goals possible.

The individual in motion
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Markets are in motion every day. Change is a fixture 

of this process. Markets repeatedly move at a tremen-

dous, even turbulent pace. And, as if guided by an 

invisible hand, markets re-orient themselves. Markets 

in motion will always hold immense potential.

Markets in motion
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Whether tapping into new markets or adapting to

transforming markets, movement is necessary. Our

strong commitment to perform means HCI is, and

always will be, in motion. We unlock potential for 

our customers.

HCI in motion
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Investment topics

Transport and logistics

Drivers of growth in global trade
The drivers of growth in global trade are population
growth, coupled with higher standards of living,
increased division of labour between industrialised
countries and regions, as well as the transport of
industrial commodities and fuels from the countries
producing them to the countries processing them.
These factors have led to continuous growth in mar-
itime trade across every economic cycle since indus-
trialisation began in the middle of the nineteenth cen-
tury. At present, 98 % of all intercontinental trade in
goods is conducted by sea. Ships are unequalled
when it comes to cost-effectiveness in transporting
large amounts of goods. These fundamental drivers of
growth in maritime trade are never diffused by eco-
nomic fluctuations, such as the marked economic

slowdown we are witnessing, but instead are momen-
tarily interrupted at most.

Ships – enduring investments in tangible assets in
all economic and market cycles
Investing in a ship participation is – first and foremost –
an investment in an asset that has an economic useful
life of 25 to 30 years. During its long useful life, ships
endure various economic and market cycles. Periods
of economic growth regularly see disproportional
growth in the volume of trade and transport – usually
more than can be accommodated by available fleet
capacity. This results in a rise in freight rates and an
increase in shipyards' order books for new ships. When
the high point of the economic cycle has passed, trans-
port volumes decline. This happens in conjunction

Welcome Company | Management Report | Financial Statements | Notes
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with an increase in freight capacity due to the delivery
of newly-built ships. In turn, this leads to a dramatic
drop in freight rates, and a decline in orders for new
ships. After some time has lapsed, the number of
ships being delivered also decreases until a new equi-
librium between capacity supply and demand has
been reached on the freight markets. These cyclical
fluctuations arise from the relatively long period of 12
to 18 months needed to construct a new ship, and are
a fundamental aspect of the shipping sector. Trade
volume is declining sharply in the current global eco-
nomic crisis as well. Freight rates reflect these
changes very quickly and, in some shipping seg-
ments, rates decreased by more than 50 % within a
few months. Older ships are scrapped as a result,
because these conditions have made it economically

unfeasible to continue to operate them. In this way, the
crisis also leads to an adjustment in shipping capacity
and a cleansing of the market, enabling well-posi-
tioned providers to emerge strengthened with a mod-
ern, optimised fleet. In response, shipping companies
have developed ways to cope with business volatility
and to remain profitable throughout the entire cycle,
such as by pooling ships, long-term chartering and
forward-looking capacity management. Last but not
least, HCI's expertise as a market leader in ship
investment funds helps shipowners to stabilise the
cash flow from their investment, and to secure the
asset value of the vessels.

HCI's many years of expertise in designing ship
investments
HCI sets high standards in designing ship participa-
tions. Our issuances are only undertaken with partners
that possess extensive market knowledge and viable
business concepts. We also place great importance
on shipping companies’ equity contribution, in order
to guarantee the best possible commitment for the
success of the investment. This philosophy has paid
off, as is evident in the success of the investment proj-
ects we have realised to date. In the area of shipping
investments, HCI has managed an investment volume
of EUR 11.8 billion since 1985. To date, 522 vessels
have been packaged into 419 ship investment funds.
Success is not just contingent on the investment, but
also upon the sale of the vessels at the optimal point in
time. With 185 vessels sold, HCI has a market share
of about one-third amongst issuing houses in Germany,
making it the market leader in the field. In the related
investment funds, economic success was thus

HCI Annual Report 2008 | Company

Vessels owned by HCI Shipping Select 28

Vessel Year built      Purchase price          Size in tdw*       Type of vessel                                 Charter type

Hellespont Trust 1999      85.000 USD mn      147,261 tdw     Crude oil tanker                              Pooling

Hellespont Commander 2009      30.250 USD mn        17,000 tdw     Products & chemicals tanker          Pooling

Hellespont Crusader 2010      30.250 USD mn        17,000 tdw     Products & chemicals tanker          Pooling

Pavian 2001      47.000 USD mn        74,500 tdw     Dry bulk carrier                               Time charter
                                                                                                                                arrangement

Beluga Facility 2009      19.900 USD mn        12,744 tdw     Heavy-lift carrier                             Time charter
                                                                                                                                arrangement

Beluga Frequency 2009      19.900 USD mn        12,744 tdw     Heavy-lift carrier                             Time charter
                                                                                                                                arrangement

* tdw = tons deadweight: a ship's maximum load capacity
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achieved through the sale of the vessels. Since 2005
alone, total distributions from HCI ship investments
increased from EUR 187 million to EUR 218 million in
2007, or more than 16 %. Overall, distributions from
ship investments earned investors an average return
of 7.7 % p.a. after all costs. We recommended a series
of funds to investors in 2008 that apply retained earn-
ings to the repayment of USD-denominated financings
(instead of distributions), in the light of the strength of
the US dollar. By doing so, investors enhance the
financial strength of the funds and profit from increased
distribution potential in the coming years. This is one
example of how HCI actively engages in asset and
financial management throughout an existing fund's
entire term, to the benefit of investors.

HCI, the market leader in ship funds
Our many years of experience in designing funds, our
close relationships with well-known shipping compa-
nies and our deep knowledge of the shipping markets
make HCI a valued partner from an investor's per-
spective as well. This is how HCI reached its position
as a market leader in equity placements for ship
investments in 2008.

HCI Shipping Select 28
With our current investment product offering in the
shipping segment, the HCI Shipping Select 28 fund,
the investor acquires a participation in six vessels
operating in four different shipping market segments,
and under two different operating models. One ship
included is a 'Suezmax' crude oil tanker; vessels of
this class can pass the Suez canal and call at impor-
tant US ports, and so hold great economic potential.
Two of the ships are 'Handysize' product and chemi-
cals tankers. These are used to transport refined oil

products such as petrol, gas oil and diesel, as well as
other chemicals. They are primarily used to service
mid-length routes between economic metropolises in
North America, Europe or South East Asia and East-
ern Asia. One ‘Panamax’ class bulk carrier covers the
transport of dry bulk goods, and the group is complet-
ed by two sister ships used for heavy-lift freight trans-
port, as they are usually needed for special transports
such as complete industrial plant installations, or parts
for such plants. The vessels are highly diversified, not
just in the way they are employed within their distinct
market segments, but also in the way that income is
pooled from the tankers whereas the dry bulk and
heavy-lift carriers have time charter agreements in
place from the present day through to 2013 and 2014.
This means that the fund's revenue is freed from
volatility in the spot charter rate market.

Air transport: a growth sector
The air transport industry is a market that has been
growing at above-average pace for decades. Looking
back, even the most severe crises have only briefly
interrupted this growth trend. The driving forces for
this momentum lie in world population growth, globali-
sation, and continued intensification of ties between
large trade centres, as well as economic growth in
India, East Asia and Latin America.

The future looks bright as well: in the twenty-year peri-
od between 2007 to 2026, the growth rate for interna-
tional air transport is forecasted at 5 % p.a. for the
passenger segment and 6 % p.a. in the air freight seg-
ment. Larger aircraft alone will not be enough to
accommodate the growing number of passengers
and the even larger growth in passenger miles, the
expansion of route networks to include new destina-

Welcome Company | Management Report | Financial Statements | Notes
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tions in developing countries, and increasing connec-
tion frequencies. Given these conditions, the global
aircraft fleet will have to increase from a scant 15,000
to approximately 33,000 during this time period. If one
takes into account the nearly 14,000 older planes that
will need to be replaced with modern and ecologically
friendly aircraft, the demand will rise to about 32,000
new aircraft by 2026.

HCI Aircraft One – Investment on the upswing
The HCI Aircraft One fund offers investors the oppor-
tunity to participate in this market potential. The con-
cept behind aircraft funds is to purchase aircraft and
then enter into long-term lease agreements with one
or more airlines. The fund receives regular leasing
instalments. All operational and maintenance costs
are assumed by the airlines for the duration of the
lease. Specialised companies manage the aircraft
portfolio. When the period under contract ends, the
aircraft is then either rented out again or sold.
Approximately 40 % of the global aircraft fleet is
financed through this type of arrangement.

Key success factors for an aircraft fund are attractive
aircraft models, creditworthy airlines as lessees,
management by an experienced and strong partner
as well as a conservative assessment of the residual
value at the end of the lease. Modern aircraft types
are the key ingredient for the success of an aircraft
investment, as the sales proceeds received at the
end of the lease have an important impact on the
overall return. Only aircraft that still meet technolog -
ical standards after 15 to 20 years will be able to

retain value. The HCI Aircraft One fund invests in two
Boeing 777-200LR aircraft, currently the most cost-
effective aircraft model in its class. Both aircraft are
on long-term lease to Canada's largest airline, Air
Canada, and have been in scheduled service since
February 2008.

All of the project's figures have been calculated con-
servatively at every level: the aircraft is surrendered in
what is known as “Full Life Condition”, i.e. in mint
technical condition with all maintenance and techno-
logical retro-fitting carried out. For retro-fitting and
inspection, lapses in the leasing period have been
taken into account in our calculations. Ultimately, the
contract and transfer-related costs involved in the
sale of the aircraft are already taken out of the sale
proceeds. Factors like these lead Feri to rate HCI Air-
craft One as “very good” in aircraft funds.

HCI Annual Report 2008 | Company
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Investing in the energy supply of tomorrow
A growing population, with rising living standards,
means increased demand for energy as well. The
most important fuel today is oil, and this is unlikely to
change anytime soon. Due to the many ways it can 
be used after it is refined, oil is also one of the most
important fuels in the production of industrial goods.
The range of products includes dyes, paints, sol-
vents, textile fibres and even applications in the phar-
maceutical industry. As the standard of living increas-
es, the demand for oil will continue to rise. According
to the Hamburg Institute of International Economics
(HWWI), worldwide oil consumption rose 31% from
1980 to 2006, during which time known reserves
rose 81%. Global oil production is forecasted to
reach a peak of approximately 106 million barrels per
day in 2020 before declining. To increase oil produc-
tion to 106 million barrels per day – which is 10 times
the amount currently produced by Saudi Arabia – will

require investments of as much as a billion euros a
year. Approximately 64 % of the amount produced
will need to come from previously untapped sources.
The exploration of new sources is therefore necessary
to secure future commodity and energy demands. In
future, oil fields will need to be tapped that lie in areas
we have not yet reached. Among these places are oil
reserves under the ocean floor that lie at much deep-
er levels than the oil sources currently being drilled.
Production areas are increasingly shifting from land
and coastal shallow water to the deep sea. This is

why the amount of drilling at depths exceeding 900
metres has increased sharply within the last five
years.

In addition to guaranteeing that today's most impor-
tant fossil fuels are available as long as possible, 
un locking sustainable and environmentally friendly
sources of energy will be of increasing importance 
in future. Because protecting the environment is an
important goal, this includes above all the use of
solar energy, which is a CO2-neutral source of energy.
Ultimately, solar power will become an indispensable
energy source in light of the rising cost of fossil fuels,
helping to secure energy supplies for future genera-
tions. This opens up attractive long-term growth per-
spectives for photovoltaics.

Germany has already assumed a pioneering role in
photovoltaic electricity production, with an installed
output of more than 3,800 MW (as at the end of 2007).
This capacity installed has about the same output as
four nuclear power plants, and every year total solar
electricity output increases by the amount produced
by another nuclear power plant. Thanks to the subsi-
dies under the German Renewable Energy Act (EEG)
investments in solar technology benefit from a solid
calculation base. Increasing the proportion of renew-
able energy from 10 % to around 30 % of total con-
sumption by the year 2020 has been declared a
political goal.

HCI Capital is developing innovative investment
products to tap into the economic benefits of this
future trend for its customers.

HCI Deepsea Oil Explorer: Offshore oil exploration
growth market
Mobile deep sea semi-submersible floating platforms
for exploring offshore oil and gas reserves make it
possible for oil companies to look for oil and gas
reserves at depths up to 2,400 metres, as well as
beneath the ocean floor at depths up to 7,620
metres.

HCI Deepsea Oil Explorer involves the construction
of a new mobile deep sea semi-submersible floating
platform for exploration. The platform is being con-
structed at a set price by The Gulf Piping Corp.

Welcome Company | Management Report | Financial Statements | Notes

Commodities and energy

HCI Deepsea Oil Explorer is equipped for drilling at
depths of up to 2,400 metres.
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W.L.L. in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates, and
will be handed over ready for use in June 2010.
The charter is slated to begin in August 2010. The
charterer is Brazil's state-owned oil company,
Petrobras. The charter agreement is initially set
for a seven-year duration based on a daily rate of
USD 317,500. Petrobras will then have the option
to extend the agreement for another seven years
at a charter rate to be negotiated at the time of
renewal. The total duration of the investment,
including the construction phase, is projected at
17 years and is planned to end with the plat-
form's sale in 2025.

Tap the sun's energy with the HCI Energy 1
Solar fund
The HCI Energy 1 Solar fund invests in solar
power plants in Germany. The first two projects
were committed in September 2008. One plant is
the solar park in Neuhaus-Stetten, with an area of
12 ha and a photoelectrical nominal output of
3,258 kWp per year. The second is the solar park
in Igling-Buchloe, which has an area of 20 ha and
photoelectrical nominal output of 5,787 kWp per
year. Both parks have been completed, and are
already connected to the grid. Projects are also
planned for Southern Europe at a later phase.
Though there is less sunlight in Germany than in
Southern European countries, this is counterbal-
anced by (i) the fact that the EEG has made the
use of renewable energy mandatory; (ii) income
for the electricity supplied is fixed over 20 years; 
(iii) the legal conditions are transparent for investors;
(iv) the grid infrastructure is already in place; and 
(v) the plant costs are comparatively low. 

One of the features of solar plants is their well-
developed technology tempered by years of use.
Solar technology generally requires very little
maintenance and undergoes very little deteriora-
tion. This means operating costs are low. This
leads to a high degree of planning and investment
security in combination with its other features,
such as a steady stream of moderate sunlight, an
expected plant lifetime in excess of 30 years and
a guaranteed supply income for 20 years. In addi-
tion, the investment is not sensitive to economic
cycles, which makes the plant attractive in terms
of portfolio diversification as well.

HCI Annual Report 2008 | Company

Alexandre Edmond Becquerel, a French physicist,
discovered the photovoltaic effect as long ago as
1839. Albert Einstein succeeded in explaining the
effect in 1905, which earned him the Nobel Prize in
Physics in 1921. The first silicon-based photovoltaic
cells with a degree of efficiency over 4% were first
produced in 1954. Today’s photovoltaic technology
achieves efficiency factors of up to 18.5%.

As a well-developed technology, there are virtually
no limits regarding the places where solar energy
can be generated: rooftop solar plants are being
installed on private residences as well as on top of
factory sites. Given their size and the lower con-
struction costs involved, solar plants on open
ground are particularly attractive.

The growth in the world’s population, together with
the fact that a constantly growing proportion of that
population benefits from rising wealth, keeps driving
up demand for energy. The supply of fossil fuels is
limited, as is nuclear energy. Another advantage of
solar cells is that they help avoid emissions of car-
bon dioxide. Finally, their energy balance is positive:
given a useful life of at least 30 years, photovoltaic
cells regenerate the energy used in their production
after three to five years, yielding excess energy for
their remaining period of use.

Solar energy is an indispensable compo-
nent of our future energy mix
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Real estate

Real estate: Investments in top-quality tangible
assets offer security
The characteristic feature of real estate funds is invest-
ment in an asset with a long lifespan. An objective
appraisal of a real estate property or portfolio has two
components: the asset value and the capitalised earn-
ings value. Whilst the capitalised earnings value fluctu-
ates within a comparatively narrow range, reflecting
cyclical changes on the rental and interest rate mar-
kets, the asset value is defined by far more stable fac-
tors such as location, property condition and features,
professional management, as well as the cost of con-
structing an equivalent property. These drivers of value
significantly reduce correlation to other forms of
investment. They also protect against inflation risk.

HCI's activities in the real estate sector are focused in
part on direct investments in established European
real estate markets and in the US, and in part on oppor-
tunistic investments or investments in the economically
most important key markets, in the form of innovative
fund-of-funds concepts. For real estate funds invest-
ing opportunistically or outside the core market, the
strategy of widely spreading risk across different uses,
locations and investing styles has proved to be espe-
cially beneficial in the current market situation. In addi-
tion, the success of the investment is secured by
working together with established partners on location
with many years experience, and through the expert-
ise of a reputable investment advisor.

Development of the real estate markets
In the course of global economic slowdown, our core
regions within the Eurozone, the Netherlands and Aus-

tria, have also been met with economic difficulties and
consequently with weakening rental markets. Although
the office rental market was able to maintain the previ-
ous year's high level in some regions well into the first
half of 2008, a clear decline in rental activities has been
apparent since the fourth quarter of 2008. As a result of
the financial markets crisis, European real estate mar-
kets have generally been burdened by the sharp
decrease in the availability of debt capital as well as
considerably less favourable borrowing conditions.
This has caused declines in the number of potential
buyers as well as prices. The more difficult financing
conditions for buyers, and reluctance shown by sellers,
will contribute to a sharp reduction in the volume of
investments in the real estate sector in comparison
with the averages of years prior. On the other hand,
these factors contribute to an upward trend in returns
on new investments in real estate and increase their
long-term attractiveness. In certain segments and
regions the lower purchase prices offer attractive
opportunities for direct investments in real estate – pro-
vided that credit markets will normalise again. HCI is
taking advantage of these opportunities for direct
invest ments. This is where HCI's high degree of expert -
ise and, in some cases, on-location presence in the
various core markets, pays off.

Take advantage of market opportunities with new
direct investments
The HCI Group will again be offering investment prod-
ucts with direct investments in real estate through its in-
house real estate property management company. This
entity has now been engaged  for ten years in asset
management for all the properties managed in Europe.

Equity placed by target market

                                                                                                                                                                    
                                                          2004                      2005                       2006                       2007                        2008      

                                                 EUR mn     Δ%     EUR mn     Δ%       EUR mn     Δ%      EUR mn     Δ%       EUR mn     Δ%

Germany                               2,211         -4.1       1,525     -31.0        2,124     39.3        1,266    -40.4       1,016     19.7

USA                                      1,167       -25.3          773     -33.8        1,062     37.4        1,031      -2.9          572    -44.6

Netherlands                              497        61.4          230     -53.8           204    -11.1             38    -81.2            75     94.7

Austria                                      341         -3.7          231     -32.2              91    -60.6             66    -27.1            30    -55.6

United Kingdom                       283   5,144.4          495      74.9            532       7.5           536       0.7            86    -84.0

Other international real estate    751      228.2          750       -0.1            951     26.7        1,559     64.0       1,697       8.8

Source: Feri EuroRating Services AG, Total market study of investment models, 2009
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In this way, HCI offers interested investors a highly
transparent investment concept that combines a tan -
gible asset with a simple structure and highest trans-
parency, in contrast to a highly diversified fund of funds.

In the midst of the current crisis, this fund concept
also holds the potential for acquiring desirable real
estate and offering above-average return growth in
the future. In terms of locations to target investments,
the market for office real estate in London is once
again attractive due to the higher returns on offer,
while the market in Luxembourg has been charac-
terised by more stable positive development: in Lux-
embourg, the relatively stable growth in demand can-
not be adequately accommodated with new con-
struction for the medium term, meaning that existing
real estate property is expected to undergo a lasting
appreciation in value.

HCI Real Estate fund of funds
With the innovative product range of the HCI Real
Estate fund of funds, HCI has already created an excel-
lent line of products on multiple occasions that make it
possible for customers to take advantage of particular
market situations. Every HCI real estate fund has its
own investment area and pursues an individual invest-
ment strategy. The different concepts of the target
funds make it possible to diversify in terms of market,

type of real estate and investment strategy (opportunis-
tic, value-added) in different economic spheres. After
the HCI Real Estate Growth I USA fund and the HCI
Real Estate BRIC+ fund, the fund concept HCI Real
Estate G7 followed in 2008. The G7 countries are the
political and economic world leaders Germany, the
United States, Japan, the United Kingdom, Canada,
France and Italy. Attractive target funds active in oppor-
tunistic real estate investments in G7 countries are
selected and invested in trusted cooperation with the
investment advisor Townsend Group. Due to the con-
ditions forecasted for 2009, attractive entry level prices
can be expected in these markets. The current market
situation is presenting a window of opportunity that
makes attractive investments possible within oppor-
tunistic investment strategies. The first target funds
have already been subscribed to and, while the HCI
Real Estate G7 subscription phase is underway, a port-
folio of possible target funds is being identified that will
ultimately be used to invest in different types of real
estate in all G7 countries. In this process, the value-
added focus will be on realising the appreciation of
existing real estate.

The HCI Real Estate G7 fund, like the HCI Real Estate
BRIC+ issuance before it, was recognized by the trade
journal “Cash” with the Financial Advisors Award 2008
as “closed-end real estate funds winner”.

During times of high market volatility, it is often very
 difficult to identify any clear signs of direction when
assessing real estate values. This means that purely
short-term valuation concepts based on cash flows
become less meaningful: the focus shifts back to
 traditional long-term factors for assessing real estate
investments such as location and property quality.

Accordingly, investment decisions are increasingly
based on aspects like the capitalised earnings value,
the long-term rental outlook, and protection against
inflationary risks. This return to traditional and conser-
vative valuation principles is reasonable, and will help 
to soothe the markets over the medium term.

Attractive potential in real estate
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Traditionally, endowment policies make up a consider-
able portion of pension investment products in Ger-
many, the UK and the USA. However, the needs of
those taking out the policies often change during the
long course of their terms, so that the policy either
cannot or should not be held until maturity. When sur-
rendering a policy to the insurance company, the policy
holder generally retains only a very small portion of the
policy's savings portion although the value of the poli-
cy is considerably greater. Selling the policy on the
secondary market offers an attractive alternative, as
the seller benefits by receiving a higher price. The
buyer generally profits by receiving a policy that is
worth more than its purchase price – given its intrinsic
value – and has guaranteed minimum returns that are
above the current level offered for new policies. In
addition, the buyer receives the larger returns earned

by holding the policy until maturity, since virtually all 
of the commissions and administration fees that are
charged during the first few years of the policy's term
have already been paid. However, the conditions in
the secondary market are prone to significant fluctua-
tion. 

With the HSC Optivita XI UK fund, HCI is offering the
opportunity to invest in a widely diversified portfolio of
life insurance policies on the British secondary market.
The fund only invests in policies bought from highly
rated British insurance companies subject to super -
vision by the British Financial Services Authority (FSA).
Membership in the Financial Services Compensation
Scheme (FSCS) offers additional security. The prospec-
tive term of the HSC Optivita XI UK fund is set to run to
the end of 2023.

Purchase price

Intrinsic value of the policy

Final-
bonus

Purchase date

Surrender value 
of the policy

Value

Insured sum

Annual bonus

0 5 252010 15

Performance of endowment policies over their contractual term

Source: HCI Capital AG

Secondary life insurance markets
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Special fund concepts reach new groups of
investors
In addition to the product range of classic closed-
end investment funds, HCI has been offering other
investment products with particular features tailored
to specific target groups for years. Whilst closed-end
investment funds are geared commonly towards
investor classes aiming to diversify their existing
assets in a tax-efficient way, offering investment
products with particular features expands HCI's
potential customer base. On the one hand, investors
are approached who have a low risk tolerance. The
other target group are younger investors, those who
wish to invest in HCI fund products early on but are
unable to come up with the relatively high investment
sums. HCI currently offers two product lines specifi-
cally tailored to meet the needs of a particular target
group, comprised of products with capital guaran-
tees as well as asset creation plans. The features
particular to these investment products are aimed at
managing risk exposure in ship investments even
more closely and offering greater security, or they are
designed to stretch the investment amount out over
a longer time period instead of requiring the full
amount at the beginning. 

High degree of risk protection with a very
 promising upside
The HSC Shipping Protect fund concept is the com-
bination of a fixed-income investment with a real
investment in the shipping markets, completely
backed by a capital guarantee.

In the current HSC Shipping Protect 3 fund product,
46.5 % of the capital is invested in fixed-income
investments and the remaining 53.5 % in a ship port-
folio. The entire invested capital is secured by a guar-
antee from HSH-Nordbank. A high degree of risk
diversification is achieved by investing in different
types of vessels and through charter agreements
with a variety of reputable shipping companies. With
its high degree of security, this concept is aimed at
investors who are risk averse yet who also want to
reap the benefits of the return prospects via invest-
ment in a tangible asset.

Every beginning is modest, but measurable
wealth grows with time
Starting early and investing consistently are the most
important corner stones for growing wealth. Albert
Einstein described compound interest as the “great-
est mathematical discovery of all time”.

Investment products targeting specific
investor groups 

Scenario outlined in 
the Offering Circular

Additional profit potential

31 Dec 2025

Total 
repayment

100% capital guarantee by

200%

100%

205%

approx. 220%

Scenario performance analysis of HSC Shipping Protect 3

Source: HCI Capital AG
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Source: HCI Capital AG



The head start gained in building wealth, even via
small investments, can only be replicated by investing
significantly larger sums later. In an investment period
of thirty years, by starting to invest just five years late
with an interest rate of 4 %, one would need to invest
over 34 % more to achieve the same results; with a
delayed start of ten years, the amount one would
need to invest nearly doubles.

This mathematical context is the basis for HCI's asset
creation plans. The idea is to open up a way for young
investors in particular to begin investing small amounts
early in the form of closed-end investment funds. The
concept enables the investor to consistently accumu-
late assets by allowing the investment to be paid into
a fund of funds in the form of monthly instalments
over a pay-in period of several years. In addition, the
investment's flexibility is increased for the investor by
offering the option to make special contributions. In
turn, the money paid in is then invested by the fund 
of funds into the HCI Group's closed-end target
funds in varying investment segments. The fact that
the investments are spread over a long period, and in

various different investment offers, means that investors
benefit from a high degree of risk diversification. This
is how, for example, the HSC Asset Creation Plan VII
Shipping product, which was launched at the end of
2007, holds investments in more than 27 different
vessels after an investment phase of only a little more
than a year. Investing in an asset with a long life has
only a small degree of correlation to the performance
of other financial investments. Another of the con-
cept's advantages is that the investor receives dis-
bursements that are largely tax-exempt at the end of
the investment phase.

HSC Asset Creation 8 Portfolio – maximum

 flexibility via two investment models and four
investment classes
The current HSC Asset Creation 8 Portfolio product
offers a significantly higher degree of flexibility in com-
parison with the asset creation plans realised to date,
not just in terms of the way the investment phase is
structured for the investor, but also in terms of the way
the invested funds are allocated to different investment
classes. Whilst portfolio diversification was achieved
in the past largely via a selection of different types of
vessels within the ship investment class, the HSC
Asset Creation 8 Portfolio fund has a broader config-
uration right from the beginning. In addition to ships,
targets include aircraft investments, secondary mar-
ket life insurance policy portfolios as well as invest-
ments in private equity funds of funds. Whilst invest-
ing in long-term growth markets is in the foreground
for ships and aircraft funds, in the investment areas of
secondary market life insurance and private equity it
is the targeted exploitation of market immaturity and
potential that represents the key success factor.

Investors can choose between two investment mod-
els with either ten or five-year pay-in periods. Addi-
tionally, there is now an extended option to make
special contributions, depending on the subscription
amount. Depending on which model is chosen, the
total duration of the investment is either 20 or 25
years.
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The HCI share and Investor Relations – tumultuous

times in the capital markets

Whatever current market conditions may be, HCI
Capital's communication remains reliable and
transparent
The duty of Investor Relations is to provide capital
market participants with constant, reliable and trans-
parent information. We use established methods such
as analyst meetings, roadshows and investor confer-
ences, that go beyond mandatory publications, to
offer existing and potential shareholders and financial
analysts the opportunity to gain a transparent picture
of our company. In addition, our Investor Relations
team is always available to answer questions directly.
It is, and always has been, very important to us to pro-
vide long-term perspectives in addition to current
information. Especially in turbulent times, this makes it
possible to gain proper orientation regarding the com-
pany's continued development.

Equity markets in 2008: troubled by the financial
markets crisis and fears of a recession
In the markets, the year 2008 was defined by some
dramatic events and deterioration in the financial mar-
kets. A number of negative factors accumulated over
the course of the year. As the year began, the rise in
write-offs in the financial sector resulting from the
spread of the sub-prime crisis precipitated a wave of
sell-offs in the equity markets. By mid-year, the steady
rise in commodity prices began to show its effects on
global economic growth, and by the end of the year

fears were circulating about the collapse of the global
financial system and a long, enduring international
economic slowdown taking hold of the equity markets
and shaping investor behaviour. A review of the year
shows an approximate 40 % drop in the DAX, Ger-
many's blue-chip index, the SDAX small-cap index at
46 % below the previous year-end level – and the
DAXsubsector Diversified Financials, which includes
the most significant peer companies in our sector, was
34 % lower year-on-year. It should be noted, however,
that providers of traditional insurance and retirement
provision products within the Diversified Financials
sub-sector fared better than the index, whilst all fund
initiator shares suffered losses of over 80 %. The HCI
share thus also showed a loss of about 86 % year-on-
year. The year 2009 started with further strong price
declines across all market segments in January, which
continued with high volatility also in February. The HCI
share price was able to stabilise at a low level.

Market, industry and company developments 
burden HCI's share price performance
Affected by the generally bearish equity market in
 January 2008, the HCI share price fell from its 2007
year-end price of EUR 14.90 to EUR 12.78. Upon
submission of a public takeover offer by MPC Münch-
meyer Petersen Capital AG on 12 February, whereby
MPC Münchmeyer Petersen Capital AG offered to
purchase HCI shares at a price of EUR 14.22, the
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Vertrieb und Marketing.

Schlagkraft im Vertrieb durch konsequente Kundenorientierung.

Trading floor at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

share rallied to the year's high of EUR 15.83 on 26
February. The price then fell to the offering level and
steadied there, seeing little fluctuation after the results
for 2007 were released and the announcement of
plans to reduce dividends from the previous year's
level. Following dividend distribution, the HCI share
price fell amidst the very weak market environment
from EUR 13.40 to EUR 6.64 by mid-May. The steep
drop in the share's performance should be taken in
the context of the deepening financial markets crisis.
Institutional investors in particular cut investments in all
financial sector companies: as a result, there were
sharp price declines even with small traded volumes.
In addition to the technical factors affecting the equity
market, weakened industry-wide forecasts had further
negative effects for initiators of closed-end funds.
Given the conditions facing the industry, HCI also had
to lower its forecasts in several steps. In the aftermath
of the first wave of sell-offs in the German market at

the beginning of October, the share prices of compa-
nies in the financial sector (including HCI) once again
took a disproportionate hit. This trend persisted until
the end of 2008. HCI's share price settled at its lowest
point for the year on 19 December, at EUR 1.42. With
a year-end price of EUR 1.90, HCI's share price had
suffered an 86 % drop in 2008. Daily trading volume in
HCI's shares fell compared with the previous year,
down from 59,000 shares to 39,000, with the average
daily value of HCI shares traded on the electronic
Xetra exchange platform down from EUR 947,000 in
2007 to EUR 400,000 in 2008. Changes in majority
shareholders' stakes are not included in these figures
since these transactions were concluded off-exchange. 

Securing a stable shareholder structure
On 12 March 2008 MPC Münchmeyer Petersen Capi-
tal AG announced that it intended to submit a public
takeover offer to shareholders of HCI Capital AG in

31 Dec 2007 (rounded) 31 Dec 2008 (rounded)

54.47 %
Free float

15.10 %
MPC Capital AG

10.40 %
Peter Döhle Group

20.03 %
Corsair Capital LLC

37.77 %
Free float

40.80 %
MPC Capital AG

21.43 %
Peter Döhle Group

Development of the shareholder structure
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order to acquire their shares at a price of EUR 14.22
per share. Following the expiry of the offer and statuto-
ry additional acceptance period, the offer was accept-
ed for 1,360,452 shares, or 5.67 % of HCI Capital
AG's share capital. In combination with the 4,806,730
shares acquired by Corsair Capital LLC, equivalent to
20.03 % of HCI's share capital, MPC Münchmeyer
Petersen Capital AG's stake in HCI Capital AG rose
from 15.10 % to 40.80 %. At the same time, the Döhle
Group increased their holdings from 10.40% to 21.43%
over the course of the year. The free float fell from its
2007 year-end level of 54.47% to 37.77% by the end
of 2008.

As a result of the decreased free float and pronounced
drop in the share price, HCI Capital AG's free float
market capitalisation fell so sharply that its shares
have not been included in the SDAX since 22 Decem-
ber 2008.

MPC Münchmeyer Petersen Capital AG and HCI 
Capital AG have entered into a framework agreement
regarding their future collaboration. Both companies
will continue to function as competitive partners and
manage their business units separately. This arrange-
ment, with parallel business operations, will allow each
company to retain its identity and flexibility.

Dialogue with capital market participants 
continued
HCI has a long-standing tradition of maintaining regu-
lar contact and intensive dialogue with capital markets
participants. Our Investor Relations calendar includes
a set programme, and participating in investor confer-
ences is every bit as much a part of that agenda as
conducting roadshows in major financial centres.
Upon request, HCI's representatives are also available
to meet with interested analysts and investors person-
ally at any time. Our guiding principle is to make the
same information available to every investor group.
That is why we have made a wide array of information
available for download on our website. This allows us
to reach people such as private investors that do not

take part in the events for institutional investors and
financial analysts, giving them the opportunity to form
a qualified opinion about the company by reading
conference call minutes and looking at analyst presen-
tations. In addition, we are pleased to answer any
questions over the phone or via e-mail.

HCI shares enjoy broad interest on the capital market,
thanks to regular coverage by eight analysts from
renowned banks and investment firms. During the
past year the HCI share was given a 'buy' or 'accumu-
late' recommendation by four analysts. Four analysts
assessed the share as an 'underperformer' and
advised selling it. An up-to-date overview of analysts'
evaluations is available under the 'Share' sub-section
in the 'Investor Relations' section of the HCI website.

A long history of market experience: an important
success factor for the future
2008 was a highly unusual year for the entire financial
sector. HCI's business is geared towards a long-term
investment horizon. As far as the long-term success
of our products is concerned, short-term market fluc-
tuations are insignificant; in fact, they can open up
attractive opportunities for investments in tangible
assets. One of the key messages that we aim to 
convey during our talks with analysts and investors,
therefore, is to highlight HCI's expertise throughout
the entire duration of the investment, from the prod-
uct launch through to the exit, and to emphasise 
taking advantage of special investment opportuni-
ties. These points are critical to the return ultimately
made on investment concepts. HCI can call upon its
proven track record of many years spanning numer-
ous closed-end investment products. This expertise
and market experience form the basis for successful
business development in the future. Our aim in capi-
tal market communications continues to be the clear
portrayal of HCI's long-term success factors. Ulti-
mately, HCI Capital AG earned its position as the
market leader in closed-end investment products
with its wealth of experience, its excellent sales
structure ,and by offering the best products.
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Contact details:

HCI Capital AG · Investor Relations
Bleichenbrücke 10 · 20354 Hamburg, Germany

Tel.: +49 40 88881-125
Dr. Olaf Streuer, Head of Corporate Communications
and Business Development

Tel.: +49 40 88881-140
Kai-Wilhelm Prange, Investor Relations / 
Business Development

Fax: +49 40 88881-109
E-Mail: ir@hci-capital.de

HCI share – master data

Share category                                                                                       No-par-value registered shares (‘unit shares’)

Market segment                                                                                                          Prime Standard / Official Market

Listings                                                                                     Frankfurt Stock Exchange, Hamburg Stock Exchange

Index affiliation                                                                                                                                               HASPAX

First day of trading / issue price                                                                                        6 October 2005 / EUR 20.50

ISIN                                                                                                                                                   DE000A0D9Y97

WKN (German Securities ID)                                                                                                                           A0D9Y9

Exchange mnemonic                                                                                                                                           HXCI

Reuters RIC                                                                                                                                              HXCIGn.DE

Bloomberg                                                                                                                                                    HXCI:GR

Common code                                                                                                                                          022854488

HCI share – key indicators
                                                                                                                                                           2008                   2007

Number of shares at year-end (millions)                                                                                       24.0                   24.0

Share capital as at 31 December (EUR mn)                                                                                 24.0                   24.0

Year-end closing price (Xetra)                                                                                                      1.90                 14.90

High (EUR, Xetra)                                                                                                                      15.83                 19.00

Low (EUR, Xetra)                                                                                                                         1.42                 13.82

Market capitalisation as at 31 December (EUR mn)                                                                      45.6                    358

Earnings per share (undiluted) *                                                                                                        --                   1.27

Dividend per share (2008 proposal)                                                                                                  --                   0.70

Total dividends paid (EUR mn)*                                                                                                        --                   16.8

Dividend yield as at 31 December (%)                                                                                              --                     4.7

Price/earnings ratio as at 31 December                                                                                           --                   11.7

* Based on 24,000,000 shares
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Employees at the heart of performance

HCI was able to establish itself as a market leader
despite the very difficult environment confronting it
during 2008. This success is attributable to the
excellence and expertise of our employees, as well
as their high degree of commitment and ability to
identify with the company. Given all this, HCI Capital
AG naturally wants to keep its highly qualified team
firmly on deck so that it can once again set sail with
competence and commitment when the market
shows signs of recovery.

Our employees are the capital that secures the quali-
ty of our products and drives the company forward,
even through the most challenging periods.

Strengthening the team
The number of HCI Group employees rose by 23 to a
total of 322 (31 Dec 2007: 299) at the end of 2008.
The average number of HCI employees during 2008
was 309 (2007: 286 employees). The greatest rise in
staff numbers involved 15 experts hired in Corporate
Services, where we strengthened staffing levels in
Accounting, Information Technology as well as Trust
Services. In order to accommodate the growing
demand seen in After-Sales Services, we increased
that department's headcount by seven employees.

HCI is an attractive employer: although highly sought
after for their excellent qualifications, HCI employees
stay with the company for an average of three and a
half years, the same average as last year. This is a
remarkable figure, when one takes into account that
200 new employees have joined the HCI Group since
2003.

Continued commitment to training and
 development
At the end of 2008, the HCI Group employed 18 voca-
tional trainees pursuing their certificates to become
office administrators, IT specialists or working toward
a dual bachelors' degree in Shipping and Finance and
Business Administration. HCI does not train young

people merely to develop a qualified future workforce
for itself. It is a social obligation. At 5.7 %, the voca-
tional training rate was nearly at the previous year's
level.

Continuing professional development measures are
promoted at HCI on an individual basis, and based
on the company's needs. Seminar attendance by
employees declined slightly from 880 days in 2007 to
843 days in 2008, but the average of 2.7 days per
employee remained high. The company makes use
of external seminars and training courses, in addition
to offering in-house training measures. In 2008, the
emphasis was on internal IT training sessions and
individual measures such as management and sales
training sessions. One important development
instrument is the HCI Academy, which is open to 
HCI employees and to the company's sales part-
ners. Continuing professional development courses
offered by HCI Academy include introductory-level
as well as expert-level seminars. The introductory
seminars focus on basic information relating to capi-
tal investment in closed-end funds, whilst the expert
seminars offer current market and specialist informa-
tion on the product areas of shipping, real estate and
tax. In order to improve our customer service even
further, we began using a Customer Relationship
Management System in 2008. Employees received
extensive training on the system. In total, HCI invest-
ed EUR 210,648 (2007: EUR 205,357) in training
and development in the 2008 financial year.

A look at what lies ahead
The HCI Group performed and competed exception-
ally well throughout the tumultuous 2008 financial
year. This can only be attributed to the commitment
of our employees. The team we now have on board
has shown that it possesses not only commitment
and character, but also the skills and experience to
lock in success again in the near future. With this
foundation supporting them, all of HCI's employees
can look into the future with confidence.
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A. Business and economic environment 

I. Business activities

Diversified product portfolio

The HCI Group, established in 1985, ranks as one of

Germany’s leading independent issuing houses in its

capacity as an initiator and provider of closed-end

funds and investment products with a capital guaran-

tee. As at 31 December 2008, the HCI Group’s prod-

uct portfolio encompassed a total of 494 specially

designed investment offers in the product sectors of

shipping, real estate, the secondary life insurance mar-

ket, private equity and, since 2008, two new asset

classes in the form of aircraft and an exploratory

drilling platform. In the areas of closed-end invest-

ments, the HCI Group also offers risk-diversified fund

of funds structures and asset creation plans within the

individual product classes. In 2007, products with a

capital guarantee established themselves as an inte-

gral component of the HCI product portfolio, repre-

senting a new innovation on the market at the time.

Additionally, certificates based on a freight rate index

and the index of a life insurance policy portfolio were

also made available to investors in 2007 and 2008.

A broad range of services 

The HCI Group’s business model is based on deep

penetration of the value-added chain. Beginning with

the acquisition of and commitment to investments, the

range of services offered by the HCI Group extends

from the design of tried-and-tested fund and guaran-

tee products to the sale of these products using a

range of channels, through to active asset manage-

ment and after-sales service. This approach is key in

achieving a close linkup in the relevant markets, gener-

ating synergies between the individual stages in the

value-added chain and, not least, making a sustained

contribution to the creation of value for our customers

and our shareholders alike.

The task of searching for and identifying suitable

investments is carried out by the teams in the design

departments of each product area. Depending on the

particular product concept, the design departments

are supported by experienced partners in this regard

where applicable. The process of selecting target funds

for real estate fund-of-funds concepts, for example, 

is managed by the Group’s US partner, Townsend

Group. In the case of ship products, we can rely on

our long-term partnerships with more than thirty major

medium-sized shipping companies.

Before being incorporated into a project, every prod-

uct is reviewed in terms of its marketability by a prod-

uct committee representing the key functions (sales,

design, management and the Management Board). A

highly qualified design team, supported by specialist

lawyers, auditors and tax consultants, also generates

the impetus needed to develop existing products fur-

ther and to take new innovative product ideas for-

wards.

With regard to Sales, HCI uses a broadly based multi-

channel strategy with a regional focus, enabling the

sales partners to be provided with comprehensive

support on the ground. The sales partners primarily

including independent financial agents, banks and

financial sales networks. HCI also holds a stake in the

company eFonds AG, a distribution platform that has

developed a liability umbrella for independent financial

agents. HCI’s aim is to make its distribution channels

as broadly diversified as follows, thereby reducing its

dependence on individual sales partners. Some

1,720 sales partners were involved in the distribution

of HCI products during the 2008 financial year. The

regional organisation of the sales force in particular

proved its worth, enabling HCI to operate in direct

proximity to its customers thanks to its presence on

the ground. The experienced distribution team, work-

ing together with product management, ensures that

the Group’s sales partners receive all of the help and

support that they need. 

Design and sales as components of the company’s

value-added chain are the key drivers in the generation

of design fees and sales commissions. Consequently,

they crucially influence the Group’s sales revenues and

gross profit.

Report on the position of HCI Capital AG and the Group

for the 2008 business year
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31

After-Sales Service – in other words, managing the

invested capital of our investors, who now number

around 120,000 – is a further key element in the value

creation process. Closed-end investment models

generally have long terms, in some cases significantly

in excess of 10 years. The scope of After-Sales Servic-

es extends to cover the entire duration of each fund

and encompasses, in the first instance, taking care on

the investor’s behalf of all statutory and regulatory

matters in relation to the fund investment. The trust

fees and service charges earned from these activities

are another key factor in the HCI Group’s sales rev-

enues and gross profit. At the same time, this is a

source of income that recurs on an annual basis over

a relatively long period of time, which means that it

also contributes to the stability of HCI’s commercial

success.

Through its involvement in various areas of Asset

 Management, the HCI Group also takes on further

upstream and downstream services in the value-

added chain of its financial products. This involves

both managing the investments contained in funds

launched by HCI (in the areas of shipping, real estate

and the secondary life insurance market) and HAM-

MONIA Reederei GmbH & Co. KG, through which,

together with the Döhle Group and General Electric

Transportation Finance, HCI operates and charters

ships. Asset management is a further strategic pillar

for HCI, generating key momentum for the identifica-

tion of potential investments, the return-oriented man-

agement of the fund products designed and managed

by HCI and, not least, active trading in assets (particu-

larly ships and real estate) by the HCI Group itself,

where opportunities arise in the market. This strategic

focus will also enable the HCI Group to generate a

higher level of recurring income in future. Moreover –

depending on the market situation – there will also be

opportunities for additional income to be earned from

the arrangement of investments. 

Extending target customer groups

The HCI Group’s product range, in terms of classic

closed-end fund investments, is primarily geared

towards the investment needs of high net worth indi-

viduals. Alongside the long-term profitability of the

investment, tax optimisation aspects frequently con-

stitute an important consideration for this target group.

Additionally, the minimum investments for limited part-

ner’s shares are relatively high compared with other

forms of investment.

However, by introducing asset creation plans and

structured products (closed-end funds with a capital

guarantee, certificates), the HCI Group is also captur-

ing new target groups among private customers. These

include, for example, customers who are still in the

asset creation phase and who, through asset creation

plans with regular and comparatively small contribu-

tions, are therefore given easier access to a broadly

diversified portfolio of closed-end fund investments.

Included in this group are those customers who are

looking to a different kind of access to investments, in

the shipping sector or the secondary market for life

insurance for example, with shorter investment terms,

lower investment amounts, or a greater degree of risk

hedging. 

Additionally, in 2006 and 2007, the HCI Group began

designing products for institutional investors in the

real estate sector and in the area of shipping. With

regard to the real estate sector, this had previously

been  carried out exclusively in cooperation with the

US real estate investor Behringer Harvard. In the ship-

ping segment, the listed company HCI HAMMONIA

SHIPPING AG was placed with a broad range of

banks, insurance companies and pension funds in

2007. Looking towards the future expansion of HCI

HAMMONIA SHIPPING AG, the General Meeting

approved a global authorisation for a capital increase

of up to EUR 68 million. Following the collapse of the

capital markets during the year, there was a lack of

sufficient demand to generate new business in this

customer segment during the year. Nevertheless,

over the medium and long term, the HCI Group con-

siders that a significant level of potential demand exists

among institutional investors for alternative investments

in tangible assets. Against this background, it is our

aim to further expand business in this segment. As far

as the HCI Group is concerned, there is the opportuni-

ty to tap into additional business potential and to raise

the share of recurring income again using the commis-

sion structures specific to institutional business. 

Performance-oriented management

One of the HCI Group’s key targets is to maintain the

business growth recorded during recent years over the

medium and long term. With this in mind, the ongoing
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diversification of the range of HCI products, services

and target customers provides a foundation from which

to successfully cushion market fluctuations in individual

fields of business, and from which to keep increasing

the share of recurring income from trust management

activities and asset management. 

The HCI Group sets its annual targets on the basis of

the planned volume of invested equity capital in the

individual product segments. This is a key factor in the

success of the HCI Group, determining the gross prof-

it and also determining future ongoing income from

trust management and asset management activities.

The second target used for management purposes is

the consolidated net result before interest, other finan-

cial result, and taxes (EBIT), calculated in accordance

with IFRS. Using these key figures, the activities of

product design, sales, trust management and asset

management are strategically planned and subject to

ongoing monitoring and management by Controlling.

Starting with the 2009 financial year, the HCI Group

will therefore change its external segment reporting

from its previous product-specific structure to reflect

the segments of Design and Sales and After-Sales

Service (trust business), henceforth disclosing EBIT 

for these segments. 

Maintaining a high level of credit quality for the HCI

Group is another key prerequisite of business and

financial policy. Against this background, maintaining a

solid equity base and liquidity is an essential aspect for

managing the business.

The HCI Group is managed and controlled by the

 Management Board and, at an operational level, by the

executive managers and by the managing directors of

the subsidiaries in the areas of design, sales/market-

ing, after-sales services and asset management.

For further details of the main subsidiaries and their

locations, please refer to the HCI Capital AG notes to

the consolidated financial statements for the 2008

financial year.

II. Business development

The downturn in the global economy

Over the course of the 2008 financial year the world

economy increasingly lost momentum. During the first

few months of the year the economy still appeared to

be relatively unaffected by the signs of a worsening

financial crisis, and it took some time before it became

clear that the phase of strong expansion experienced

in the years running up to 2008 was drawing to a close.

Accompanied by rising inflation sparked by commodity

prices, write-downs and an escalating liquidity crisis in

the banking sector, not to mention corrections on the

real estate markets in an increasing number of coun-

tries, the downturn began to pick up speed in the sec-

ond half of the year. Consequently, global trade levels

barely grew and, by the end of the year at the latest,

this trend had taken hold worldwide.

In the G7 nations, economies subsequently weakened

significantly following what had been another quite

strong rise in production levels at the beginning of

the year. The G7’s real gross domestic product fell

markedly during the third quarter, and was down

0.9 % for 2008 as a whole.

Meanwhile, the newly industrialising countries were

also unable to escape the global downturn, although

their economies had continued to grow strongly until

the middle of the year. The weak levels of demand

from the industrialised nations had an increasing

impact on the export-oriented economies of Asia, 

with the result that even China only managed to post

growth of around 6 % in its GDP for the year as a

whole. The Indian economy also found itself caught up

in the crisis. Whilst economic growth of around 6.2 %

was still being recorded in 2008, forecasts from the

Kiel Institute for the World Economy put the level of

GDP growth for 2009 at just 4.7 %. With regard to the

other newly industrialising countries in East Asia, the

figures from Japan can be used to draw conclusions

on the development of economic growth. The close

intermeshing of the Asian national economies means

that the East Asian emerging markets are also being

hard hit by the crisis. The slowdown caused by the

rise in commodity prices and the general downward

trend in evidence globally had already taken hold

across the entire region before the end of 2008.

The euro zone finds itself experiencing its first down-

ward phase since the introduction of monetary union.

During the second quarter, it was the weak state of

private consumption in particular that contributed to a

fall in overall economic activity, whilst the third quarter

saw a negative figure for next exports. To this overall
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situation can be added specific national characteris-

tics such as the real estate crisis in Spain, the major

collapse of private consumption and investment in

France, and Germany’s reliance on exports. 

Economic development in Germany

Over the 2008 financial year as a whole the German

economy experienced various different phases. Whilst

still robust at the beginning of the year, the price rises

on the commodity markets and the resulting rises in

inflation meant that the economy came under increas-

ing pressure during the second and third quarters. The

ongoing appreciation of the euro placed an additional

burden on the export-oriented German economy. As

the year progressed, the third and fourth quarters

were dominated by the deteriorating situation on the

equity and financial markets and the worldwide eco-

nomic downturn. The result was a slowing in German

growth. Having expanded by 2.5 % in 2007, the Ger-

man economy only grew by 1.3 % in 2008, and that

rise was primarily attributable to the strong start to the

year. 

The financial markets crisis is continuing

As 2008 progressed, hopes were dashed that the ini-

tial sub-prime crisis in the USA would remain nothing

more than a national phenomenon. The close interlink-

ing of the global financial markets meant that the crisis

inevitably spread worldwide. The collapse of the US

investment bank Lehman Brothers can be viewed as

one of the major blows and, at the same time, the

spark that triggered a renewed intensification of the

global financial crisis. Whilst it was still possible to save

Bear Stearns in April 2008, thanks to a takeover by JP

Morgan, Lehman Brothers collapsed in September

2008 and sent shockwaves through the entire finan-

cial sector. In Germany, Hypo Real Estate found itself

in an extremely difficult plight in October 2008 as a

result. Under the shadow of the current market situa-

tion, a huge crisis of confidence began to affect inter-

bank trading. Refinancing costs rose considerably and

the margins for new corporate loans are now signifi-

cantly higher than prior to the financial crisis, with the

result that the banks were forced to adopt and indeed

are continuing to pursue a more restrictive lending pol-

icy. Given the precarious nature of this situation, gov-

ernments worldwide have introduced measures

designed to strengthen the financial system and to

restore confidence in the banking sector. These com-

prehensive steps include a recapitalisation of the

banks’ weakened equity base, as well as state-

backed guarantees to bolster confidence in interbank

trade. The world’s major central banks readjusted

their targets once again and moved their focus of

attention from maintaining monetary stability to stimu-

lating the economy. For its part, the ECB cut interest

rates to a current level of 2 %, whilst the US Federal

Reserve reduced its rates to a range of between

0.00% and 0.25%. 

Equity markets under pressure

The escalating worldwide financial and economic

 crisis also left its mark on the international equity

markets. After what was a very volatile year on the

whole, the US Dow Jones index ended 2008 down

30%. The German indices followed a similar pattern,

with the DAX and MDAX both down some 40 % on the

previous year and the SDAX falling by around 50 %

year-on-year. 

Soaring commodity prices, and inflation

The first three quarters of the 2008 financial year fea-

tured an unparalleled price rally on the commodity

markets. The price of oil soared to an all-time high of

in excess of USD 140 per barrel at one point. At the

same time, the global market prices for energy, com-

modities and foodstuffs also rose, creating inflationary

pressure which manifested itself in inflation rates of

more than 3 %. This trend was reversed as the year

continued due to the increase in bad headlines on the

capital markets. By the third quarter, the oil price had

fallen to USD 94, taking it back to the level recorded at

the beginning of the year. The price in December 2008

was around the USD 40 mark. In addition to the easing

of the tension on the commodity markets, the euro also

began to lose value against the US dollar to an increas-

ing extent. The highs around USD 1.60 to the euro

levelled out, hitting lows of around USD 1.25 in the

autumn, to reach a level of around USD 1.39 by the

end of the year.

Shipping markets / charter rates  

During the first half of 2008, charter rates largely stag-

nated in most shipping segments. As the year pro-

gressed, however, the shipping markets could not

escape the impact of global economic developments.

Accordingly, charter rates for container and bulk carri-

ers showed a marked decrease during the second half
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of the year, as falling utilisation led to a significant loss

of charter income. In the container trade, this was due

to a combination of lower demand for Asian finished

goods in Western industrial nations and the prevailing

higher tonnage capacity available. At the beginning of

the year, the Container Ship Time Charter Assessment

Index (“ConTex”) stood at 1,022 points. Over the course

of 2008, it fell by 75 %, to just 367 index points in

December, with the main losses occurring during the

fourth quarter. The ConTex index was quoted at 305

points on 26 February 2009. 

Developments in the dry bulk carrier segment were

burdened additionally by a reluctance to accept letters

of credit in international commerce. The Baltic Dry index

saw an unprecedented collapse, falling by almost 95 %

from its record high of 11,793 points at the end of May

2008 to a mere 663 points in mid-December. The dry

bulk markets have been recovering since the Chinese

New Year. This is also evident in the Baltic Dry Index,

which rose again to 1,960 on 25 February 2009 – 187%

above its December 2008 low. 

Despite the turbulence on the financial markets and

the negative trend affecting the world economy, tanker

markets were more robust. Nevertheless, some cycli-

cal weakness could be observed, albeit with relatively

small declines in vessel values and charter rates. The

Baltic Clean Tanker Index (BCTI), which had started

the year 2008 at 1,083 index points, rose to a level of

1,509 points by the end of June. By the end of the

year, the BCTI had declined to 838 points, which was

equivalent to a loss of just over 20 % compared to the

beginning of 2008. 

A difficult year for closed-end investment models 

The closed-end investment model sector was unable

to escape the effects of the financial and economic

crisis in 2008. Certainly, the year-on-year fall in the

 volume of placed equity in the market as a whole, at

25.3 %, was still moderate.1) However, as the general

crisis of confidence took hold, there was a marked ret-

icence among investors towards any type of invest-

ment during the fourth quarter in particular. Instead of

the normal rise in business recorded towards the year-

end, there was a clear fall in placed equity capital, to

around EUR 1.4 billion during the fourth quarter of

2008. The equivalent figure for the first three quarters

was much higher, averaging EUR 2.3 billion.

Overall market performance was as follows in the seg-

ments relevant to the HCI Group:

Despite major falls of approximately 26 % in investments

in closed-end real estate funds, these still account for

the largest market share, at around 37%. In total, equity

capital of around EUR 5.1 billion was invested in this

segment (2007: EUR 7.6 billion), which is the poorest

result since the figures were first recorded in 1993.

The closed-end shipping investments sector was

able to increase its market share to 30 % with placed

equity capital totalling EUR 2.5 billion. Nevertheless,

this sector also experienced a major fall in aggregate

equity capital placements, which were down 22.4 %

on the previous year. 

Particularly badly affected by falling investment levels

was the private equity asset class, with a fall of some

60 % to EUR 742 million (2007: EUR 1.8 billion). 

The secondary life insurance market segment also

came under major pressure during 2008. The total

amount invested was only EUR 359 million (2007:

EUR 857 million). 

In the first two quarters in particular, aviation funds were

in high demand, registering an increase of some 165 %

thanks to equity capital placements of EUR 711 million.

Business performance of the HCI Group

HCI wins market share and assumes market 

leadership

Despite the difficult market environment, the HCI Group

was able during the 2008 financial year to place equity

capital totalling EUR 599 million with private investors.

Even though aggregate placements were down 8.7 %

on the previous year’s figure of EUR 656 million (adjust-

ed for EUR 155 million in placements with institutional

investors), HCI still registered a relatively strong perform-

ance against the background of the 25.3 % decline in

the overall market. The HCI Group was therefore able to

acquire market share during the reporting period and

achieved the best placement result in the industry. This

meant that the company was able to further extend its
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strong position as a leading issuing house in Germany. 

The key factors contributing to this success included

HCI’s strong sales network encompassing all distribu-

tion channels. Whilst the turbulence on the financial

markets generated a great deal of uncertainty and

general reticence on the part of the investors towards

all types of investment product, HCI was able, by

means of close dialogue with its sales partners and

tailored product solutions for investors, to secure

ongoing placement activity even in the final quarter of

the year, despite the difficult basic parameters. In this

way, HCI Group placed aggregate equity capital

amounting to EUR 91 million during the fourth quarter

of 2008. The Group’s cooperation with its sales part-

ners in developing exclusive shipping products con-

tributed significantly to this result: with traditional

closed-end funds, asset creation and guarantee prod-

ucts, the shipping sector alone contributed some EUR

71 million to the placement result recorded during the

last three months of the financial year.

Overall, it is clear that the Group’s broadly based

product portfolio with new asset classes and inno -

vative product structures – particularly in the case of

asset creation plans – is striking a chord with investors,

particularly in the current economic environment. 

1) Includes subscriptions made via asset creation plans, using investors ongoing contributions during the term of the plan 
2) HCI Deepsea Oil Explorer, HCI Aircraft One

EUR million                                                                                                                           2008                   2007

Shipping                                                                                                                     331.5                598.5

Classic investments                                                                                                     227.3                 360.7

Of which: Asset creation plans 1)                                                                                 28.9                     9.7
    Guarantee products                                                                                    20.7                   24.3

Asset creation plans                                                                                                       44.7                   24.1

Structured products                                                                                                       59.6                   63.6

Institutional business                                                                                                           –                 150.0

Real estate                                                                                                                 117.8                 101.1

Classic investments                                                                                                     117.8                   96.0

Institutional business                                                                                                           –                     5.1

Secondary life assurance market                                                                                86.8                96.1

Classic investments                                                                                                       79.8                   75.7

Of which: subscribed to via asset creation plans                                                               0.6                     1.7

Asset creation plans                                                                                                         2.6                     4.1

Structured products                                                                                                        4.4                   16.3

Private equity                                                                                                                4.7               14.9

Classic investments                                                                                                        3.7               12.9

Of which: Asset creation plans                                                                                      0.8                     0.8
    Guarantee products                                                                                      0.6                     0.0

Asset creation plans                                                                                                        0.9                2.1

New asset classes 2)                                                                                                    57.9                   –

Classic investments                                                                                                     57.6                  –

Asset creation plans                                                                                                      0.3                  –

Total                                                                                             598.6                810.6
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Considered across the year as a whole, the place-

ment result for 2008 is marked first and foremost by 

a broad product base. By doing this, we were largely

able to compensate for larger fluctuations in individual

product areas. In terms of the individual product areas,

the placement results can be broken down as follows: 

Shipping products, with a placement result of EUR

331.5 million, was once again the strongest segment

of the HCI Group during the year under review. The

decrease in retail placements from EUR 448.4 million

by  26.1% can be primarily attributed to the fact that a

large portion of the shipping fund product offering

had been planned for the fourth quarter. 

In contrast, in the real estate sector, and with regard

to the real estate fund of funds HCI Real Estate BRIC+

in particular, the HCI Group managed to buck the

market trend, achieving an increase of 22.6 % in pri-

vate customer business, up from EUR 96.0 million in

the previous year to EUR 117.8 million. 

The secondary life assurance market product sector

also showed a positive development overall. The fall

in the placement volume from EUR 96.1 million during

2007 to EUR 86.8 million in 2008 is primarily due to the

fact that the figure for the previous year also included a

secondary life insurance market certificate worth EUR

16.3 million. A successor product, which had already

been fully designed, was not launched for sale after all

due to the very difficult environment for certificates in

the second half of 2008. Placements in traditional

closed-end funds and asset creation plans in the sec-

ondary life assurance market product sector were up

3.2 % year-on year, to EUR 82.4 million. 

With regard to private equity, as expected, there was a

fall from the already low EUR 14.9 million recorded dur-

ing 2007 to EUR 4.7 million during the reporting year.

New asset classes, which HCI Group tapped via its

HCI Deepsea Oil Explorer and HCI Aircraft One fund

products, contributed around EUR 57.9 million in

placements, equivalent to just under 10 % of overall

placements during 2008. 

Additionally, across the different product areas, a total

of EUR 64.0 million can be attributed to guarantee

products (Shipping Protect, Multi Asset Protect) and

two freight rate certificates, with EUR 48.5 million relat-

ing to asset creation plans. These enable investors to

make a broadly diversified investment in closed-end

funds based on a relatively small regular payment.

The placement volume grew by more than 60 % com-

pared with the previous year.

Using innovative products such as asset creation

plans and guarantee products, HCI has a genuine

unique selling point on the market for closed-end

funds, with which the company can reach a broader

base of investors by means of a diverse range of dis-

tribution channels.

Demand from institutional investors faltered against

the background of collapsing capital markets in 2008.

In the 2007 financial year, HCI Group had recorded

placements with institutional investors of EUR 150

million with HCI HAMMONIA SHIPPING AG, plus

EUR 5.1 million in real estate products: there was no

institutional business during 2008.

A successful sales distribution concept

The Group’s sales structure – which has been geared

towards the different regions and distribution channels

over the past few years – is proving its worth, as

demonstrated very clearly by the business perform-

ance figures for 2008. The main distribution channels

are:

■ savings banks;

■ major banks and private banks;

■ cooperative banks;

■ independent sales partners; and

■ pools and large-scale distributors.

The sales performance achieved during the reporting

period can be broken down as follows by distribution

channel: independent financial agents, accounting for

45.4 % (2007: 58.3 %), contributed the largest share

to the overall result. Savings banks and the category

of major and private banks contributed 26.5 % (2007:

23.7 %) and 16.4 % (2007: 6.7 %) respectively. This

shows particularly clearly that the HCI Group is suc-

ceeding with new products (particularly guarantee

products and HCI Real Estate BRIC+) in further

expanding its investor coverage in these distribution
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channels. Some way behind, pools/large-scale dis-

tributors accounted for 5.9 % (2007: 7.2 %) and

cooperative banks for 5.8 % (2007: 4.1 %).

In addition to product sales through our distribution

network, our asset creation and guarantee products

are also increasingly contributing to the HCI Group’s

successful placement figures. During the reporting

period, a total of EUR 51.0 million of equity capital

was invested in closed-end shipping funds, second-

ary life insurance market funds and private equity

funds of funds through asset creation plans and guar-

antee products (Shipping Protect, Multi Asset Pro-

tect), which, during the reporting year and in previous

years, were designed by HSC Hanseatische Sach -

wert Concept GmbH and launched on the market by

the HCI Group sales team. This means that the sub-

scription volume for these funds rose by some 46 %

compared with the previous year. Through the ongo-

ing growth in asset creation plans, which involve

investors making regular payments over a certain

period of time, the HCI Group is generating ongoing

rises in its subscription volume and, in the process,

creating a solid basis for placement activity in the

future. Investors in the asset creation plans profit from

a long-term savings model that enables them to

invest in a broadly diversified portfolio of closed-end

funds.

Its stake in eFonds Holding AG has enabled the HCI

Group to take a further strategic step in terms of its

sales network. Over the past few years the eFonds

Group has established itself as an online distribution

platform, has access to a good network, and is high-

ly regarded amongst sales partners in the market.

With the creation of a liability umbrella for independ-

ent financial services providers, eFonds is also taking

an important strategic step to ensure that it is well

positioned against the background of the changing

regulatory framework in this area. From the HCI

Group’s perspective, there is an opportunity to

 participate in this development in the capacity of 

a partner.

The HCI Group sold its stake of 25 % plus one share in

Aragon AG during the reporting period, thereby focus-

ing its strategic investments in the area of distribution

platforms. At the same time, selling the stake in Aragon

permitted the repayment of borrowing raised to finance

the original acquisition, thus enhancing HCI Capital

AG’s capital structure.

Expansion of trust and service activities – number

of investors rises to approximately 120,000

Despite a low overall placement volume, activities in

the area of trust and after-sales services were further

expanded during 2008. The ongoing placement with

private investors of the fund equity across all seg-

ments meant that, on balance, the accumulated equity

capital under management was increased from EUR

4.3 billion to EUR 4.8 billion as at 31 December 2008.

At the same time, the number of investors rose by

17.2 % to 119,400 (2007: 101,900). The ongoing

growth in trust activities is thus securing an increas-

ingly large share of sustainable income from trust and

service fees.

Changes to the shareholder structure and executive

bodies of HCI Capital AG

There have been numerous changes to the share-

holder structure of HCI Capital AG during the report-

ing period. On 12 March 2008 MPC Münchmeyer

Petersen Capital AG extended a take over offer to the

other shareholders of HCI Capital AG. At the time of

the offer being published, MPC Münchmeyer Petersen

Capital AG already held 15.10 % of the company’s

share capital and voting rights. Addition ally, on 11

February 2008, MPC Münchmeyer Petersen Capital

AG entered into an agreement with Corsair III Invest-

ments (Luxembourg) S.à.r.l. on the acquisition of a

further stake in HCI of 20.03 %. Following the expiry

of the final acceptance period on 28 April 2008, an

acceptance rate of 5.67 % of the voting rights and

share capital of HCI Capital AG had been achieved,

with the result that MPC Münchmeyer Petersen Capi-

tal AG, following the completion of the takeover bid

and the agreement on the share swap with Corsair III

Investments (Luxembourg) S.à.r.l., now holds a 40.80%

stake in HCI  Capital AG’s share capital. Moreover, 

Mr Jochen Döhle has increased his interest in HCI

Capital AG to 21.43 % (including indirect sharehold-

ings via Döhle ICL Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH,

Peter Döhle Schiffahrts-KG, and Beteiligungs- und

Verwal tungs gesellschaft Peter Döhle mbH). On this

basis the shareholder structure can now be broken

down as follows:
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■ MPC Münchmeyer Petersen Capital AG 40.80 %

■ Döhle Group 21.43 %

■ Free float 37.77 %

On the basis of a resolution adopted by the General

Meeting on 15 May 2008, the size of the Supervisory

Board was increased from three to six members. In

this regard, the General Meeting elected Jochen

Döhle, Dr John Benjamin Schroeder and Stefan Vier-

ing as new members of the Supervisory Board. At its

meeting of 9 June 2008, the Supervisory Board elect-

ed Dr John Benjamin Schroeder as its new chairman.

The previous chairman, Udo Bandow, was elected

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board. 

The previous Chairman of the Management Board,

Wolfgang Essing, and the Supervisory Board of HCI

Capital AG agreed by mutual consent on 23 April

2008 that Mr Essing’s contract would end with effect

from 31 May 2008. On 8 May 2008 the Supervisory

Board appointed Dr Ralf Friedrichs as a new member

of the Management Board and also appointed him as

CEO. Dr Friedrichs took up his position with effect

from 1 June 2008 as agreed. The previous CFO, Dr

Rolando Gennari, and the Supervisory Board of HCI

Capital AG agreed by mutual consent on 30 June

2008 that Dr Gennari’s contract would end with effect

from that date. On 25 July 2008, the Supervisory

Board appointed Dr Andreas Pres as a new member

of the Management Board and, at the same time,

Chief Financial Officer (CFO), effective 13 August

2008. 

Following the changes to the group of major share-

holders and the new appointments to the Supervisory

Board and Management Board, we consider the HCI

Group now to be well-positioned, with a stable struc-

ture, that will enable it to successfully advance as an

independent company with a strong brand.

B. Net assets, financial position and
result of operations of the HCI Group

I. Results of operations

1. Results of operations – HCI Group

Key figures relating to HCI Group’s results of opera-

tions for the 2008 financial year, and the changes

compared with the previous year, are shown in the

table below:

EUR million                                                                                                                           2008                   2007

Revenues                                                                                                                   120.0                 137.3

Other operating income                                                                                                   6.6                   13.2

Changes in inventories                                                                                                     0.6                   -0.6

Cost of purchased services                                                                                           -63.3                 -70.3

Personnel expenses                                                                                                     -27.8                 -28.0

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets                                                                      -3.3                   -4.5

Other operating expenses                                                                                             -25.4                 -21.5

Result of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method                                                                         -24.6                   14.7

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)                                                                 -17.3                   40.3

Net financial result                                                                                                           -6.0                     0.5

Earnings before taxes (EBT)                                                                                       -23.3                   40.8

Income taxes                                                                                                                   6.5                 -10.2

Consolidated net result for the year                                                                           -16.8                   30.6

Revenues declined by 12.9 % during the period under

review, to EUR 120.0 million (2007: EUR 137.7 million),

and are analysed below: 
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EUR million                                                                                                                           2008                   2007

Fund design and sales revenues                                                                                     92.2                 105.4

Trust and service fees                                                                                                     22.7                   22.6

Management revenues                                                                                                     2.7                     1.8

Other revenues                                                                                                                2.4                     7.5

                                                                                                                                   120.0                 137.3

Lower design and sales fees of EUR 92.2 million

(2007: EUR 105.4 million) were a major contributory

factor; their decrease was attributable to the lower

volume of placed equity capital, and the changed

product mix in the year 2008. In the ship segment a

series of individually structured placements con-

tributed to this trend, with this type of product being

characterised by low sales commissions at the out-

set and, subsequently, higher ongoing commissions

and, in some cases, performance-based commis-

sions. In the real estate segment, it was opportunity

funds of funds with their lower commissions and

margins that dominated. Meanwhile, structured

products, and certificates in particular, are marked

by a low-margin commission structure. 

At EUR 22.7 million, trust and service fees were slightly

higher than the previous year’s figure of EUR 22.6 mil-

lion, whilst proceeds from management fees amount-

ed to EUR 2.7 million (up EUR 0.9 million   year-on-year).

The latter increase was largely due to management

fees charged by HCI Group to HCI HAMMONIA

 SHIPPING AG. 

The considerable decline in other income, from EUR

7.5 million to EUR 2.4 million in 2008, was due in par-

ticular to lower performance-based income from

closed-end funds, based on defined levels of return

generated upon the winding up of the funds after the

sale of the fund investments.

The cost of purchased services, at EUR 63.3 million,

was 14.2 % below the previous year’s figure of EUR

70.3 million.

This reflected the decline in placed equity capital, and

the changed product mix.

Gross profit across all product segments amounted

to EUR 51.5 million in the 2008 financial year (2007:

EUR 66.1 million). The decline was partly offset by

higher gross profit in the Other/Holding segment (up

from EUR 0.3 million in 2007 to EUR 5.7 million in

2008) generated through placement of the HCI

Deepsea Oil Explorer and HCI Aircraft One funds.

This development shows that the HCI Group’s ongo-

ing diversification strategy is inextricably linked with a

shift in margin structure in the product segments, and

a move away from one-off sales commissions to reg-

ular recurring income from trust, service and manage-

ment activities: these commissions, which are based

on contractual agreements already in place, will in

some cases take a few years to have an impact

Other operating income, at EUR 6.6 million, was well

down on the very high level of EUR 13.2 million record-

ed during the previous year. Other operating income pri-

marily includes the results from the HCI Group’s activity

in the area of trading in ships and real estate (asset trad-

ing). Whilst these activities are an integral component of

the Group’s business model, they depend upon market

opportunities: therefore, the  ability to plan such income

on a recurring basis is limited. HCI was able to sell these

assets on the basis of attractive conditions in a strong

sellers’ market, without jeopardising the long-term

product availability of the HCI Group’s funds. Other

operating income for the 2008 financial year primarily

comprised revenues from ship brokerage, in the

amount of EUR 3.6 million (2007: EUR 2.8 million),

whereas the figure for 2007 largely comprised EUR 8.7

million in revenues from the brokerage of real estate,

which only amounted to EUR 0.8 million in 2008. 

At EUR 27.8 million, personnel expenses were virtually

unchanged in the period under review (2007: EUR

HCI Annual Report 2008 | Management Report
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28.0 million). Severance payments to members of the

Management Board amounted to EUR 3.8 million in

2008 (2007: EUR 1.8 million). The average staffing

level rose from 286 to 309.

Thanks to a restrictive human resources policy, HCI

managed to reduce personnel expenses (adjusted for

severance pay to retiring Management Board mem-

bers) by 8.4 %.

In contrast, other operating expenses were up by

18%, to EUR 25.4 million (2007: EUR 21.5 million).

The increase was largely due to EUR 2.9 million in

expenses incurred due to funding obligations under

company law, and consultancy costs of EUR 0.8 mil-

lion incurred in conjunction with the takeover bid of

MPC Capital AG.

The result of associates and joint ventures accounted

for using the equity method swung to a net loss of

EUR 24.6 million during the period under review,

down EUR 39.3 from the previous year’s figure of

EUR 14.7 million. The investment in NY Credit Oper-

ating Partnership LP was the dominating factor for

this development, accounting for EUR -26.9 million

including a EUR 24.8 million impairment loss recog-

nised in the second quarter of 2008. Given that HCI

no longer exercised significant influence in the fourth

quarter of 2008, the remaining investment in NY

Credit Operating Partnership LP of EUR 3.4 million

was reclassified to available for sale financial assets.

HAMMONIA Reederei GmbH & Co. KG contributed

EUR 3.7 million (2007: EUR 12.6 million), including a

gain of EUR 2.6 million realised upon the acquisition

of limited partnership shares by General Electric and

Dr Karsten Liebing, within the scope of a capital

increase. 

Operating earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)

totalled EUR -17.3 million for the period under review

(2007: EUR 40.3 million).

The net financial result, at EUR -6.0 million, was

lower than in the previous year (2007: EUR 0.5

 million). Main factors influencing the financial result

included EUR 7.5 million (2007: EUR 0.2 million) in

impairments of financial instruments, plus the effects

of the re-designation of the stake in NY Credit Oper-

ating Partnership LP: as a result, expenses from cur-

rency translation adjustments and hedges of EUR

3.7 million, which had previously been recognised

directly in equity (due to the the fact that the invest-

ment had been accounted for using the equity

method), now had to be recognised in profit and loss.

In particular, impairments of financial instruments

include EUR 3.4 million in additional write-downs 

on the investment in NY Credit Operating Partner-

ship LP, which were required as at 31 December

2008 due to the entity’s continued negative results 

of operations and financial position, and a EUR 2.9

million impairment charge on loans to order compa-

nies. The improvement in the net interest result (from

EUR -3.2 million to EUR -2.1 million), reflecting the

lower level of borrowings during 2008, and positive

net foreign exchange differences of EUR 2.4 million

(2007: EUR -2.9 million) could not fully offset the

negative factors. 

The tax position for the financial year under review

resulted in tax income of EUR 6.5 million (2007: tax

expense of EUR 10.2 million). The tax income is mainly

attributable to tax refunds for previous periods in the

amount of EUR 5.0 million (tax refunds and refund

claims largely relate to tax assessments for the years

2004 to 2006, reflecting ex-post adjustments of

results generated by HAMMONIA Reederei GmbH &

Co. KG), and to a tax refund claim related to the invest-

ment in New York Credit Operating Partnership LP.  

The consolidated net result for the year, at EUR 

-16.8 million, clearly fell short of the strong results

posted for the previous year (2007: EUR 30.6 million).

In its interim report for the first nine months of 2008,

HCI Group already projected a target range EUR 

-13.0 million to EUR -9.0 million for the year as a

whole. Due to the negative results of operations and

the stressed financial position of NY Credit Operating

Partnership LP, in conjunction with the loss of a signif-

icant influence, a related charge of EUR 7.0 million

was recognised in the fourth quarter of 2008. More-

over, impairments of EUR 5.0 million on associates

accounted for using the equity method, goodwill and

loans to order companies were recognised in the

fourth quarter.
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Equity capital placed with retail customers was down

26.1% year-on-year, to EUR 331.5 million (2007: EUR

448.5 million). The decline was particularly evident in

traditional closed-end funds (down EUR 133.4 mil-

lion), whereas placements of other products in fact

increased. 

Proceeds from management charges for HCI HAM-

MONIA SHIPPING AG amounted to EUR 1.5 million.

These charges are billed at a rate of 1.0 % p.a. over

the next years, on the basis of balance-sheet equity of

currently EUR 146 million.

A considerable decrease was recorded in other fees,

totalling EUR 2.4 million (2007: EUR 6.9 million). These

payments are based on the contractually agreed par-

ticipation of the HCI Group in the performance of the

funds that it has initiated whenever these funds

exceed a predefined rate of return. The payment is

made when the fund is wound up after disposal of the

investment. 

The costs of purchased services in the shipping seg-

ment were lower than in the previous year, at EUR 36.9

million (2007: EUR 52.7 million). This figure includes

expenses of EUR 1.0 million (2007: EUR 3.0 million)

due as commission to sales partners in conjunction

with the participation of the HCI Group (as detailed with

respect to other remuneration) when the income from

closed-end funds exceeds predefined return levels.

This results in gross profit of EUR 41.9 million, which is

below the EUR 53.4 million recorded for the previous

year. The fact that the gross profit margin rose from

50.1% in the previous year to 53.2 % in the year under

review indicates the benefits of HCI Group’s broadly

diversified product portfolio in the shipping segment,

which remains the strongest product segment of the

HCI Group in terms of margin.

The improvement in net other operating income and

expenses, from EUR -19.6 million in the previous year

to EUR -15.8 million during the reporting period, is due

to various effects: personnel expenses, depreciation,

amortisation and write-downs, and other operating

expenses all developed positively, whilst other operat-

ing income increased slightly.

The decrease in the result of associates and joint ven-

tures accounted for using the equity method, to EUR

4.1 million (2007: EUR 12.6 million) was attributable in

particular to HCI Group’s share in the 2007 results of

HAMMONIA Reederei GmbH & Co. KG: the high figure

for the previous year was largely due to profit contribu-
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EUR million                                                                                                                           2008                   2007

Fund design and sales revenues                                                                                    55.9                   81.1

Trust and service fees                                                                                                     18.6                   18.1

Management revenues                                                                                                     1.5                     0.4

Other fees                                                                                                                        2.4                     6.9

Revenues                                                                                                                     78.4                 106.5

Cost of purchased services                                                                                           -36.9                 -52.7

Change in inventories                                                                                                       0.4                   -0.4

Gross profit                                                                                                                  41.9                   53.4

Net other operating income and expenses                                                                    -15.8                 -19.6

Result of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method                                                                             4.1                   12.6

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)                                                                   30.2                   46.4

2. Result of operations of the segments 

Shipping

The result of operations in the shipping segment 

during the period under review was as follows:



Revenues in the real estate segment rose from EUR

13.5 million in the previous year to EUR 16.6 million 

in 2008. This was attributable to an increase in fund

design and sales revenues, to EUR 13.1 million (2007:

EUR 9.3 million), reflecting the 22.6 % increase in equi-

ty capital placements with retail customers. Trust and

service fees as well as management charges were in

line with the previous year’s levels.

The increase in the cost of purchased services, from

EUR 7.6 million in the previous year to EUR 10.4 mil-

lion, was due to higher equity capital placed. Gross

profit rose to EUR 5.8 million (2007: EUR 5.5 million).

Overall, the gross profit margin of 35.2 % was slightly

below the previous year’s level of 40.7 %, which was

due in particular to the high proportion of the BRIC+

fund in total placements. 

The marked decline in net other operating income

and expenses was mainly due to the result from bro-

kerage of Dutch real estate of EUR 8.7 million posted

in the previous year.

The fall in the result of associates and joint ventures

accounted for using the equity method was due to

the pro-rata negative results of NY Credit Operating

Partnership LP of EUR 2.1 million for the period from

1 January to 30 September 2008, as well as to a

EUR 24.8 million impairment charge on the invest-

ment held by HCI Group, which was recognised in

the second quarter of 2008. Within the scope of refi-

nancing NY Credit Operating Partnership LP during

the fourth quarter, HCI Group lost its significant influ-

ence on the entity; as a result, its investment has

been classified as available for sale financial asset

since the fourth quarter of 2008. 

EBIT in the real estate segment, at EUR -27.8 mil-

lion, clearly fell short of the previous year’s figure of

EUR 8.0 million. 
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tions achieved by HAMMONIA Reederei GmbH & Co.

KG in ship brokerage. A gain of EUR 2.6 million was

realised in 2008 upon the acquisition of limited part-

nership shares by General Electric and Dr Karsten

Liebing, within the scope of a capital increase of 

HAMMONIA Reederei GmbH & Co. KG.

Overall, EBIT for the shipping segment fell by EUR

16.2 million year-on-year, to EUR 30.2 million.

Real estate

The result of operations in the real estate segment dur-

ing the reporting period was as follows:

EUR million                                                                                                                           2008                   2007

Fund design and sales revenues                                                                                    13.1                     9.3

Trust and service fees                                                                                                       2.3                     2.4

Management revenues                                                                                                     1.2                     1.3

Other remuneration                                                                                                          0.0                     0.5

Revenues                                                                                                                     16.6                   13.5

Cost of purchased services                                                                                           -10.4                   -7.6

Change in inventories                                                                                                      -0.4                   -0.4

Gross profit                                                                                                                    5.8                     5.5

Net other operating income and expenses                                                                      -6.7                     1.0

Result of associates and joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method                                                                         -26.9                     1.5

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)                                                                 -27.8                     8.0
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The lower placement result of EUR 86.8 million

(2007: EUR 96.1 million) meant that there was a 

clear fall in revenues in the secondary life insurance

market segment, down from EUR 15.1 million in the

previous year to EUR 12.0 million. This development

also reflects a change in the revenue structure due 

to the introduction of a guarantee product, as well 

as changed commission rates. 

Gross profit in the secondary life insurance market

segment fell accordingly, from EUR 6.4 million to

EUR 3.5 million. Due to the change in the product

mix, the gross profit margin was cut from 42.4 % 

to 29.2 %.

This resulted in an EBIT figure of EUR -1.5 million (2008:

EUR 0.0 million).

The HCI Group receives annual fees with regard to

secondary life insurance market funds which, in accor-

dance with their contractual design, are classified as

advance dividends. They are therefore included in the

financial result as investment income and not included

in the calculation of EBIT. These funds provided an

investment income in the 2008 financial year of EUR

2.7 million (2007: EUR 3.0 million).

Private Equity

The result of operations in the private equity segment

during the reporting period was as follows:

Secondary life insurance market

Results of operations in the secondary life insurance

market segment during the reporting period were as

follows:
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EUR million                                                                                                                           2008                   2007

Fund design and sales revenues                                                                                    10.7                   13.3

Trust and service fees                                                                                                       1.3                     1.8

Revenues                                                                                                                     12.0                   15.1

Cost of purchased services                                                                                             -8.6                   -8.6

Change in inventories                                                                                                       0.1                   -0.1

Gross profit                                                                                                                    3.5                     6.4

Net other operating income and expenses                                                                      -5.0                   -6.4

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)                                                                   -1.5                     0.0

Result from investments in funds                                                                                      2.7                     3.0

EUR million                                                                                                                           2008                   2007

Fund design and sales revenues                                                                                      0.4                     1.5

Trust and service fees                                                                                                       0.4                     0.4

Revenues                                                                                                                       0.8                     1.9

Cost of purchased services                                                                                             -0.5                   -1.4

Change in inventories                                                                                                       0.0                     0.3

Gross profit                                                                                                                    0.3                     0.8

Depreciation, amortisation, and write-downs                                                                   -0.7                     0.0

Net other operating income and expenses                                                                      -0.4                   -0.3

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)                                                                   -0.8                     0.5



Fund design and sales revenues and expenses relat-

ed to the HCI Deepsea Oil Explorer and HCI Aircraft

One funds have been reported under this segment

for the first time in 2008. Placements of EUR 13.1

million for the HCI Aircraft One fund and of EUR 44.5

million for the HCI Deepsea Oil Explorer fund gener-

ated fund design and sales revenues of EUR 12.0

millions. With cost of purchased services amounting

to EUR 6.9 million, this yielded gross profit of EUR

5.7 million (2007: EUR 0.3 million). 

Net other income and expenses includes expenses

for centralised holding functions in particular; in addi-

tion, the figure includes expenses incurred in relation

to the HCI Deepsea Oil Explorer and HCI Aircraft One

funds.

The much lower placement result of EUR 4.7 million

(2007: EUR 14.9 million) meant that there was a clear

fall in revenues in the private equity market segment,

down from EUR 1.9 million in the previous year to EUR

0.8 million.

Gross profit fell to 0.3 million (2007: EUR 0.8 million)

during the period under review. The gross profit mar-

gin in this segment was 37.5 % (2007: 40.0 %).

Taking into account the development of earnings,

goodwill of EUR 1.3 million allocated to this segment

(recognised upon an acquisition made in 2004) was

written down by EUR 0.7 million.

EBIT in the private equity segment was EUR -0.8 mil-

lion for the 2008 financial year (2007: EUR 0.5 million). 

Other/Holding

Results of operations in the period under review were

as follows:
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EUR million                                                                                                                           2008                   2007

Fund design and sales revenues                                                                                    12.0                     0.1

Trust and service fees                                                                                                       0.1                     0.2

Revenues                                                                                                                     12.1                     0.3

Cost of purchased services                                                                                             -6.9                     0.0

Change in inventories                                                                                                       0.5                     0.0

Gross profit                                                                                                                    5.7                     0.3

Net other operating income and expenses                                                                    -21.3                 -15.5

Result of associates and joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method                                                                           -1.7                     0.6

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)                                                                 -17.3                 -14.6
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II. Financial position  
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Despite the negative consolidated results for the 2008

financial year, HCI Group’s cash flow from operating

activities was positive, amounting to EUR 13.8 million

(2007: EUR 17.7 million), due to the significant impact

of non-cash expenses on the consolidated net result.

Specifically, this includes EUR 31.8 million in write-

downs recognised in profit and loss incurred on HCI

Group’s investment in NY Credit Operating Partner-

ship LP, plus EUR 4.3 million (2007: EUR 0.2 million) in

impairments of financial instruments. Net cash

received from income taxes of EUR 2.4 million had a

positive effect on cash flow from operating activities; in

2007 the tax position involved a net cash outflow of

EUR -18.3 million.

EUR 20.7 million in cash generated from investing

activities was primarily attributable to the sale of the

investment in Aragon AG, which resulted in a cash

inflow of EUR 31.8 million. Additional positive cash

flows from the sale of other financial assets totalling

EUR 6.2 million (2007: EUR 9.0 million) included the

proceeds from the sale of shares in HCI HAMMONIA

SHIPPING AG. Cash outflows from investing activities

of EUR 7.5 million were due to the acquisition of

shares in eFonds Holding AG, and to financing provid-

ed to shipbuilding companies which are accounted for

in HCI Group’s consolidated financial statements

using the equity method. In the previous year, this item

mainly included EUR 34.0 million in contributions to

NY Credit Operating Partnership LP. Payments for

other investments, securities and long-term loans to

related parties caused a net cash outflow of EUR 9.3

million (2007: EUR 11.3 million).

The net cash outflow from financing activities of EUR

40.0 million (2007: EUR 3.2 million) was due in particu-

lar to the dividend payment to shareholders of HCI

Capital AG (EUR 16.8 million; 2007: EUR 33.6 million),

and to the net EUR 23.2 repayment of financial liabili-

ties (2007: net borrowing of EUR 30.4 million). The

majority of cash outflows referred to the repayment of

loans taken out to finance the acquisition of stakes in

Aragon AG, NY Credit Operating Partnership LP and

HCI HAMMONIA SHIPPING AG. 

At EUR 29.3 million as at 31 December 2008, cash

and cash equivalents were EUR 5.4 million lower than

on 31 December 2007. 

As part of its business model in the shipping segment,

HCI Group raises bridge finance facilities jointly with

medium-sized shipowners, reflecting the start-up peri-

ods for initiated products. These periods can be very

long, particularly in the shipping and real estate seg-

ments. HCI Group entities granted guarantees and

placement guarantees with respect to construction

EUR million                                                                                                                           2008                   2007

Consolidated net result for the year                                                                               -16.8                   30.6

Non-cash income and expenses                                                                                    33.8                     1.7

Change in net working capital                                                                                         -2.5                     3.4

Interest and taxes paid and received                                                                               -1.3                 -19.3

Distributions received                                                                                                       0.6                     1.3

Cash flow from operating activities                                                                             13.8                   17.7

Cash flow from investing activities                                                                              20.7                 -38.4

Cash flow from financing activities                                                                            -40.0                   -3.2

Net cash inflow/outflow                                                                                               -5.4                 -23.9

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period                                               34.7                   58.6

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period                                                   29.3                   34.7



phase loans, equity bridge facilities, and foreign

exchange or interest rate hedges. The aggregate vol-

ume of guarantees and similar obligations by HCI Group

as at 31 December 2008 amounted to EUR 343.8 mil-

lion and USD 1,578.0 million, of which EUR 256.9 million

and USD 950.4 million related to loans that had already

been disbursed. Placement guarantees totalling EUR

134.8 million / USD 432.6 million were still outstanding,

of which EUR 60.5 million / USD 260.5 million related to

funds that were not yet at the placement stage.

III. Net assets

The net assets of the HCI Group are analysed as

 follows:  
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                                                                                                              31 Dec 2008                     31 Dec 2007
Assets                                                                                                  EUR mn       in %              EUR mn      in %

Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment,
and non-current financial assets                                                           63.2      36.6                 109.5      45.6

Non-current receivables   
and other assets                                                                                   14.6        8.4                   19.9        8.3

Work in progress and finished services                                                    2.4        1.4                     1.8        0.8

Current receivables and  
other assets                                                                                         55.1      32.0                   65.8      27.4

Securities                                                                                               3.1        1.8                     7.5        3.1

Cash and cash equivalents                                                                   29.3      17.0                   34.7      14.5

Deferred taxes                                                                                        4.9        2.8                     0.7        0.3

Total equity and liabilities                                                                 172.6    100.0                 239.9    100.0

Equity and liabilities                                                                                                                                   

Group equity                                                                                        86.2      50.0                 118.0      49.2

Non-current provisions and 
liabilities                                                                                                27.7      16.0                   16.6        6.9

Current provisions                                                                                  1.8        1.0                     1.3        0.5

Current liabilities                                                                                   53.3      30.9                 102.0      42.6

Deferred taxes                                                                                        3.6        2.1                     2.0        0.8

Total equity and liabilities                                                                 172.6    100.0                 239.9    100.0

Total assets as at 31 December 2008 were lower than

at the end of the previous year, declining by EUR 67.3

million to EUR 172.6 million. 

This decline was primarily due to the clear reduction

in the item intangible assets, property, plant and

equipment, and non-current financial assets,

which was down by EUR 46.3 million, to EUR 63.2

million. The change in this item was largely due to the

EUR 24.8 million write-down on the investment in NY

Credit Operating Partnership LP as at 30 June 2008.

Following the loss of significant influence, the invest-

ment which had been accounted for using the equity

method was reclassified as an available for sale
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financial asset in the fourth quarter of 2008. The sub-

sequent measurement in accordance with IAS 39

resulted in a EUR 3.4 million expense recognised in

profit and loss. The sale of the interest held in Aragon

AG, which had been carried at EUR 30.3 million 

as at 31 December 2007, also reduced this item,

whereas the investment in eFonds Holding AG led to

an increase of EUR 6.7 million. Furthermore, the car-

rying amount of other associates and joint ventures

accounted for using the equity method increased by

EUR 2.4 million, primarily due to the portion of results

attributable to the HCI Group. 

The increase in other financial assets was primarily

due to the capital funding of shipbuilding companies

where investments are held in equal proportions with

the respective shipowners. As a result of this capital

injection which had become necessary, carrying

amounts of EUR 8.5 million (2007: EUR nil) were

recognised as at 31 December 2008. EUR 4.3 million

in converted loan receivables recognised in the previ-

ous year were converted to equity during the financial

year under review.

Non-current receivables and other assets, amount-

ing to EUR 14.6 million, include loans granted to

investment companies and third parties, as well as

silent partnership contributions. The balance was

reduced by EUR 5.3 million compared to the previous

year, due to redemptions.

Work in progress and finished services, including

 capitalised services in conjunction with the design 

of funds, increased slightly from the previous year, 

to EUR 2.4 million (up EUR 0.6 million). 

The fall in current receivables and other assets was

due in particular to the 25.8 % reduction in current

receivables from sales and services, from EUR 31.8

million as at 31 December 2007 to EUR 23.6 million

one year later. This development was due to the fact

that placement volumes were lower at the end of

2008 than was the case for the previous year.

Current liabilities declined by EUR 48.7 million dur-

ing the 2008 financial year, from EUR 102.0 million at

the end of 2007 to EUR 53.3 million. This decrease

was largely due to lower current financial liabilities

(down from EUR 49.5 million to EUR 16.8 million),

reflecting redemptions as well as extensions in the

term of previous short-term loans, as well as to

declines in trade payables (down EUR 10.6 million),

other liabilities (down EUR 1.9 million) and income

tax liabilities (down EUR 2.9 million). Lower trade

payables reflected the development of placements

during the final quarter of the financial year under

review. 

Non-current provisions and liabilities comprise

essentially financial liabilities incurred through financ-

ing the investment in NY Credit Operating Partnership

LP, as well as financing shipbuilding companies during

the construction period. 

The EUR 31.8 million fall in group equity to EUR 86.2

million was due to the consolidated loss of EUR 16.8

million for 2008, and the dividend distribution for the

2007 financial year of EUR 16.8 million. At 50.0 %, the

equity ratio as at 31 December 2008 was virtually

unchanged from the previous year (31 December

2007: 49.2 %). 

C. Human resources

I. Employees

Our employees’ expertise in complex markets and the

extent to which our staff identity with the HCI Group

are key to the Group’s success. Once again, during

the reporting year, the development of the HCI Group

made high demands of our staff in terms of their cre-

ativity, their ability to adapt and the underlying value

creation processes. With a view to the further devel-

opment of the company and the increased require-

ments of the business, the HCI team of highly qualified

and committed staff was further expanded during the

reporting period. 
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In addition to their salaries, managerial staff and

selected employees are also eligible for contractually

agreed bonuses, payment of which is dependent on

the attainment of annual targets. Schemes enabling

managing directors, divisional managers and sales

staff to participate in profit and revenues are in place at

HCI. 

II. Remuneration system for the Management

Board and Supervisory Board

In accordance with section 315 (2) no. 4 of the Ger-

man Commercial Code (HGB), the main features of

the remuneration system applicable to the Manage-

ment Board and Supervisory Board of HCI Capital AG

in terms of overall remuneration as defined in section

314 (1) no. 6 of the HGB are detailed below. The

remuneration report complies with the German Act on

the Disclosure of Executive Board Remuneration

(VorstOG), as well as with the recommendations of the

German Corporate Governance Code. It therefore

also includes an individual breakdown of the remuner-

ation of the Management Board and the Supervisory

Board.

The remuneration of the Management Board is com-

posed of fixed components that are paid irrespective

of performance and of variable, performance-related

components. The fixed salary paid is based on the job

description and areas of responsibility of the respec-

tive member of the Management Board. The variable

payment in the form of a profit-sharing bonus is based

on the Group’s result, and is calculated on the basis of

consolidated earnings before taxes (EBT) calculated

according to IFRS. Members of the Management

Board receive a percentage share if the EBT recorded

is within the predefined range. If the EBT exceeds this

range, the percentage participation is increased, sub-

ject to a cap agreed upon (except for Dr Ralf Friedrichs).

The Chairman of the Management Board receives a

higher percentage than the other members of the

Board in each case. Moreover, a minimum bonus has

been contractually agreed upon with Dr Ralf Friedrichs

for the first two years of his contractual term (1 June

2008 to 31 May 2010). A minimum bonus has also

been agreed for the first twelve months of Dr. Andreas

Pres’ term of office. In the event that a profit-sharing

bonus is payable for the 2009 financial year, Dr Pres

will also receive one third of the amount calculated in

accordance with the profit-sharing bonus arrange-

ment for the 2009 financial year. Dr Oliver Moosmayer

will receive a bonus for the year 2008. As a fringe ben-

efit, the members of the Management Board are each

provided with a company car. They also receive a tied

payment to cover insurance premiums and are able to

subscribe for HCI Capital AG products on the basis of

preferential terms for employees.

The Board members’ contracts of Wolfgang Essing

and Dr Rolando Gennari, who both resigned in 2008,

contained commitments in the event that their period

of office was terminated prematurely. The amount of

compensation which will be payable in this event is

based on the remainder of the contractual period in

years, multiplied by the aggregate contractually-

agreed fixed salary plus 50 % of the profit-sharing

bonus of the previous year. A maximum amount is

also stipulated for this settlement payment. The con-

tracts held by Board members Dr Friedrichs and 
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                                                                                                                                              2008                   2007

Average number of employees                                                                                        309                    286

Personnel expenses (EUR mn)                                                                                       27.8                   28.0

Compared to the previous year, the key indicators

developed as follows: 
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Dr Pres do not provide for any commitments in the

event that their period of office is terminated prema-

turely. Their contracts are for limited terms of five

years in the case of Dr Ralf Friedrichs (until 31 May

2013) and of three years in the case of both Dr Andreas

Pres (31 August 2011) and Dr Oliver Moosmayer (30

September 2010). Dr Friedrichs has the right to ter-

minate his contract prematurely in the event that the

two-brand strategy agreed upon with the main share-

holder MPC Münchmeyer Petersen Capital AG is not

maintained. In the case of Dr Moosmayer, a commit-

ment has been entered into in the event of his activity

being terminated prematurely. This is based on the

remainder of the contractual period multiplied by 

the sum of the contractually agreed fixed salary and

50 % of the previous year’s profit-sharing bonus. A

maximum amount (severance payment cap) is also

stipulated for this settlement payment. A contractual

arrangement is in place with Dr Oliver Moosmayer to

the effect that any settlement paid will not exceed the

maximum of two years’ remuneration or the benefits

from what could be a shorter residual contractual term.

There are no pension commitments. In the event of the

death of a serving member of the Management Board,

the fixed remuneration due for the three subsequent

months will be paid to that member’s dependents.

The total remuneration paid to the Management Board

of HCI Capital AG during the financial year under review

was EUR 6.3 million (2007: EUR 5.8 million). Total

remuneration for the financial year 2008 included sev-

erance payments to Management Board members

totalling EUR 3.8 million (2007: EUR 1.8 million), includ-

ing EUR 2.9 million paid to Mr Wolfgang Essing and

EUR 0.9 million paid to Dr Rolando Gennari. 

The remuneration paid to each individual member of

the Management Board can be broken down as fol-

lows:
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EUR 000’s                                                                
                                                           Non-performance-related           Performance-related                         Total

Management Board                                  2007           2008                      2007           2008 2007           2008

Harald Christ                                         2,357                0                          0                0 2,357                0

Wolfgang Essing                                    1,436         3,562                          0                0 1,436         3,562

Dr. Ralf Friedrichs                                     893            821                      314                0 1,207            821

Dr. Rolando Gennari                                  347         1,074                      314                0 661         1,074

Dr. Oliver Moosmayer                                 99            522                        78                0 177            522

Dr. Andreas Pres                                           0            338                          0                0 0            338

Total                                                      5,132         6,317                      706                0 5,838         6,317

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board encom-

passes a fixed annual component, a fee for atten-

dance at meetings and reimbursement of expenses.

No provision is made for a performance-related com-

ponent.

Members of the Supervisory Board receive an annual

payment of EUR 36 thousand. The Chairman

receives two times this amount, with his deputy

receiving one-and-a-half times the same amount.

The fee paid for attendance at a Supervisory Board

meeting is EUR 1 thousand.

The total remuneration paid to the Supervisory Board

members during the 2008 financial year was EUR 257

thousand (2007: EUR 188 thousand).



No loans have been granted by the company to

members of the Management Board or Supervisory

Board.

D. Report on material events after the
reporting date  

No significant events have occurred in the financial

year 2009.  

E. Report on risks and opportunities 

I. Risks regarding the company’s 

future performance

Risks are defined as potential unfavourable develop-

ments influencing HCI Group’s financial situation.

Such risks may occur, with a probability that is spe-

cific to the relevant type of risk, but their occurrence

is not a definitive fact. 

The HCI Group has a centrally organised risk man-

agement system, which covers all of the Group’s

activities. Systematic risk identification and quan -

tification, and the assessment of the probability of

occurrence are all integral to this system. Taking

into account measures to avoid, reduce or limit

risks, this forms a detailed reflection of material

risks.

The early detection of risks that pose a threat to the

future existence of the HCI Group is guaranteed by

the system of risk management and the continuous

development of this system. The Group’s approach

to risk management involves an ongoing analysis of

continuing operations and related processes, the

timely analysis of any divergence identified, and the

permanent communication amongst the risk officers

and with the Management Board. 

Refining and developing the risk management sys-

tem is a key factor determining the ability to respond,

without delay, to a changing framework that might –

directly or indirectly – influence the net assets, finan-

cial position, and results of operations of HCI Group. 

Responsibility for updating and compiling all of the

relevant information and for maintaining and devel-

oping the risk management system lies with the Risk

Manager, to whom the various departments’ risk offi-

cers report. Any material changes in the risk expo-

sure are communicated promptly to the Risk Manag-

er and the Management Board. The Risk Manager

reports directly to the company’s CFO. The report on

the risk portfolio is discussed amongst the members
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EUR 000’s Fixed remuneration of 
the Supervisory Board Meeting fees Total

Supervisory Board                                    2007           2008                      2007           2008                     2007           2008

Udo Bandow                                              72              60                          6                5                       78              65

Karl Gernandt                                             24              36                          3                5                       27              41

Alexander Stuhlmann                                 36              43                          3                5                       39              48

Dr. John Benjamin Schröder 
(since May 2008)                                          --              46                          --                3                        --              49

Jochen Döhle                                                 
(since May 2008)                                          --              23                          --                3                        --              26

Stefan Viering                                                 
(since May 2008)                                          --              23                          --                3                        --              26

Prof. Dr. Georg Crezelius                             15                --                         3               --                       18               --

Rolf Hunck                                                  23               --                          3               --                       26               --

Total                                                         170            231                        18              24                     188            255

The remuneration of the individual members of the

Supervisory Board can be broken down as follows:
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of the Management Board; it is presented to the

Supervisory Board of HCI Group at least on a quar-

terly basis, or on an ad-hoc basis.

Specific risk management tools were implemented 

at HSC Hanseatische Sachwert Concept GmbH, a

subsidiary of HCI Capital AG, to comply with stricter

require ments related to the license granted to the

subsidiary to provide financial services as defined in

section 1 (1a) of the German Banking Act (KWG). 

1. Political and legal developments

Legal requirements have increased the time and costs

involved in structuring and distributing closed-end

funds. The expected adoption of further regulations or

any additional raising of market standards will result in

another increase in the time and financial resources

required to design and distribute funds. The exact

details regarding the anticipated legal framework, and

its impact on product design and sales, are not yet

clear. Through its membership of VGF, the German

Association of Closed-end Funds, HCI Group actively

participates in the regulation process, with a view to

establishing sensible industry standards.

2. Macro-economic risks

In addition to the economic conditions that are crucial

to the investments made, a number of other factors –

on which the HCI Group has limited influence, or which

are completely outside its sphere of control – can also

have a direct or indirect impact on the economic per-

formance of the funds issued by the HCI Group. 

The impact of the general crisis prevailing on the finan-

cial markets on HCI’s product lines is clearly visible. 

Firstly, the task of arranging finance for commitments

of new ship projects (or other investments) is now

marked by longer processing times, higher capital

costs and, overall, a more restrictive lending policy.

Secondly, the very reluctant stance adopted by cus-

tomers has slowed down the product placement

process. As a result, the term of bridge loans will

need to be extended, with placement guarantees

and new financings required. The later are currently

being negotiated with the banks involved (cf. sec-

tions 9.2. and 9.3.). Thirdly, the changed business

environment has also impacted on existing funds, as

the fund management needs to adapt to the volatility

of returns (which is extreme in some cases) in the rel-

evant markets. 

It is in this context that the experience, size and cred-

it rating of HCI Group, and its long-standing, close

relationships with banks, are playing an increasingly

important role in weathering the current challenges

and ensuring continued growth in this area. The HCI

Group counters this risk by building trust through

numerous discussions with financing banks,

shipowners, charterers, and the Group’s other busi-

ness partners.

3. Sector and product-specific developments; 

conduct of competitors

The essential factors governing the returns achiev-

able on fund products are the purchase price paid for

the acquisition of the investment, the income that

can be generated from operating the investment and

the sale price that can realised when the fund reach-

es its maturity date. Some of the asset markets of

relevance to the HCI Group and its funds already

proved to be very cyclical in the past, such as the

shipping and real estate markets. Within the scope of

the current financial crisis, they are showing clearly

negative trends. These developments on the under-

lying markets can also impact on the potential sale

price of the investment, and on current income gen-

erated. In the near future, HCI Group might find itself

unable to generate the level of returns from the sale

or management of investments as in the past. Ensur-

ing further diversification of the range of products

across product areas that are not strongly correlated

provides a means of countering this dependence on

individual asset groups. Diversification within the

individual product areas reinforces this effect. 

HCI’s broad range of distribution channels, particular-

ly its network of independent sales partners, is a par-

ticular strength. Against the background of falling

profitability in the industry, competitors can be expect-

ed to copy this successful sales strategy, driving up

sales costs (including those of the HCI Group) by try-

ing to attract sales partners through high commis-

sions offered. This could impair the HCI Group’s rev-

enue margin. HCI counters this risk through a well-bal-

anced, attractive product range, via close coordination

with its sales partners, and by designing certain prod-

ucts to match the specific needs of the sales force.
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4. Market risks

4.1. Asset markets

4.1.1. Shipping markets

Given a lack of new orders and the current absence

of reference transactions for used ships, there is cur-

rently no objective data available for the valuation of

newbuilds and used assets, across all shipping seg-

ments. This development has brought about signifi-

cant market risks. From HCI Group’s perspective,

this development primarily holds the risk of the

placement of shipping funds being complicated, or

becoming impossible (cf. section 9.3. below). There

is also the risk of having to mark down valuations (cf.

section 5.2. below). The measures taken to counter

these risks are outlined in the sections referred to.

The exceptional events of recent months have made

a medium-term market outlook for charter rates in the

various sectors difficult. Experience has shown, how-

ever, that the prevailing globalisation holds long-term

growth potential for the shipping industry in particular.

For more details regarding shipping markets, please

refer to chapter A. II. “Business development”.

4.1.2. Other markets

International real estate markets have not been

immune to the negative trend the world economy

has seen over the last twelve months. Real estate

markets around the globe have seen a marked

decline in transaction volumes, falling asset prices,

and lower rental demand. The real estate funds

managed by HCI are largely invested in the Nether-

lands and in Austria. Although the real estate mar-

kets in these countries have been relatively stable 

(in contrast to the US or the UK, for instance), HCI’s

real estate funds are also influenced by business

developments during 2008, and by the deteriorating

macro-economic outlook. This has increased the

probability that the funds’ results will fall short of

original projections: ultimately, this might have a

negative effect upon HCI Group’s reputation in the

market. 

The challenging global financial markets environment

has also affected the secondary life insurance mar-

kets. Clearly, investors have adopted a reluctant

stance, which has led to a marked decline in demand

for closed-end fund investment products in this seg-

ment. Consequently, this has affected companies

specialising in the purchase of life policies in the sec-

ondary market. Even though developments in the

three existing secondary life insurance markets (in

the US, the UK and Germany) differ, they have all

been hit by falling demand. 

4.2. Closed-end funds market

The investment opportunities offered by the HCI

Group compete with a large number of other forms of

investment. Alongside the HCI Group, a number of

other providers operate on the closed-end fund mar-

ket. Some competitors have become specialised in

particular product categories or fund structures and,

as a result, have built up a leading position for them-

selves on the market, whilst others can boast a larger

product range or major market presence, for exam-

ple. The entire market is in a state of constant flux and

is subject to external influences. These different forms

of investment vary considerably in some cases, partic-

ularly in terms of their risk/reward profile, taxation and

how easy they are to sell. Notably, a general rise in

interest rates from their current low levels (which

reflects central bank intervention within the frame-

work of the financial crisis) could mean that closed-

end funds become a less attractive option compared

with other investment products that bear direct inter-

est. As current developments have shown, the deci-

sion of an investor in favour of or against a particular

type of investment also depends on the general mar-

ket  sentiment. This may invoke significant fluctuations

in demand for individual product segments. 

Due to investor uncertainty (as discussed above), the

market for closed-end funds shrank quite consider-

ably during the fourth quarter of 2008. A further dete-

rioration cannot be ruled out, in which case the HCI

Group’s volume of business would also decline. The

HCI Group counters this risk through cost manage-

ment (particularly regarding non-staff costs), and has

structured its business model so as to ensure a high

proportion of variable costs in the overall cost budg-

et. Furthermore, the Group’s profitability is stabilised

by material and sustainable income from trust busi-
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ness, enabling the Group’s operating performance

to weather even a significant decline in placements.

This is described in more detail in the report on

expected developments (Outlook – chapter F). With

its strong brand and high-quality products, the HCI

Group has successfully gained an outstanding posi-

tion in the market. The Group’s capacity for innova-

tion, long-standing experience, and its efficient sales

force enable it to maintain the attractiveness of its

products on a sustained basis. 

5. Risks related to the business strategy

5.1. Product portfolio

The HCI Group is exposed to developments on the

relevant markets when sourcing assets for fund

investment, as well as regarding fund design and

sales, and the management of existing funds. Histor-

ically, markets have predominantly shown to be cycli-

cal: hence, to offset the impact of fluctuations in indi-

vidual markets, the HCI Group started diversifying its

product range at an early stage. New product sec-

tors explored have reduced the level of dependency

upon individual sub-segments. Moreover, the prod-

uct spectrum was further diversified within individual

product sectors, in order to reduce cyclical exposure

to single sub-segments. Even though the HCI Group

is unable to continue pursuing this diversification

strategy at the same pace as before, on account of

the financial crisis, the Group will nevertheless main-

tain this strategy with a long-term view. 

5.2. Portfolio of equity investments

HCI holds various investments in joint ventures, 

as well as minority interests in entities such as ship

funds and other funds, shipping companies, real

estate companies, and distribution companies.

These investments were tested for impairment as at

the balance sheet date, and write-downs recognised

(some of which were significant). Taking into account

the significant uncertainty regarding planning, and

the resulting safety haircuts applied, against the

background of the financial markets crisis and mar-

ket weakness, HCI cannot rule out further impair-

ments which may become necessary in the coming

years. The HCI Group closely monitors its portfolio of

equity investments. The Group also plans to further

intensify its investment control system, with a view to

identifying such trends at an early stage, thus being

able to take counter-measures.

The investment held by HCI Real Estate Finance I

GmbH & Co. KG in NY Credit Operating Partnership

LP, and the resulting risk exposure, were described

in detail in the 2007 Annual Report, and in the quar-

terly reports published during 2008. Valuations risks

were already accounted for in the consolidated finan-

cial statements 2008, through an impairment charge

recognised. For details, please refer to Note (24) in

the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Furthermore, the HCI Group carries various equity

investments in, and loan receivables from, special

purpose entities in relation to commitments for 

new ships for fund projects. These investments are

exposed to the risk of further impairment in the event

of a prevailing negative trend in shipping markets.

6. Risks from service relationships

6.1. Continued weakness in sales

The HCI Group has only a very limited number of dis-

tribution channels with direct links to end-customers. 

It is therefore dependent on strong external sales

partners. If individual sales partners, particularly

important sales partners (or a large number of sales

partners at the same time) were to become tem-

porarily or permanently unavailable, this would have a

negative impact on sales of the products offered by

the HCI Group. To avoid such a situation, the HCI

Group pursues an effective diversification strategy 

in the form of a multi-channel sales platform which

uses the distribution channels of independent financial

agents, banks and other sales organisations. More-

over, as outlined in section I.3. above, HCI counters

this risk through close coordination with its independ-

ent sales partners, and by designing certain products

to match the specific needs of the sales force.

6.2. Reputational risks

The success enjoyed by the HCI Group depends on

its reputation amongst investors, and the confidence

of investors and sales partners in the professional

expertise of the Group’s staff and the quality of its
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products. Regardless of the causes, the economic

failure of an individual fund or product line can be

damaging to the Group’s reputation. In particular, the

fast and extensive changes to the business environ-

ment, on account of the financial markets crisis,

could trigger such developments. The HCI Group

counters this risk through intensified control of the

fund development process, swift reaction by fund

and asset managers to changes in the market envi-

ronment, intensive discussions with involved parties

(including banks, charterers and shipowners), as well

as comprehensive information provided to investors.

In individual cases, it might be necessary to support

troubled funds using HCI Group assets, which would

burden the liquidity and income of the HCI Group.

7. Personnel risks

The success and sustainability of HCI Group’s busi-

ness depends essentially on employing well-trained,

experienced and highly motivated employees. Losing

several key members of staff with special qualifications

weakens the company: ensuring long-term staff loyalty

is therefore an important goal. By consistently expand-

ing staff development resources, the HCI Group is able

to acquire the necessary personnel to strengthen its

future development, creating a long-term commitment

to the Group through continuing professional develop-

ment measures. A structured analysis of the career

potential of all HCI Group employees was carried 

out for the first time in 2008. Within the scope of this

process, key members of staff were identified and

measures agreed upon to retain these employees. Fur-

thermore, the dependence on key personnel is being

reduced by extending and improving the documenta-

tion of corporate processes and expertise. 

8. IT risks

In order to minimise the risks of IT system failures,

the HCI Group has introduced various safety meas-

ures. These include server virtualisation (including

regular data mirroring for all virtual systems), a back-

up strategy that includes offsite storage of backup

tapes and emergency plans including a disaster

recovery plan. Access control systems, encryption

software, firewall systems, LAN port monitoring, and

antivirus software are among the tools used to pro-

tect the IT systems and data.

9. Financial risks

9.1. Non-functional credit markets/credit crunch

The continued deterioration of the crisis affecting

international financial markets has caused banks to

significantly restrict or suspend lending altogether;

existing facilities are only maintained subject to

covenants and/or to materially less attractive terms.

For banks’ customers, refinancing their business or

to extend existing financings has become much

more difficult. The HCI Group is not immune to the

current capital markets environment, and must fulfil

stricter requirements when agreeing upon new cred-

it facilities or extending the term of existing ones.

This might also prevent the Group from raising

finance for new business in the necessary amount,

which would negatively influence business volume

and profitability. 

9.2. Shipping finance

Orders for the majority of ships to be committed 

for fund investments over the next four years were

placed by order companies in which the HCI Group

holds a 50 % stake. Most of the vessels are new-

builds which are still due for delivery. During the 

construction period, these vessels are almost fully

financed via bank loans; the relevant financing agree-

ments are in place for all vessels on order. The required

bridge financings to cover the delivery and place-

ment phases have also been approved in most

cases. In some cases, final approval is subject to

approval by individual banks’ executive bodies and

committees. Even though these situations are

expected to be clarified through intensive discus-

sions with the banks concerned, at present it cannot

be ruled out that financings agreed upon subject to

final approval will not be disbursed after all (also refer

to section 9.7.), in which case order companies

affected would need to raise additional finance that

cannot be covered by currently available cash and

cash equivalents. Fundamentally, there are two sce-

narios to deal with such situations. In the first sce-

nario, an order company unable to pay would not

receive the vessel, which would then not be available

for placement. In the second scenario, the order

company or the financing bank would not be able to

reclaim pre-delivery payments made to the shipyard.

Additionally, under guarantees in place, banks can
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generally demand that HCI Group repay 50 % of the

construction phase loan, with the other 50 % borne

by the shipowner involved. 

The resulting risk exposure is outlined in detail in the

following section 9.3. Pre-delivery payments have

been made for all undelivered vessels. Terminating

the financing is often economically unviable for all

parties involved. The HCI Group counters this risk

through intensive discussions and negotiations with

financing banks. In addition, there are ongoing nego-

tiations with shipowners and shipyards, to explore

options for cancellation, purchase price deferrals,

postponing delivery dates or modifying employment

concepts for the vessels. Changes to the sales con-

cepts are also being contemplated. Actively manag-

ing the pipeline of vessels is one of HCI Group’s core

areas of expertise: in the current market environ-

ment, this is seen as a top priority.

9.3. Risks from contingencies

Within the framework of fund design and structur-

ing, the underlying assets are generally placed on

order or acquired by special purpose entities in

which the HCI Group and a partner hold equal

shares. Procurement usually takes place at a point

in time where equity to finance the investment has

not yet been raised from investors at all, or only in

part. Against this background, the banks involved

generally provided short-term equity bridge financ-

ing in the past, on top of project finance facilities in

the form of long-term investment or construction

phase loans. Given the limitations to providing col-

lateral prior to the acquisition of the relevant asset,

the HCI Group and its cooperation partners regularly

provided banks with guarantees to cover the con-

struction phase loans. Equity bridge facilities were

generally secured via the assignment of the fund

company’s claims against the HCI Group under

placement guarantees.

Securing the claims arising from these agreements

were, as at 31 December 2008, guarantees and

guarantee-like commitments in the amount of EUR

343.8 million and USD 1,578.0 million, of which EUR

256.9 million and USD 950.4 million were for loans

that had already been disbursed. 

Placement guarantees totalling EUR 264.0 million /

USD 521.0 million are still outstanding, of which EUR

60.5 million / USD 260.5 million relate to funds that

are not yet at the placement stage. 

9.3.1. Risks arising from the pipeline of vessels 

(including guarantees)

The HCI Group has a ship pipeline comprising some

80 vessels, intended for placement between now

and 2012 in the form of closed-end fund invest-

ments. The process to raise equity for these vessels

has not yet commenced. This includes 23 vessels

scheduled for delivery in 2009, for which the HCI

Group has guaranteed construction phase loans of

approx. EUR 29 million and USD 352 million in place.

Placement guarantees extended for these vessels

amount to an aggregate USD 76 million.

In the event that existing investment or construction

phase loans cannot be refinanced through long-term

loans as scheduled, due to market weakness or

insufficient employment of the vessels, the order

company (special purpose entity) would require 

additional financing commitments and/or extend 

the term of existing commitments. Failure to secure

such commitments would give rise to the risk of HCI

Group being drawn upon under the guarantees cov-

ering investment or construction phase loans (cf.

section 1.9.2. above). The Group’s currently avail-

able liquidity would not be sufficient to honour such

claims if called upon to a significant extent, resulting

in the Group’s illiquidity.

The HCI Group counters the risk of being drawn

upon under guarantees for construction phase loans

through intensive negotiations with the financing

banks, by analysing and valuing the potentially

affected vessel types and orders for new vessels,

and by designing an individual action plan – together

with the relevant shipowner and financing partners –

for each ship affected. Potential measures include

the cancellation of orders for new vessels, delaying

the scheduled date of delivery, the exchange of ves-

sels, re-negotiating the purchase price of vessels,

partially deferring purchase price payments, structur-

ing of new employment concepts, as well as adjust-

ments of margins and distribution concepts on the
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sales side. Should all these measures fail to secure

the ability to place the relevant vessels, HCI Group

will depend upon the cooperation of financing banks

in order to preserve its own existence. 

As part of the implementation of the measures out-

lined above, the HCI Group might incur one-off

expenses from compensation payments. 

9.3.2. Risks arising from placement guarantees

Due to the current market weakness for closed-end

funds, the HCI Group might not succeed in raising

the planned equity capital from investors, or to do so

in time. Under the placement guarantees referred to

above, the Group would then be obliged to provide

the missing equity capital. Given the limited scope of

cash and cash equivalents available at present, the

Group would face illiquidity if it was drawn upon

placement guarantees to a significant extent. 

The HCI Group endeavours to avoid any such draw-

downs under placement guarantees through the bal-

anced distribution of the placement volume across

the three different sales channels, thus achieving a

stable level of product sales. The placement guaran-

tees for funds currently being sold generally extend

far into 2009, whilst those applicable to shipping

funds mostly mature at the end of 2009. 

Besides the shipping funds, the HCI Aircraft One

fund is also being closely monitored. The placement

guarantee and equity bridge financing for this fund

will mature at the beginning of the second quarter of

2009. Based on in-depth discussions with the

financing bank, and new sales concepts being

implemented, the Management Board considers an

extension of the maturities to be likely. 

In the other cases where the HCI Group has issued

placement guarantees, there is generally also the

option – when negotiating with the banks – of

extending the term of these guarantees. Such an

extension would provide the sales force with more

time to place the fund in the current market environ-

ment. Accordingly, placement guarantees would be

deferred into the future, and would be reduced in line

with sales progress made. To this end, the HCI

Group is currently involved in various constructive

discussions with banks.

9.3.3. Other risks from contingencies

To protect its new product pipeline, the HCI Group

has entered into additional contingencies in certain

cases, including debt service guarantees, equity

guarantees, and guarantees covering hedges. In the

current environment, the risk of the Group being

drawn upon under these guarantees has increased.

Any contingencies are continuously monitored within

the scope of the risk management process.

Summarising the information provided in sections

9.2. and 9.3., the combination of weak shipping mar-

kets, tight credit markets, and investor reluctance

has brought about an increased risk of the Group

being drawn upon under contingencies. Any result-

ing material liquidity requirements could only be met

or limited with the cooperation of the banks involved:

a refusal by banks to cooperate would threaten the

continued existence of the HCI Group. The Group is

already holding discussions with its main financing

partners to prevent a drawdown, as described, from

occurring.

9.4. Risks from existing funds 

As a general rule, the HCI Group’s active funds have

access to finance spanning the entire term of the

fund. In a scenario where funds clearly fail to meet

performance targets, against the background of the

deteriorating economic environment, and where suf-

ficient alternative financing sources are not available

due to banks generally adopting a restrictive lending

policy, HCI Group might require additional liquidity. In

the past, some funds placed required additional

funding, which was also provided by the HCI Group

in part.

To prevent any damage to HCI’s reputation, which

would consequently impair the Group’s placement

power, the Group may have to support individual

funds with additional finance in the future, or may

need to waive repayment of financings already dis-

bursed. The HCI Group is working to counter this risk

by means of proactive fund and asset management

in cooperation with shipowners, banks, and
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investors, through an intensive and transparent

exchange of information with the banks, and through

cooperation with various different banks. 

9.5. Exchange rate fluctuations 

Currency risks arise, in particular, where receivables,

liabilities, or transactions were created or entered

into in a currency other than the functional currency

of the relevant HCI Group entity. In such cases,

exchange rate fluctuations may change the value of

receivables and liabilities in the functional currency,

with a significant impact on the financial position and

results of operations. Due to the structure of its busi-

ness activities, the exchange rate between the US

dollar and the euro is particularly relevant for the HCI

Group. Currency hedges are entered into to reduce

risk exposure in individual cases. Please refer to Note

(32)(b)(i) for more detailed information, in particular

regarding the sensitivity of existing positions to

changes in the US dollar/euro exchange rate.

9.6. Changes in interest rates

The HCI Group is generally exposed to risks resulting

from interest rate changes in connection with loans

extended or interest-bearing receivables, and vari-

able-rate loans taken out for refinancing purposes.

The HCI Group does not have interest rate hedges

since the risk arising from a refinancing with mis-

matched interest rates and maturities is considered

immaterial. Please refer to Note (32)(b)(i) of the notes

to the consolidated financial statements for further

details on the sensitivity of assets and liabilities for

changes in the US dollar exchange rate.

9.7. Termination of existing loans, and non-

disbursement of committed loans

In view of the prevailing weakness on capital markets

and the corresponding losses in asset values – particu-

larly affecting ships and real estate – the Group is 

currently exposed to the risk that banks will not dis-

burse investment loans and bridge facilities originally

approved, or that they will refuse to extend the term of

such facilities, or terminate them, due to the anticipated

or actual breach of contractual loan covenants (such

as provisions regarding lending value). To prevent such

situations, the Group is currently holding intensive dis-

cussions with its banking and cooperation partners,

with the objective of developing sustainable financing

concepts and solutions to facilitate the implementation

of projects which are currently in the construction or

fundraising phase (cf. section 9.2. above).

Besides project finance facilities taken out at special

purpose entity level, HCI Capital AG had a total of

four outstanding loan obligations as at 31 December

2008:

Specifically, these include (i) a EUR 6 million term

loan granted by Dresdner Bank, maturing on 31 Jan

2010; (ii) a USD 39 million loan granted by HSH

Nordbank in connection with HCI’s investment in the

loan portfolio of New York Credit Operating Parner-

ship LP; (iii) a USD 9 million project finance facility

granted by Bankhaus Wölbern in connection with an

order placed for a total of 9 container carriers (in coop-

eration with our partner Marlow Navigation Company

Ltd), with redemptions scheduled in the years 2009

and 2010; and (iv) a EUR 3 million loan taken out in

connection with the purchase of shares in HCI HAM-

MONIA SHIPPING AG. Interest and redemption pay-

ments due on these loans in the 2009 financial year

amount to a total of EUR 18.0 million. 

The term of the USD 39 million loan has been pro-

longed until 31 March 2010. Whilst a further prolon-

gation of this facility beyond that date has not yet

been secured to date, this is planned during the

course of the year, on the basis of discussions

already held. Should such a term extension not

materialise, the HCI Group would need to raise alter-

native finance to cover the resulting liquidity draw-

down from repaying the loan.

9.8. Derivative financial instruments 

During the 2008 financial year, the HCI Group

entered into two non-interest bearing promissory

note loans with an aggregate nominal amount of

EUR 30,000 thousand. The loans have a term run-

ning from 30 June 2009 to 15 December 2025 and

from 30 September 2009 to 15 December 2025,

respectively. The promissory note loans were entered

into in the context of the design of a fund product,

and are intended to be transferred to the investment

company during the financial year 2009. The zero-
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coupon promissory note loans had a negative fair

value of EUR 1,836 thousand on 31 December 2008.

The investment company concluded an agreement

with HCI Capital AG in 2008 on the assumption of 

all risks and rewards from the promissory note loans,

so that the HCI Group recognises a corresponding

receivable due from the investment company.

No other derivative contracts were entered into.

10. Legal risks

HCI Group entities which have developed the eco-

nomic and legal structure of the investment offers

themselves are generally liable for the flawless design

of the funds. Various HCI Group entities have con-

ceived or offered these products. The relevant risks

are outlined below.

Prospectuses are prepared for the investment offers

of the HCI Group. These form the basis of any invest-

ment decision made by a potential investor. The

companies and individual persons directly responsi-

ble for the content are liable vis-à-vis the investors for

the completeness, clarity and accuracy of the fund

prospectuses. The legal basis of this liability is pro-

vided by the provisions of the German Prospectus

Act (“VerkProspG”), and the Investment Prospectus

Ordinance (“VermVerkProspV”). The HCI Group has

more than 20 years’ experience in this field. The

highest quality standards are applied in-house during

the design phase, which is supported by an exten-

sive network of qualified external advisors.

Individual HCI Group entities act as the investors’

trustees in the fund structures designed by the HCI

Group. This is a business area in which there is a par-

ticular duty of care, breach of which can render the

trust companies liable pursuant to the trust agree-

ments entered into in each case. This is another area

in which the HCI Group has many years’ experience

on which to draw.

II. Opportunities for the company’s future 

performance

The HCI Group’s business model and successful

track record are based on more than 20 years of

experience in the design and sales of closed-end

investment models. Over these years, the HCI Group

gradually diversified its product portfolio, setting new

standards and driving innovation in the industry with

new asset classes and product structures. With EUR

4.8 billion in aggregated equity under management

and a sustained high level of annual placements, the

HCI Group is one of the leading and most experienced

providers in the market. Notably, the HCI Group has

also established a track record of numerous long-

term tangible asset investments, which were suc-

cessfully completed for investors across different

market cycles. These factors provide the fundamen-

tal basis for significant opportunities which will con-

tinue to be available to the HCI Group during the

2009 financial year. In light of current market devel-

opments, reference should be made to the following

opportunities:

■ The current reticence on the part of investors is, in

our view, a temporary phenomenon that can be

attributed to the prevailing uncertainty over the

extent and duration of the financial market crisis,

not to mention its impact on the real economy.

Generally speaking, investors in Germany have a

high level of savings that they can invest. As soon

as the situation on the financial markets eases, it

is likely that investors will adopt a more positive

outlook and begin investing in closed-end funds

to a greater extent once more. Thanks to its well-

stocked product pipeline and strong sales net-

work, the HCI Group could profit particularly well

from such a development.

■ The prevailing crisis in the shipping sector also

gives rise to investment opportunities which can

be employed to design attractive product offers

for investors. Leveraging its extensive experience

in this sector, and its well-developed network of

relationships with shipowners and other market

participants, the HCI Group is well-placed to capi-

talise on such situations.

■ The HCI Group, through its closed-end funds,

offers long-term and transparent investment

opportunities in tangible assets. The strongly

diversified product portfolio is also, through its

innovative product structures (e.g. guarantee
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products, asset creation plans), particularly

geared towards different investor needs with

regard to length of investment, minimum invest-

ment amount and risk/reward profile. Based on

the negative experiences that investors have had

with complex financial products during the finan-

cial market crisis, we see an opportunity for

investments in solid material assets to enjoy a

revival among investors as soon as the market sit-

uation eases again. Especially given the monetary

policy environment with low interest rates, in con-

junction with soaring sovereign debt, inflationary

trends can be expected. Once they materialise,

investments in tangible assets will be very attrac-

tive in economic terms. Thanks to its well-stocked

and broadly diversified product pipeline and its

strong sales network, the HCI Group could profit

particularly well from such a development.

■ The risks resulting from the financial market crisis

for providers of closed-end funds - a very frag-

mented market - will, in our view, hit our smaller

competitors particularly hard: in other words,

those competitors whose products are less well

established on the market, whose sales are less

networked, and who are not as strong as HCI in

terms of credit standing and financing capability.

Against this background, there is a chance that

the impact of the financial market crisis could

favour a consolidation of the closed-end fund

market, a process from which the HCI Group

could benefit in its capacity as one of the leading

and most experienced providers on the market.

■ Taking into account current developments brought

about by the financial markets crisis, the closed-

end investment industry is expected to be subject

to stricter regulation. The same holds true for inde-

pendent financial services providers, who provide

a significant contribution to HCI’s placement suc-

cess. Since the HCI Group already complies with

high standards of quality and transparency, we

envisage being able to comply with regulatory

requirements in a much easier and quicker way

than most of our competitors. Looking at the regu-

lation of independent financial services providers,

the HCI Group has the chance of leveraging its

investment in eFonds Holding AG to offer a suit-

able liability umbrella to this group of sales part-

ners. Overall, this holds the opportunity for the HCI

Group to benefit from further market consolidation

as a result of stricter market regulation.

■ In future, raising finance will be subject to

increased capital adequacy requirements. As a

listed company and a market leader, the HCI

Group has what it takes to gain an edge on its

competitors in this environment.

F. Outlook

Economic downturn expected to prevail – high

level of uncertainty surrounding forecasts

How the economy as a whole will develop in 2009 is

an area of great uncertainty. The economic research

institutes are unanimous in their view that the global

economy is in a downturn. Moreover, the intensifica-

tion of the financial crisis in autumn 2008 meant that

this downturn picked up even greater speed. As a

result, new order levels also collapsed in the real

economic sector. The downturn in many countries is

also an expression of the correction in macroeco-

nomic imbalances, such as, for example, exaggerat-

ed movements on the real estate markets. 

With regard to the likely extent and duration of this

phase of economic weakness, however, the experts

are by no means united in their forecasts. Particularly

unclear is the extent to which and how quickly the

numerous and in some cases weighty financial and

economic rescue packages adopted by the world’s

key economies will start to have an impact. To take 

the USA as an example, despite a comprehensive

economic rescue package for 2009, its economy is

expected to shrink by around 0.7 % (Source: HWWI)

or even by as much as 1.5 % (Source: Kiel Institute for

the World Economy). It is also expected that the

countries of the European Union, as demand at home

and abroad falls, will see their GDP levels drop by

around 1.0 % (Source: HWWI) or by as much as 2.7

% (Source: Kiel Institute for the World Economy). A

strong fall in investments by the corporate sector 

is being accompanied in some countries of the euro
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zone by a major collapse in house-building. A particu-

larly difficult year is expected in this regard for the Ger-

man economy in 2009. In a study covering the cur-

rent year, the European Commission notes that the

German economy’s high dependence on exports will

result in Germany being particularly hard hit by the

unfavourable growth outlook and extremely gloomy

state of world trade. In this context, the German

economy is expected to shrink by between 1.2 %

(Source: HWWI) and 2.3 % (Source: BMWI) in 2009. 

A clear easing of growth momentum in 2009 is antic-

ipated in those newly industrialising countries that

have recorded a particularly robust level of economic

growth over recent year. Analysts expect China in

particular, whose economy has been a strong engine

of global economic growth, to record growth of a

mere 5.5 % in 2009 compared with growth rates of

as much as 13 % in 2007 and 9 % in 2008. The high

degree to which the Asian national economies are

intertwined means that a major downward trend is

expected for the region as whole.

Russia also faces a difficult year. Whilst growth levels

of around the 8 % mark were still being recorded dur-

ing 2007 and 2008 (Source: IMF), representatives of

the Russian government are expecting zero growth

in 2009. Falling demand for Russian exports and the

collapse in the price of oil will place a double burden

on the Russian economy in 2009. 

Overall, global economic growth in 2009 is predicted

to fall to 0.5 % (Source: IMF) or even to 1.8% (Source:

Kiel Institute for the World Economy). In terms of

2010, the Institute for the World Economy expects

an average rate of global economic growth of 0.6 %,

which represents the first growth predictions and the

first indication of an expected end to the crisis. To

this extent, there is far-reaching agreement among

the institutions that a return to moderate rates of

growth can be expected on a broad basis from 2010

onwards.

Closed-end investment sector with a difficult

year ahead in 2009

In light of the ongoing uncertainty and reticence on

the part of investors, the expected economic decline

also places the closed-end fund sector in a difficult

position in 2009 with major challenges to be over-

come. This was highlighted by the relatively weak

level of placement activity in evidence in the sector

during the fourth quarter of 2008. Indeed, this is a

much clearer reflection of the impact on the sector

than the overall placement result for 2008. This trend

is also highlighted by the Scope business climate

index, which has been produced half-yearly since

2003 and is based on surveys of initiators and bro-

kers. According to this index, the market mood in

late 2008 was as bad as it had ever been since the

index was first created. Of those surveyed, 50 % of

the brokers and the same percentage of initiators

expected business to be, “unsatisfactory” or, at best,

“satisfactory” during 2009.

Overall, it is difficult to estimate how the market will

develop in 2009. To a large extent, it will depend on

the scale and duration of the economic downturn

and the related uncertainty among investors. Accord-

ing to the Scope analysis, it is the shipping, private

equity funds, secondary life insurance market funds

and leasing funds in particular that will have to put up

with negative trends. A stable development is expect-

ed with regard to real estate and portfolio funds. Ana-

lysts estimate that energy funds and on-trend prod-

ucts such as forestry funds will benefit from the best

opportunities in this market environment.

Outlook for the HCI Group

In view of the current market situation we expect that

the 2009 financial year will once again bring major

challenges for the HCI Group. The overall risk expo-

sure of the HCI Group has risen considerably, on

account of the challenging economic environment. 

In spite of this increased risk exposure (refer to sec-

tion E.I.9.3. in particular), the HCI Group’s ability to

continue as a going concern is assumed, since there

are no material existing drawdowns from contingen-

cies, nor have any such drawdowns been

announced. 

We have introduced a series of measures to suc-

cessfully overcome these challenges. The main 

areas covered by these are as follows:
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Intensification of sales activities 

The close dialogue with our distribution partners is

key to maintaining market confidence. We will there-

fore be continuing to pursue and intensify our region-

al approach to distribution. By means of distribution

events in the regions and targeted information on

investing in real assets, our aim is to maintain ongo-

ing and stable placement activity so that we can

gradually pick up speed again as the markets begin

to recover. 

Securing financing for the Group and for the

asset and product pipeline 

Given the fragile situation in the banking sector,

securing financing for the HCI Group and the asset

and product pipeline is a crucially important aspect.

With this in mind we have restructured our central

Finance department so that comprehensive financ-

ing packages can be developed together with the

banking partners. We maintain an intensive dialogue

with the banks.

New direction in product design 

Active fund and asset management is growing con-

siderably more important in the current market envi-

ronment. We have therefore pooled our product

design resources in order to strengthen the manage-

ment of our asset pipeline and existing funds with a

new approach that is geared towards the value cre-

ation chain – acquisition, design/preparation of

prospectus, asset and fund management. Within

product design we have also implemented a risk

management system that is specifically geared

around these issues. We firmly believe that this is an

essential step in guaranteeing an efficient and pro-

ductive risk management to secure the asset

pipeline and the existing funds for the HCI Group and

for our investors, even when faced with a difficult

market environment.

Strict cost management 

With placement activity expected to be weaker, we

have introduced considerable cost-saving measures.

Above all, we will be significantly reducing our mate-

rial costs in 2009, whilst personnel costs are also

likely to fall given that we have refrained from filling

various positions vacated as a result of natural staff

turnover and given that the economic situation is

resulting in lower bonuses and profit-sharing bonus

payments.

Limited ability to forecast business performance

in 2009

Given the current problems associated with predict-

ing the future development of the economy in gener-

al and the sector in particular, it is difficult to make

specific forecasts on the HCI Group’s placement

results and consolidated net result for the 2009

financial year. Based on our internal scenario calcula-

tions, the HCI Group requires a placement result of

around EUR 300 million in order to achieve a positive

operating result. 

During the 2009 financial year, the HCI Group will

offer closed-end investment products in the areas of

transport and logistics (shipping funds, HCI Aircraft

One), energy and commodities (HCI Deepsea Oil

Explorer, HCI Solar Energy 1), real estate and the

secondary life insurance market, as well as asset

creation plans and guarantee products. The HCI

Group has a well-stocked product pipeline. This

comprises products that we have already been mar-

keting in 2008. Additionally, in the form of HCI Solar

Energy 1, we will be launching our first solar energy

fund during the second quarter of 2009. Given the

positive response from sales, we are expecting to be

able to market this product very successfully. We

also see good opportunities in the area of real estate

with regard to exploiting favourable circumstances

for a new core real estate fund. This is planned for

the second half of the year. And, finally, we firmly

believe that we also have an attractive range of long-

term investments to offer our investors in the area of

shipping. Asset creation plans and guarantee prod-

ucts in particular will, in our view, meet with an

increasing level of interest from investors in the cur-

rent environment.

Overall, business development in 2009 will depend

largely on the extent to which and how quickly the

financial sector and the economy as a whole recover

from their difficulties over the course of the year. As

soon as they recover, we see good opportunities for

the HCI Group, now and looking beyond 2009, to
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Other operating income for the 2008 financial year

primarily comprised EUR 2.1 million (2007: EUR nil)

in revenues from the sale of shares in Aragon AG,

EUR 2.8 million (2007: EUR nil) in foreign exchange

gains, and EUR 1.5 million (2007: EUR 2.6 million) in

revenues from ship brokerage. 

The personnel expenses for the 2008 financial year

include the remuneration of the HCI Group Manage-

ment Board. Severance payments to members of

the Management Board amounted to EUR 3.8 million

in 2008 (2007: EUR 1.8 million).

Investment income comprises EUR 20.1 million

(2007: EUR 19.3 million) in income from control and

transfer-of-profits agreements, as well as expenses

resulting from a transfer of losses in the amount of

EUR 4.6 million (2007: EUR 1.3 million). During the

2008 financial year the company recorded income

and expenses from the control and profit transfer

agreements with HCI Hanseatische Capitalberatungs -

gesellschaft mbH in the amount of EUR 20.1 million

(2007: EUR 19.3 million), with HSC Hanseatische

Sachwert Concept GmbH in the amount of EUR -4.5

million (2007: EUR -1.2 million), and with HCI Asset
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expand its position as a leading provider of closed-

end investment models. 

G. Other information  

I. Net assets, financial position of result of opera-

tions of the parent company HCI Capital AG

The annual financial statements of HCI Capital AG

are prepared in accordance with the provisions of the

German Commercial Code (HGB) and the German

Public Limited Companies Act (AktG), unlike the con-

solidated financial statements, which are prepared in

accordance with IFRS (as adopted by the EU).

1. Results of operations

The following table itemises the key figures relating to

the results of HCI Capital AG for the 2008 financial

year compared against the 2007 financial year.

EUR million                                                                                                                           2008                   2007

Other operating income                                                                                                   9.9                     4.0

Personnel expenses                                                                                                       -6.3                   -5.9

Other operating expenses                                                                                             -13.1                   -4.3

Investment income                                                                                                         15.7                   30.4

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses                                                           -7.1                     0.0

Other financial result                                                                                                       -0.4                   -2.9

Extraordinary expenses                                                                                                -36.5                     0.0

Income taxes                                                                                                                   4.2                   -3.4

Consolidated net income/loss                                                                                   -33.6                   17.9
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GmbH in the amount of EUR -0.1 million (2007: EUR

-0.1 million) In the previous year, this item included

EUR 12.4 million in income from dividends or in-

phase profit transfers. 

Other financial results includes interest income of

EUR 2.7 million and interest expenses of EUR 3.1

million, primarily related to receivables and liabilities

in relation to Group companies as part of the cash

pooling arrangement. Interest income in the amount

of EUR 0.4 million and interest expenses in the

amount of EUR 1.8 million were recorded with regard

to credit institutions.

Extraordinary expenses are related to NY Credit

Operating Partnership LP; they relate to a provision

recognised for an impending drawdown under a EUR

28.0 million guarantee issued by HCI Capital AG, and

to a EUR 8.5 million write-down on a loan extended to

a subsidiary to finance the redemption payments for a

borrowing raised to finance the acquisition of an

investment in NY Credit Operating Partnership LP.

The tax position for the financial year under review

resulted in tax income of EUR 4.2 million (2007: tax

expense of EUR 3.4 million). The tax income is mainly

attributable to tax refunds for previous periods relat-

ed to tax assessments for the years 2004 to 2006,

reflecting ex-post adjustments of results generated

by HAMMONIA Reederei GmbH & Co. KG. 

2. Net assets

The following table contains data from the HCI

 Capital AG balance sheet.

The EUR 18.9 million decline in investments, to EUR

47.4 million (2007: EUR 66.3 million) was largely

attributable to the sale of the investment in Aragon

AG (EUR 29.6 million), the acquisition of shares in

eFonds Holding AG (EUR 6.7 million), and to invest-

ments held in shell companies and investment com-

panies (EUR 6.2 million).

Receivables due from affiliated companies consist of

dividends or the transfer of revenue from affiliated

HCI Annual Report 2008 | Management Report

                                                                                                                        31 Dec 2008                     31 Dec 2007
Assets EUR mn in % EUR mn in %

Intangible assets                                                                                             0.0        0.0                     0.5        0.3

Investments                                                                                                  47.4      33.3                   66.3      39.0

Receivables from affiliated companies                                                            47.6      33.4                   47.4      27.9

Receivables and other assets                                                                        25.8      18.1                   26.8      15.8

Securities                                                                                                        3.1        2.2                     7.5        4.4

Cash and cash equivalents                                                                            18.5      13.0                   21.5      12.6

Total equity and liabilities                                                                          142.4    100.0                 170.0    100.0

Equity and liabilities                                                                                                                                             

Equity                                                                                                            77.5      54.4                 127.9      75.2

Provisions                                                                                                     32.2      22.6                     3.2        2.2

Liabilities to banks                                                                                         16.1      11.3                   30.0      17.6

Trade payables                                                                                                0.2        0.1                     0.1        0.1

Liabilities to affiliated companies                                                                    12.9        9.1                     3.8        2.2

Other liabilities                                                                                                 3.5        2.5                     5.0        2.7

Total equity and liabilities                                                                          142.4    100.0                 170.0    100.0
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companies in the 2008 financial year, transferred

 service costs from a management contract with HCI

Hanseatische Capitalberatungsgesellschaft mbH, 

and to cash pooling within the Group.

Other assets contain loan receivables in the amount of

EUR 10.5 million (2007: EUR 17.1 million), as well as

tax refund claims in the amount of EUR 8.2 million

(2007: EUR 8.2 million).

Securities include shares in HCI HAMMONIA SHIP-

PING AG; these were written down by EUR 0.6 million

to the lower fair value as at 31 Dec 2008.

The EUR 50.4 million fall in equity to EUR 77.5 million is

based on the net loss for 2008 of EUR 33.6 million, and

the dividend for the 2007 financial year of EUR 16.8

million. 

Other provisions include in particular a EUR 28.3 million

provision for a drawdown under a guarantee which

was extended for the financing of the investment in NY

Credit Operating Partnership LP. 

The EUR 13.9 million decline in liabilities to banks, to

EUR 16.1 million as at 31 Dec 2008 (31 Dec 2007:

EUR 30.0 million), was primarily due to the redemption

of the loan facility to finance the investment in Aragon

AG, and of a loan taken out for the acquisition of shares

reported under securities.

Other liabilities include EUR 0.7 million (2007: EUR

0.6 million) in liabilities from guaranteed bonus pay-

ments, and EUR 0.6 million (2007: EUR 3.0 million) 

in tax liabilities.

II. Disclosures pursuant to section 289 (4) and 

315 (4) of the HGB 

The German Act implementing Directive 2004/25/EC

of the European Parliament and the Council of 21 April

2004 on takeover bids (Takeover Directive Implement-

ing Act) extended the reporting obligations in the man-

agement report of companies whose securities are

admitted to trading on a regulated market in a member

state of the European Union. 

(1) The company’s subscribed capital amounts to

EUR 24,000,000.00 and is divided into 24,000,000

no-par value bearer shares. All shares in the com-

pany take the form of ordinary shares. No provision

has been made for any other class of share. Each

share, from the time of its creation, entitles the hold-

er to vote and to receive a dividend. Each share

holds one vote at the General Meeting.

(2) The Management Board is not aware of any restric-

tions affecting the voting rights or transfer of shares,

including any such restrictions resulting from agree-

ments between shareholders.

(3) Direct or indirect stakes in the share capital of HCI

Capital AG exceeding 10 % of voting rights existed

as at 31 December 2008 in favour of MPC Münch-

meyer Petersen Capital AG, Hamburg (with a stake

of 40.8 %) and the Döhle Group, Hamburg (with a

stake of 21.4 %).

(4) There are no shares with special rights granting the

holder supervisory powers.

(5) The voting rights of employees with a share in the

capital are not monitored.

(6) Members of the Management Board are appointed

and dismissed in accordance with section 84 f of

the AktG, according to which the Supervisory Board

is responsible for Management Board appointments

and dismissals. The Supervisory Board decides on

the basis of a simple majority of votes.

Changes to the Articles of Association are made by

the General Meeting (pursuant to sections 133 and

179 of the AktG). The Annual General Meeting has

made use, in Article 16 no. 3 of the Articles of Asso-

ciation, of the option provided in section 179 (1),

sentence 2 of the AktG of transferring authority for

changes that only affect the wording of the Articles

of the Association to the Supervisory Board. Reso-

lutions adopted at the Annual General Meeting to

revise the Articles of Association are generally

adopt ed in accordance with Article 16, no. 1 of the

Articles of Association on the basis of a simple

majority vote and, to the extent that a capital majority

is required, with a simple capital majority, in the

absence of any obligatory provisions to the contrary

in the statutory regulations or Articles of Association.

(7) The Management Board may only issue new

shares on the basis of resolutions adopted at the

General Meeting. In accordance with Article 4, 
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no. 3 of the Articles of Association, the Manage-

ment Board may increase the share capital with

the approval of the Supervisory Board by issuing

new shares in exchange for cash and/or non-cash

contributions on one or more occasions up to a

total of EUR 6,000,000.00; this authorisation will

expire on 20 August 2010. The shareholders shall

be granted a pre-emptive subscription right. The

Management Board may, with the approval of the

Supervisory Board, exclude the subscription right

of the shareholders under certain conditions on

one or several occasions.

No provisions on share buybacks are contained in

the Articles of Association.

(8) The Company has not entered into any material

agreements which are subject to change of control

clauses triggered in the event of a takeover offer.

(9) There exist no company compensation agree-

ments entered into with members of the Manage-

ment Board or employees in the event of a

takeover bid.

III. Declaration of the Management Board pursu-

ant to section 312 (3) of the German Public Limi-

ted Companies Act (Aktiengesetz –“AktG”)

In accordance with section 312 of the AktG, the Man-

agement Board has prepared a report on HCI Capital

AG's relationships with affiliated enterprises for the

period from 30 April to 31 December 2008. 

The report contains the following statement by the

Management Board: “HCI Capital AG, Hamburg,

received adequate compensation for the legal trans-

actions listed in the report on relations with affiliated

companies under the circumstances known to the

Management Board at the time such legal transac-

tions were undertaken. No measures were taken or

omitted at instance or in the interest of the controlling

company or one of its affiliated companies.”
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Hamburg, 4 March 2009

HCI Capital AG

Dr. Oliver Moosmayer

Member of the 

Management Board

Dr. Ralf Friedrichs

Chairman of the 

Management Board

Dr. Andreas Pres

Member of the 

Management Board
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EUR 000’s                                                                                                               Note                        2008                   2007

Revenues                                                                                                          (18)                 119,963             137,299

Other operating income                                                                                      (19)                     6,639               13,153

Change in inventories                                                                                                                     562                  -637

Cost of purchased services                                                                                (20)                 -63,291             -70,256

Personnel expenses                                                                                           (21)                 -27,814             -28,014

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets                                                          (22)                   -3,350               -4,470

Other operating expenses                                                                                  (23)                 -25,444             -21,475

Result of associated companies and joint ventures   
accounted for using the equity method                                                               (24)                 -24,550               14,671

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)                                                                            -17,285               40,271

Interest income                                                                                                  (25)                     2,184                 2,057

Interest expenses                                                                                               (25)                   -4,311               -5,246

Other financial result                                                                                           (25)                   -3,827                 3,703

Earnings before taxes (EBT)                                                                                                  -23,239               40,785

Income taxes                                                                                                      (26)                     6,489             -10,194

Consolidated net result for the year                                                                                      -16,750               30,591

Consolidated net result for the year attributable 
to shareholders of the parent company                                                                                    -16,750               30,591

Earnings per share (basic) (EUR)                                                                         (27)                     -0.70                   1.27

Earnings per share (diluted) (EUR)                                                                       (27)                     -0.70                   1.27

Consolidated statement of operations
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Assets
                                                                                                                                                       

EUR 000’s                                                                                                               Note            31 Dec 2008       31 Dec 2007

Non-current assets                                                                                                                   82,736             130,099

Intangible assets                                                                                                  (5)                     3,017                 5,538

Property, plant and equipment                                                                              (6)                     1,510                 1,875

Investments in associated companies and interests 
in joint ventures accounted for using the equity method                                         (7)                   36,033               86,226

Other investments                                                                                                (7)                   22,628               15,834

Receivables from related parties                                                                         (10)                     2,542                        0

Other financial assets                                                                                         (11)                   12,114               19,953

Deferred taxes                                                                                                    (27)                     4,892                    673

Current assets                                                                                                                          89,850             109,780

Work in progress and finished services                                                                  (8)                     2,352                 1,772

Trade receivables                                                                                                 (9)                   23,553               31,785

Receivables from related parties                                                                         (10)                          27                 1,052

Income tax receivables                                                                                                              13,114                 9,966

Other assets                                                                                                       (11)                   18,441               22,965

    Other financial assets                                                                                                            17,642               22,411

    Other miscellaneous assets                                                                                                        799                    554

Securities                                                                                                                                     3,059                 7,501

Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                        29,304               34,739

Total assets                                                                                                                            172,586             239,879

Equity and liabilities
                                                                                                                                 

EUR ‘000s                                                                                                               Note            31 Dec 2008       31 Dec 2007

Equity                                                                                                                (12)                   86,200             118,034

Subscribed capital                                                                                                                     24,000               24,000

Capital reserve                                                                                                                           76,016               76,016

Retained earnings                                                                                                                       2,437               35,987

Accumulated other equity                                                                                                          -1,721               -3,437

Net cost in excess of net assets acquired on the acquisition  
of companies under common control and successive share
acquisitions                                                                                                                             -14,532             -14,532

                                                                                                                                

Non-current provisions and liabilities                                                                                      31,318               18,606

Pension provisions                                                                                             (13)                          22                      19

Debt                                                                                                                   (15)                   27,636               16,532

Other miscellaneous liabilities                                                                              (17)                         19                      19

Deferred taxes                                                                                                    (26)                    3,641                 2,036

                                                                                                                                

Current provisions and liabilities                                                                                              55,068             103,239

Other provisions                                                                                                 (14)                     1,808                 1,267

Debt                                                                                                                   (15)                   16,837               49,514

Trade payables                                                                                                                             8,457               19,066

Payables to related parties                                                                                  (16)                     1,538                 2,206

Income tax payables                                                                                                                  15,132               17,984

Other current liabilities                                                                                        (17)                   11,296               13,202

    Other financial liabilities                                                                                                            9,499                 7,255

    Other miscellaneous liabilities                                                                                                  1,797                 5,947

Total equity and liabilities                                                                                                      172,586             239,879

Consolidated balance sheet
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EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                                  2008                 2007

Consolidated net income for the year                                                                                          -16,750            30,591

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of intangible assets
and property, plant and equipment                                                                                                 3,350              4,470

Gains (-) / losses (+) from associates and joint ventures                                                                  24,550           -14,671

Distributions received from associates and joint ventures                                                                   590              1,481

Gains (-) from the disposal of intangible assets, property,
plant and equipment, and securities                                                                                                  -741                   -50

Gains from the disposal of interests in consolidated companies and joint ventures                                  -951                     0

Increase in pension provisions                                                                                                               3                     3

Elimination of income taxes                                                                                                          -6,489            10,194

Elimination of net interest result and net investment result                                                                3,362                -168

Other non-cash income and expenses                                                                                          10,342                 432

Increase/decrease in working capital                                                                                            -2,478              3,444

    Decrease/increase in inventories                                                                                                 -580                 238

    Decrease in trade receivables                                                                                                     8,232            27,223

    Decrease/increase in other assets                                                                                              4,289           -12,027

    Decrease in current provisions                                                                                                       408             -1,136

    Increase/decrease in trade payables                                                                                      -10,610             -7,327

    Increase/decrease in receivables from and liabilities to related parties                                             358             -1,754

    Increase in other liabilities                                                                                                         -4,320             -1,888

    Other movements in operating activities                                                                                        -255                 115

Taxes paid                                                                                                                                  -10,680           -18,284

Taxes received                                                                                                                             13,034                   29

Interest paid                                                                                                                                 -4,671             -4,834

Interest received                                                                                                                             1,053              3,786

Distributions received                                                                                                                        284              1,282

Cash flow from operating activities                                                                                            13,808            17,705

Proceeds from the disposal of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
as well as assets held for sale                                                                                                               24                 755

Proceeds from the disposal of investments in associates                                                               31,750                     0

Proceeds from the disposal of other investments and securities                                                       6,228              9,030

Payments for investments in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment                            -489             -1,118

Payments for investments in associates and interests in joint ventures                                           -7,510           -35,727

Payments of other investments, securities and long-term loans to related parties                               -9,278           -11,349  

Cash flow from investing activities                                                                                             20,725           -38,409

Dividends paid to shareholders of HCI Capital AG                                                                       -16,800           -33,600

Proceeds from additions to financial liabilities                                                                                22,418          103,535

Repayments of financial liabilities                                                                                                -45,586           -73,105

Cash flow from financing activities                                                                                          -39,968             -3,170

Net change in cash and cash equivalents                                                                                 -5,435           -23,874

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period                                                                         34,739            58,613

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period                                                                             29,304            34,739

Consolidated cash flow statement
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

                                                                                                                                                                                      Net cost in
                                                                                                                                                                                        excess of
                                                                                                                                                                                       net assets                      
                                                                                                        Income and                                                        acquired on                      
                                                                                                   expenses from                                                           the acqui-                      
                                                                                                   associates and                                                               sition of                      
                                                                                                    joint ventures                                                       companies                      
                                                                                                          accounted                                      Fair value   under com-                      
                                                                                                       for using the                                    changes of   mon control                      
                                                                                                              equity method             Foreign              available-            and on                        
                                                                                                                   recognised           currency                  for-sale     successive               Con-
                                   Subscribed         Capital         Retained                      directly        translation                 financial              share        solidated
EUR 000’s                          capital         reserve         earnings                    in equity        adjustment           instruments   acquisitions             equity

Balance at 
1 Jan 2007                    24,000      76,016        38,006                    - 136                  - 7                        0      - 14,532      123,347
Consolidated net
income for the year                                            30,591                                                                                                       30,591

Proportional change in 
the fair value of 
derivatives of cash 
flow hedges at  
associates                                                                                    - 2,334                                                                          - 2,334

Changes in foreign   
currency translation
adjustment                                                                                  - 1,076                116                                                        - 960

Income and expenses    
recognised directly
in equity                                                                                       - 3,410                116                                                     - 3,294

Total recognised
income and expense                                                30,591                 - 3,410                116                                                     27,297

Distributions to  
shareholders                                                  - 33,600                                                                                                     - 33,600

Adjustment due to the 
change of the date 
of inclusion of joint 
ventures                                                                   990                                                                                                            990

Balance at 
31 Dec 2007               24,000      76,016        35,987                 - 3,546                109                        0      - 14,532      118,034
Consolidated net
income for the year                                          - 16,750                                                                                                     - 16,750

Proportional change in 
the fair value of 
derivatives of cash 
flow hedges at  
associates                                                                                        379                                                                                379

Changes in foreign   
currency translation
adjustment                                                                                     - 894           - 1,424                                                     - 2,318

Fair value changes   
of available for sale 
financial instruments                                                                                                                         205                                205

Transfer to profit 
and loss of changes 
in the fair value 
of available for sale 
financial instruments, 
due to impairment                                                                                                                           - 205                              - 205

Transfer to profit and
loss of income and
expenses previously 
recognised directly
in equity, in connection
with the loss of  significant
influence in associates                                                                       3,655                                                                             3,655

Income and expenses  
recognised directly in equity                                                               3,140           - 1,424                        0                             1,716

Total recognised 
income and expense                                        - 16,750                   3,140           - 1,424                        0                         - 15,034

Distributions to  
shareholders                                                      - 16,800                                                                                                     - 16,800

Balance at 
31 Dec 2008                  24,000      76,016          2,437                     - 406          - 1,315                        0      - 14,532        86,200

Accumulated other equity
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by business segments                                                                             

                                                                              Shipping                             Real Estate                         Private Equity                                   

EUR 000’s                                                                         2008           2007                 2008           2007                 2008           2007                     

Revenues from external customers                            78,362     106,482            16,621       13,538                 832         1,940                   

Change in inventories                                                      435          -378                -353          -438                  -33            263                   

Cost of purchased services                                       -36,867     -52,679           -10,411       -7,562                -531       -1,432                   

Gross profit                                                              41,930       53,425              5,857         5,538                 268            771                   

Other operating income                                               6,453         5,638              1,729         9,750                     1              77                   

Personnel expenses                                                   -8,551       -9,798             -3,493       -4,068                -145          -161                   

Depreciation, amortisation and
impairment losses                                                      -1,482       -2,452                  -85            -95                -754            -23                   

Other operating expenses                                         -12,259     -13,016             -4,926       -4,633                -181          -177                   

Result of associates and joint ventures  
accounted for using the equity method                         4,118       12,629           -26,927         1,481                     0                0                   

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)               30,209       46,426           -27,845         7,973                -811            487                   

Result from investments in funds                                     289            490                     2                1                 212            196                   

Segment assets                                                       36,556       36,514              5,755       36,775              1,062         1,751                   

Investments in funds                                                  9,417       12,822              1,166         1,077                     7              14                   

Segment liabilities                                                    17,351       23,398              1,386         4,025                 899            181                   

Significant non-cash expenses and income             2,287         7,881           -34,043          -240                -753            -23                   

Capital expenditure for non-current 
segment assets                                                             331            270                   10              57                     0                0                   

Capital expenditure for investments in funds           2,178         2,647                     4                1                     0                1                   

by region                                                                                                  

                                                                              Germany                             International                      

EUR 000’s                                                                         2008           2007                 2008           2007

Revenues from external customers                          118,006     135,888              1,957         1,411      

Segment assets                                                         81,798     116,352              1,584       35,375     

Investments in funds                                                  12,457       15,695                   53                0   

Capital expenditure for non-current 
segment assets                                                              482         1,078                     6              40   

Capital expenditure for investments in funds                 2,923         3,848                   53                0  

Segment reporting

Segment reporting

The segment reporting forms part of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The segment reporting forms part of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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                Life Insurance                   Segment total                     Other/Holding                    Consolidation                     Group

                        2008           2007                 2008           2007                 2008           2007                 2008           2007                 2008           2007

                    12,004       15,046          107,819     137,006            12,144            293                     0                0          119,963     137,299    

                           52          -137                 101          -690                 461              53                     0                0                 562           -637    

                    -8,612       -8,551           -56,421     -70,224             -6,870            -32                     0                0           -63,291      -70,256    

                      3,444         6,358            51,499       66,092              5,735            314                     0                0            57,234       66,406     

                         691              55              8,874       15,520              2,586         1,457             -4,821       -3,824              6,639       13,153    

                    -2,209       -1,863           -14,398     -15,890           -13,416     -12,124                     0                0           -27,814      -28,014    

                       -377       -1,353             -2,698       -3,923                -652          -547                     0                0             -3,350        -4,470    

                    -3,076       -3,226           -20,442     -21,052             -9,823       -4,247              4,821         3,824           -25,444      -21,475    

                             0                0           -22,809       14,110             -1,741            561                     0                0           -24,550       14,671    

                    -1,527            -29                   26       54,857           -17,311     -14,586                     0                0           -17,285       40,271    

                      2,662         3,046              3,165         3,733                     4                0                     0                0              3,169         3,733   

                      4,562         7,155            47,935       82,265            31,859       52,899             -7,866       -3,005            71,928     132,159     

                         231            141            10,821       14,054              1,689         1,641                     0                0            12,510       15,695    

                      2,234         2,354            21,870       29,958              7,301         7,316           -11,407       -3,724            17,764       33,550     

                       -377       -2,608           -32,886         5,010             -6,284            523                     0                0           -39,170         5,533     

                             8              13                 349            340                 139            778                     0                0                 488         1,118    

                           85              21              2,267         2,670                 680         1,178                     0                0              2,947         3,848    
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EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                                                    Historical cost                     

                                                                                                                                                                      Reclassifi-                                         
2008                                                                                                                    1 Jan 2008      Additions        cations    Disposals                     

Acquired intangible assets                                                                                  25,225               203                 0            -104                    

Goodwill                                                                                                               2,264                   0                 0                 0                    

Advance payments on intangible assets                                                                      0                   0                 0                 0                    

Total                                                                                                                  27,489               203                 0            -104                    

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                                                    Historical cost                    

                                                                                                                                                                      Reclassifi-                                         
2007                                                                                                                    1 Jan 2007      Additions        cations    Disposals                     

Acquired intangible assets                                                                                  26,453               678               69         -1,975                    

Goodwill                                                                                                               2,264                   0                 0                 0                    

Advance payments on intangible assets                                                                    69                   0              -69                 0                    

Total                                                                                                                  28,786               678                 0         -1,975                    

   

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                                                    Historical cost                      

                                                                                                                                                                                       Reclassifica-                     
                                                                                                                                                                                        tion in accor-                    
                                                                                                                                                  Reclassifi-                       dance with                    
2008                                                                                                 1 Jan 2008   Additions          cations    Disposals          IFRS 5                     

Land, land rights and buildings                                                          1,260                0                   0                 0                 0                    

Other equipment, furniture and fixtures                                              3,770            285                   0              -68                 0                    

Total                                                                                                 5,030            285                   0              -68                 0                    

Consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets
Development of intangible assets

Consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets
Development of property, plant and equipment

   

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                                                    Historical cost                      

                                                                                                                                                                                       Reclassifica-                     
                                                                                                                                                                                        tion in accor-                    
                                                                                                                                                  Reclassifi-                       dance with                     
2007                                                                                                 1 Jan 2007    Additions         cations    Disposals          IFRS 5                     

Land, land rights and buildings                                                          3,362              19                   0                -1         -2,120                    

Other equipment, furniture and fixtures                                              3,525            421                   0            -173                -3                    

Total                                                                                                 6,887            440                   0            -174         -2,123                    

The development of intangible assets and the development of property, plant and equipment form part of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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                                                                                                        Accumulated amortisation/impairment                           Carrying amount

                                                                                                 Impairment
               31 Dec 2008         1 Jan 2008     Amortisation                losses          Disposals      31 Dec 2008        31 Dec 2008        1 Jan 2008

                      25,324             -21,883               -1,700                  -292                   104             -23,771                 1,553               3,342

                        2,264                    -68                       0                  -731                       0                  -799                 1,465               2,196

                               0                       0                       0                       0                       0                       0                        0                      0

                      27,588             -21,951                -1700               -1,023                   104             -24,570                3,018                5,538

                                                                                                         Accumulated amortisation/impairment                           Carrying amount

                                                                                                 Impairment
               31 Dec 2007         1 Jan 2007     Amortisation                losses          Disposals      31 Dec 2007        31 Dec 2007        1 Jan 2007

                      25,225             -20,217               -2,550                  -730                1,614             -21,883                 3,342               6,236

                        2,264                    -68                       0                       0                       0                    -68                 2,196               2,196

                               0                       0                       0                       0                       0                       0                        0                    69

                      27,489             -20,285               -2,550                  -730                1,614             -21,951                 5,538               8,501

                                                                                                          Accumulated amortisation/impairment                        Carrying amount

                                                                                                                               Reclassifica-                                                                       
                                                                                                                                 tion in accor-                                                                       
                                                                                          Impairment                       dance with                                                                        
               31 Dec 2008        1 Jan 2008  Depreciation              losses    Disposals          IFRS 5     31 Dec 2008      31 Dec 2008    1 Jan 2008

                        1,260                -669              -284                     0                 0                 0                -953                  307               591

                        3,987             -2,486              -342                     0               43                 0             -2,785               1,202            1,284

                        5,247             -3,155              -626                     0               43                 0             -3,738               1,509            1,875

                                                                                                          Accumulated amortisation/impairment                        Carrying amount

                                                                                                                               Reclassifica-                                                                       
                                                                                                                                 tion in accor-                                                                       
                                                                                          Impairment                       dance with                                                                        
               31 Dec 2007        1 Jan 2007  Depreciation              losses    Disposals          IFRS 5    31 Dec 2007      31 Dec 2007    1 Jan 2007

                        1,260             -1,379              -401                -373                 0          1,484                -669                   591           1,983

                        3,770             -2,241              -416                     0             168                 3             -2,486                1,284           1,284

                        5,030             -3,620              -817                -373             168          1,487             -3,155               1,875            3,267
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General information

HCI Capital AG, with its registered office in Bleichen-
brücke 10, 20354 Hamburg, Germany, is registered
with the Register of Companies (Handelsregister) of
the Hamburg District Court (Amtsgericht, HRB
93324).

The Company’s subscribed capital amounts to EUR
24,000,000 and is divided into 24,000,000 no-par
value registered shares. Since its initial public offering
(IPO) in October 2005 and the related admission to
trading on the regulated market, the Company has
been listed in the Prime Segment of the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange as well as the Hamburg Stock
Exchange. As at 31 December 2008, 9,791,182
shares (equivalent to 40.80%) were held by MPC
Münchmeyer Petersen Capital AG (in the following
“MPC”) and 5,143,396 shares (21.43 %) by Mr
Jochen Döhle, Germany, and companies controlled 
or significantly influenced by him. A further 0.59 % of
the shares in issue are held by relatives of Mr Jochen
Döhle. The remaining shares are in free float.

HCI Capital AG and its subsidiaries (in the following:
“HCI Group”) together constitute a service group
operating principally in Germany. The business
activities of the Group consist primarily of the design
and initiation of closed-end funds in the main prod-
uct areas ship, real estate, secondary life insurance
market, private equity and aircraft as well as the
 subsequent raising of funds from institutional and
retail investors. Furthermore, the Group operates as
fiduciary manager of equity capital placed, and of
fund assets (after sales segment, asset manage-
ment).

(1) Basis of presentation 
The consolidated financial statements of HCI Group 
as at 31 December 2008 were prepared pursuant 
to the provisions stipulated in Regulation (EC) No.
1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the

Council of 19 July 2002 on the application of inter-
national accounting standards in connection with
Section 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code
(HGB, Handelsgesetzbuch), in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as promulgated and issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and as adopt-
ed by the European Union. The requirements of
IFRS were fully complied with. Accordingly, the 
consolidated financial statements present a true 
and fair view of the financial position, financial per-
formance and cash flows of the HCI Group. 

Various items of the statement of operations and the
balance sheet have been combined in order to improve
clarity of presentation. These items are explained sep-
arately in the Notes. The statement of operations was
prepared using the nature of expense method.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared
on the basis of the going concern assumption. We
refer to Note (35) for disclosures on the risks arising
from contingent liabilities and their potential effect on
this assumption. 

The consolidated financial statements are generally
prepared using amortised cost for the recognition of
assets and liabilities, other than investment property
held in associates, available for sale financial assets
and derivative financial instruments, which are recog-
nised at their respective fair values applicable as at the
balance sheet date.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared
in euros. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are
stated in EUR thousand (EUR 000’s).

The consolidated financial statements and the report
on the position of the HCI Capital AG and the Group
are published in the German Electronic Federal
Gazette (elektronischer Bundesanzeiger).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements of 
HCI Capital AG for the financial year 2008
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(2) Consolidation
(a) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of the HCI
Group include all significant domestic and foreign 
subsidiaries in which HCI Capital AG is able to directly
or indirectly control the financial and operating policies
of these companies.

Companies that were founded by the HCI Group, and
are intended for raising funds from potential limited
partners based on their designation as closed-end
funds, are not included in the IFRS consolidated finan-
cial statements until the date of such fundraising, irre-
spective of the voting majorities attributable to the HCI
Group during this period. The reason for this proce-
dure is that the activities of the companies during this
period are already characterised by the business activ-
ity of a closed-end fund and the HCI Group does not
retain the majority of risks and rewards of these special
purpose entities. Unless fundraising from investors 
is performed within the envisaged time frame at the
investment company, and the HCI Group thus actively
controls the operating policies of the companies due
to the voting rights then attributable to the HCI Group
(and therefore also retains the associated risks and
rewards), the companies are included in the consoli-
dated financial statements of HCI Capital AG by way of
full consolidation.

Companies acquired from third parties are consoli -
dated at the date of acquisition using the purchase
method. Under the purchase method, the cost of
acquisition for the shares purchased are offset against
the proportional fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed attributable to the subsidiary at the
date of acquisition. Any resulting positive difference is
capitalised as goodwill. Negative differences arising 
on capital consolidation at the date of acquisition are
recognised immediately in profit or loss after the carry-
ing amounts have been reviewed once again. The date 
of acquisition is the date on which control of the net
assets and financial and operating policies of the com-
pany acquired is transferred to the Group.

Any hidden reserves or hidden liabilities identified on
fair value measurement of the assets and liabilities
within the scope of initial consolidation are carried,

amortised, depreciated, written off or reversed based
on the development of the corresponding assets and
liabilities. Any goodwill is tested for impairment at least
annually in subsequent periods and, in the event of
impairment, written down to the lower recoverable
amount.

Step acquisitions at subsidiaries, where control over
the respective company is already attributable to the
HCI Group before the purchase, are accounted for as
transactions between shareholders. Any resulting dif-
ference between the purchase price and the share in
equity attributable to the minority shareholders is
reported directly in equity in “Net cost in excess of 
net assets acquired on the acquisition of companies
under common control and on successive share
acquisitions”. Neither hidden reserves and liabilities
nor goodwill are recognised in the context of such
transactions. 

Expenses and income, as well as receivables and
payables arising between consolidated companies,
are eliminated. Intercompany profits and losses were
eliminated, if material. 

Companies which the HCI Group operates jointly with
other partners and associates in which the Group has
a significant influence on the financial and operating
policies, without, however, the ability to control these
companies, are included in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method. Special purpose
entities that were established by the HCI Group
together with partners with regard to commitments 
of assets for closed-end funds are included in the 
consolidated financial statements using the equity
method. The principles of full consolidation apply with
regard to the determination of goodwill and of the pro-
portional fair value of assets and liabilities. Inclusion in
the consolidated financial statements is based on the
IFRS financial statements of these companies. Losses
from associates and joint ventures exceeding the car-
rying amount of the investment or other non-current
receivables related to the financing of these compa-
nies are not recognised, unless there is an obligation to
fund such losses. Intercompany profits or losses are
insignificant; elimination is thus not necessary. In case
of the purchase of investments in associates and joint



76

Welcome | Company | Management Report | Financial Statements Notes

ventures that were acquired by the HCI Group with the
intention for resale, the equity method is not used in
accordance with IFRS 5.

The financial statements of HCI Capital AG and those
of its consolidated subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures have been prepared in accordance with uni-
form accounting policies. The financial statements of
the consolidated subsidiaries are prepared as at the
balance sheet date of HCI Capital AG. HELLESPONT
HAMMONIA GmbH & Co. KG and their general part-
ner, which were included in the consolidated financial
statements as at 31 December 2008 as associates,

are included based on their financial statements for 
the periods from 1 October 2007 to 30 September
2008, since the financial statements of these compa-
nies were not available at the balance sheet date of 
the consolidated financial statements (31 December
2008) due to the business volumes and types of busi-
ness activities of these companies.

(b) Basis of consolidation
The companies included in the consolidated financial
statements of the HCI Group can be classified as fol-
lows:

The individual companies included in the consolidated
financial statements are set out in the list of sharehold-
ings in Note (33). 

In the financial year 2008, two newly formed compa-
nies (2007: 2) as well as 15 associates and joint ven-
tures (2007: 2) were consolidated for the first time. 
We refer to the transactions described in (c) and (d) of
this section and in Note (7) for more information on
changes in the group of consolidated companies. 

(c) Significant new companies, and first-time 
consolidation

The newly founded companies HCI Beteiligungsge-
sellschaft mbH & Co. KG and HSC Invest UK Ltd.
were included in the consolidated financial statements
for the first time in financial year 2008. Both companies
are wholly owned by HCI Capital AG, held indirectly.  

(d) Significant changes in associates and 
joint ventures

By way of the share purchase agreement of 24 Janu-
ary 2008, HCI Capital AG acquired 426,700 registered
shares in eFonds Holding AG (formerly Capita Vis
Invest AG) for a consideration amounting to EUR
6,025 thousand, thus holding a stake of 25.1 % in the
company. The business activities of eFonds Holding
AG with respect to the brokerage of financial products
is intended to support the sales activities of the HCI
Group. The shares held in eFonds Holding AG and its
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements of HCI Capital AG using the equity
method. The purchase price allocation resulted in the
identification of intangible assets in form of a trade-
mark right with a pro rata amount of EUR 502 thou-
sand, a license with a pro rata amount of EUR 201
thousand as well as a sales platform with a useful life

                                                                                                                                                 December            December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Fully consolidated companies                                                                                                                                    

Domestic                                                                                                                                      29                         28

Foreign                                                                                                                                           5                           4

Associates accounted for using the equity method                                                                                                  

Domestic                                                                                                                                        4                           3

Foreign                                                                                                                                           2                           3

Joint ventures accounted for using the equity method (all domestic)                                      14                           2
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of seven years with a pro rata amount of EUR 2,460
thousand. The trademark right, and the license recog-
nised as an intangible asset as part of the purchase
price allocation, have indefinite useful lives. This result-
ed in goodwill of EUR 3,487 thousand, which is includ-
ed in the carrying amount of the investment in eFonds
Holding AG as measured under the equity method.
Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives,
as well as changes in effects from deferred taxes, are
reported in the result from associates and joint ven-
tures accounted for using the equity method. Pursuant
to the shareholder agreement concluded on 5 Novem-
ber 2007, the HCI Group has made additional contri-
butions in the amount of EUR 148 thousand in the
financial year 2008. HCI Capital AG subscribed to
502,000 registered shares with restricted transferabili-
ty at an issue price of EUR 502 thousand in connec-
tion with the capital increase of eFonds Holding AG in
the financial year 2008. 

General Electric Transportation Finance and Dr.
Karsten Liebing acquired a limited partner interest of
32 % and 4 %, respectively, in HAMMONIA Reederei
GmbH & Co. KG in a capital increase against cash
contributions. This capital increase, which was per-
formed in January 2008 and entered into the Register
of Companies on 29 May 2008, led to a reduction of
the stake of the HCI Group in HAMMONIA Reederei
GmbH & Co. KG to 32 %.

HCI Capital AG sold its stake (25 % plus one share) in
Aragon AG, Wiesbaden, Germany, which had been
previously included in the consolidated financial state-
ments using the equity method, to ABL Unternehmens -
gruppe GmbH by way of an agreement dated 19 June
2008, which was subject to conditions precedent, with
transfer of ownership on 9 September 2008. The pur-
chase price amounted to EUR 31,750 thousand.

We refer to the disclosures in Note (7) for more infor-
mation on NY Credit Operating Partnership LP, which
was accounted for using the equity method in the pre-
vious year and until 30 September 2008.

In addition, 14 ship order companies were included in
the consolidated financial statements using the equity
method. These companies are single-ship companies,
in which the HCI Group holds 50 % of the shares. 

(e) Translation of foreign currency financial 
statements

The assets and liabilities of subsidiaries whose function-
al currency is not the euro are translated using the
exchange rate applicable on the balance sheet date.
Items in the statement of operations are translated at
the transaction rate of the relevant year. Equity compo-
nents of subsidiaries are translated at the relevant histor-
ical exchange rate when they are incurred. Exchange
differences arising on translation are recognised directly
in equity in “Foreign currency translation adjustment”.

The Swiss subsidiary of HCI Capital AG, HCI Swiss
AG, is currently responsible for sales support of the
funds initiated by the HCI Group, especially in South-
ern Germany. The provision of services, and the signifi-
cant component of expense in form of sales commis-
sions, are mostly invoiced in euros – so that the euro
was determined as the functional currency for HCI
Swiss AG. Therefore, in accordance with IAS 21, all
transactions undertaken in the local currency (the
Swiss franc) or in other currencies are translated at 
the exchange rate prevailing at the time of transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities are adjusted to the
exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.

The functional currency of HCI Real Estate Finance I
GmbH & Co. KG is the US dollar, since both invest-
ment and financing activities of the company are con-
ducted in US dollar. Therefore, in accordance with IAS
21, all transactions undertaken in the local currency,
the euro, or in other currencies are translated at the
exchange rate prevailing at the time of transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities are adjusted to the
exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.
The functional currency of NY Credit Operating Part-
nership LP, which was accounted for in the consolidat-
ed financial statements using the equity method until
30 September 2008, is also the US dollar.

The functional currency of the ship order companies
accounted for using the equity method is also the US
dollar, since their business activities are primarily con-
ducted in that currency. 

The exchange rates used for the translation of material
foreign currency financial statements showed the fol-
lowing movements in relation to the euro:
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(3) Accounting policies
(a) Recognition of income and expense  
Revenues are recognised when the services are pro-
vided, if the amount of revenue can be reliably deter-
mined and economic benefits will likely flow to the
Group. Services in connection with the sale of funds
are deemed to be rendered when the investor signs
the application form and the statutory cancellation
term or, if longer, the contractual cancellation term 
has expired. 

Fees for trust and other services are recognised over
the term of the particular service. Upfront fees to be
paid by the limited partners or the fund at the time of
entering into the respective trust or service agreement
are recognised in profit or loss at this point in time in
the amount of the fair value, provided an identifiable
service is rendered by the HCI Group and direct costs
can be allocated to the service. 

Commissions for services provided by partners in con-
nection with the acquisition of limited partners for the
funds are recognised as costs of purchased services
at the time the corresponding sales are recognised. As
a result of the allocation of material risks and rewards
arising from the sale of funds to the HCI Group, sales
revenues and sales commissions are reported gross in
the consolidated financial statements. 

Capitalised finished services, which represent the
expenses incurred during the preparation of the
prospectus, are expensed in line with the progress of
placement. The progress of placement is determined
on the basis of the ratio between capital raised as at
the balance sheet date and the expected total capital
intended to be raised. 

Other operating expenses are recognized in the state-
ment of operations on the date of performance or
expensed as incurred. 

Interest is recognised as expenses or income, as
appropriate, in the period in which they are incurred.
Interest expenses arising in connection with the acqui-
sition and manufacture of certain assets are not capi-
talised in the Group. 

Income and expenses from profit and loss transfer
agreements are recognised at the end of the financial
year at the amount based on the result determined
under the accounting principles of the German Com-
mercial Code. Dividends are recognised in profit or
loss at the actual date of dividend payout, with the
payment period normally corresponding to the period
in which the shareholder’s legal right to receive pay-
ment is established.

(b) Intangible assets  
Purchased intangible assets are recognised at cost. 

Purchased intangible assets with a definite useful life
are amortised over their expected economic useful life
on a straight-line basis from the time they are ready for
use, as follows: 

The HCI Group does not hold intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives, with the exception of goodwill.
The carrying amount of goodwill is tested for impair-
ment at least once a year. 

There are no internally generated intangible assets
within the Group.

                                                                            Useful life 
                                                                                in years

Trust and service agreements                                 1 – 12

Distribution partner base                                             10

Software                                                                3 – 10

                                                                                                        Average Rate                                  Closing Rate

Foreign currency for 1 euro                                                         2008               2007                  December          December
                                                                                                                                                          31, 2008              31, 2007

US dollar                                                                              1.3449           1.3706                      1.3917               1.4721
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(c) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost,
and depreciated over the expected economic useful
lives on a straight-line basis. Gains or losses on the
disposal of intangible assets and items of property,
plant and equipment are reported in other operating
income or other operating expenses.

Depreciation is based throughout the Group on the
following uniform useful lives:

(d) Impairment losses of intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment

HCI Capital AG tests non-current assets for impair-
ment, and recognises impairment losses if necessary. 

For the purpose of conducting impairment tests,
goodwill is allocated to the reporting units to which
goodwill is also allocated for internal reporting purpos-
es. These reporting units usually correspond to the
individual Group companies. The cash flows of the
reporting units are discounted using a rate for the cost
of capital derived from that of peer companies. Impair-
ment losses are recognised if the present value of the
cash flows is lower than the carrying amount of the
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
as well as the net working capital attributable to the
reporting unit, including the allocated goodwill.

Impairment losses are recognised for other intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment if – as a
result of certain events or developments – the carrying
amount of such assets exceeds the expected pro-
ceeds from disposal or the discounted net cash flow
from continuing use. The cash flows are also discount-
ed using a rate for the cost of capital derived from that
of peer companies. If the recoverable amount cannot
be determined for individual assets, the cash flows for

the group of assets on the next higher level – for which
such cash flows can be determined – are used. 

Impairment losses are reversed when the reasons for
the recognition of the impairment loss cease to exist in
subsequent periods. The amount of the reversal is lim-
ited to the amount which would have resulted when
the impairment losses had not been recognised.
Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not
reversed.

Impairment tests are conducted at the end of each
financial year. The discount rate after taxes applied for
the cash flows of the reporting units in the financial
year 2008 to determine the value in use amounts to
10.9 % for the Shipping segment and 14.9 % for the
Private Equity segment. In the previous year, the
impairment test was performed using an interest rate
of 16.3 % for the Private Equity segment and 11.0 %
for the Shipping segment. Net cash flows, which are
based in particular on the expected capital placed, are
determined on the basis of the planning in the indi-
vidual reporting units. The expected growth for the
periods, after the detailed planning period of five
(2007: three) years, is taken into account by a dis-
count of 1.0 % (2007: 1.5 %) applied to the above-
mentioned rate. 

(e) Financial instruments 
Financial assets are generally accounted for within the
HCI Group upon delivery, i.e. at settlement date.

The financial instruments at the HCI Group comprise
cash and cash equivalents, receivables, financial
assets available for sale, financial liabilities and loans,
as well as derivative financial instruments in the form of
interest rate swap contracts and forward exchange
contracts. 

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, unless the
financial assets are allocated to the “at fair value
through profit and loss” category. The HCI Group does
not have non-derivative financial assets that can be
allocated to this category. Financial assets are meas-
ured subsequently either at fair value or amortised
cost, using the effective interest method depending on

                                                                            Useful life 
                                                                                in years

Buildings                                                                     40

Leasehold improvements                              Rental term, 
                                                                     max. 5 – 15

Other operating and 
office equipment                                                    3 – 14
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the classification of the individual financial instruments
in accordance with IAS 39. 

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value
less transaction costs and subsequently at amortised
cost, with financial liabilities of the “at fair value through
profit and loss” category being measured subsequent-
ly at fair value. 

Financial assets are derecognised if either the rights to
receive the cash flows to be generated from the relat-
ed assets have expired, or substantially all risks have
been transferred to third parties in a way that the crite-
ria for derecognition are met. Financial liabilities are
derecognised when the obligation is extinguished,
cancelled or has expired. 

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and bank balances. 

(ii) Receivables and other financial assets
Receivables and other non-derivative financial assets
allocated to the category “Loans and receivables” are
initially recognised at fair value. They are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. 

Impairment losses of receivables and other primary
financial assets are generally accounted for using
allowance accounts. Valuation allowances are record-
ed when there is objective evidence that default risks
exist regarding the financial asset. The amount of the
valuation allowance is based on past experience and
individual risk assessment.  

(iii) Available for sale financial assets
Available for sale financial assets comprise invest-
ments in subsidiaries and associates, as well as inter-
ests in joint ventures that are not consolidated due to
their lack of materiality, and in addition to securities
and other non-derivative financial instruments that can
be neither classified as cash and cash equivalents nor
allocated to the “Loans and receivables” category.  

Investments in subsidiaries and associates, as well as
interests in joint ventures that are not consolidated due
to their lack of materiality, as well as shares in invest-
ment funds held by the HCI Group, are classified as

available for sale financial assets for measurement
 purposes in accordance with IAS 39. Other financial
assets and securities are also classified as available
for sale financial assets in accordance with IAS 39.
Available for sale financial assets are recognised at
the balance sheet date at fair value or, if the fair value
cannot be reliably determined or cannot be deter-
mined at all, at amortised cost. If the fair values of the
fund shares held by the HCI Group cannot be derived
from price quotations on the secondary market or
cannot be determined using appropriate valuation
models, these fund shares are accounted for at amor-
tised cost.

Changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity.
When the fair value has decreased materially for a
prolonged period of time, the impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss. In the event that the
 circumstances that led to the impairment no longer
apply in subsequent periods, the reversal of the
impairment losses for the financial assets with liability
features are also recognised in profit or loss (as were
the impairment losses in the prior periods). Reversals
of impairment losses for equity instruments are recog-
nised directly in equity.

(iv) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair
value. They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. 

(v) Derivative financial instruments 
The derivatives used by the HCI Group are forward
contracts. They are used to hedge currency and inter-
est rate risks. Derivative financial instruments are
reported at fair value. The recognition of changes in
the fair value of the derivative financial instruments
depends on whether these instruments are used as
hedging instruments, and the requirements for hedge
accounting are met in accordance with IAS 39.

If these requirements are not met in spite of an existing
economic hedging relationship, the changes in the fair
value of the derivative financial instruments are recog-
nised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective portion of a change in the fair value of a
derivative financial instrument which was designated
as a hedging instrument, and which fulfils the require-
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ments for hedge accounting for the purpose of hedg-
ing cash flows (cash flow hedge), is recognised in
accumulated other equity, taking into account the
related tax effect. The ineffective portion is recognised
in profit and loss. The effective portion is recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which the hedged item
affects profit or loss.

(vi) Fair values of financial instruments
The fair values of financial instruments are determined
on the basis of appropriate market values or valuation
methods. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents
and other short-term non-derivative financial instru-
ments corresponds to the carrying amounts on the
applicable balance sheet dates. 

The fair values of non-current receivables and other
assets, as well as non-current provisions and liabilities,
are determined based on the expected cash flows
using reference interest rates applicable on the bal-
ance sheet date. The fair values of derivative financial
instruments are determined on the basis of reference
interest rates in effect on the balance sheet date.

(f) Work in progress and finished services
Work in progress and finished services include servic-
es performed during the preparation of the prospectus
in connection with the fund design and development
stages. Capitalised work in progress and finished serv-
ices are measured at cost, including all direct costs
and overheads attributable to the provision of the serv-
ice. Costs required to be capitalised include personnel
expenses and overhead costs which have arisen since
the beginning of prospectus preparation, including
allocable external costs, and in particular, consultancy
costs for fund design and costs for valuation reports
as part of prospectus preparation. The items are no
longer capitalised when the funds have reached mar-
ketability. 

Work in progress and finished services are measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The net
realisable value represents the estimated sales pro-
ceeds less costs expected to be incurred until place-
ment. 

If the reasons that resulted in an impairment of work in
progress and finished services no longer apply, the
impairment loss is reversed. 

(g) Pension provisions 
Provisions for pension obligations are calculated using
the projected unit credit method in accordance with
IAS 19. The pension obligations are measured on the
basis of actuarial reports. The present value of the
defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting
the estimated future cash outflows. The discount rate
used is based on high-quality corporate bonds which
correspond to the underlying pension obligations in
terms of currency and maturity.

If the actuarial gains and losses resulting from changes
in the actuarial assumptions exceed 10 % of the pen-
sion obligations at the beginning of the financial year,
the amount exceeding the 10 % limit is recognised in
profit or loss over the expected remaining working
lives of the eligible employees (corridor approach). 

Service cost and recognised actuarial gains and loss-
es are recorded in personnel expenses. The interest
component included in the pension expenses is
reported as a component of interest expense.

(h) Other provisions
Other provisions are recognised to account for all
identifiable legal and constructive obligations of the
Group to third parties, provided that the settlement
of such obligations is probable and the amount can
be reliably determined. The provisions are measured
at the expected settlement amount in accordance
with IAS 37. Non-current provisions are measured at
their discounted settlement amount at the balance
sheet date, based on appropriate market interest
rates.   

(i) Income taxes
Current taxes are expensed as incurred at the
amounts owed by the Group. 

Deferred taxes are recognised to account for future tax
effects resulting from temporary differences between
the tax base of assets and liabilities and their related
carrying amounts in the IFRS financial statements, as
well as on loss carryforwards. The measurement of
deferred taxes is based on the tax laws enacted at the
end of the relevant financial year and applicable to the
financial years in which the differences reverse or loss
carryforwards are probably utilised. Deferred tax
assets on temporary differences or tax loss carryfor-
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wards are only recognised to the extent that their
recoverability is probable. 

Deferred taxes are recognised for temporary differ-
ences resulting from the fair value measurement of
assets and liabilities within the scope of acquisitions of
companies. Deferred taxes for temporary differences
on goodwill as part of subsequent measurement are
only recognised when goodwill is tax deductible. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are only
offset where they relate to income taxes levied by the
same tax authority and the current taxes can be netted.

(j) Transactions in foreign currency
Purchases and sales in foreign currency are translated
at the exchange rates applicable at the date of trans-
action. Assets and liabilities in foreign currency are
translated into the functional currency at the exchange
rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. Any foreign
exchange gains and losses arising on currency trans-
lation are recognised directly in profit or loss. 

(k) Use of estimates
The preparation of the IFRS consolidated financial
statements requires the use of estimates and assump-
tions that have an influence on the measurement of
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabil-
ities as at the balance sheet date, and the presentation
of income and expenses. Measurement of assets and
liabilities were primarily based on the following signifi-
cant estimates and assumptions: 

■  fair values of the properties held by associates of
the HCI Group

■  uniform Group amortisation periods on capitalised
trust and service agreements (31 December 2008:
EUR 28 thousand; 31 December 2007: EUR 854
thousand)

■  recoverability of other investments: above all, inter-
ests and silent partnerships in (and loans to) invest-
ment companies in the shipping business (31
December 2008: EUR 22,628 thousand; 31
December 2007: EUR 15,834 thousand)

■  valuation allowances on trade receivables 
(31 December 2008: EUR 23,553 thousand; 
31 December 2007: EUR 31,785 thousand) as well
as other financial assets (31 December 2008: EUR
29,756 thousand; 31 December 2007: EUR 42,364
thousand)

■ recoverability of goodwill in the Private Equity seg-
ment (31 December 2008: EUR 590 thousand; 31
December 2007: EUR 1,321 thousand) 

■ recoverability of the interest held in eFonds Holding
AG, which is accounted for using the equity method 
(31 December 2008: EUR 5,634 thousand)

■ recoverability of deferred tax assets (31 December
2008: EUR 13,798 thousand; 31 December 2007:
EUR 2,493 thousand) 

The recoverability of the interests in investment com-
panies reported under other financial assets, which
interests are measured at cost (as a result of unavail-
able fair values) and classified as available for sale
financial instruments in accordance with IAS 39, and
the value of silent partnerships and other financial
assets held in investment companies, which are clas-
sified as financial assets of the “loans and receivables”
category, mainly depends on the future earning power
of the assets included in these investment companies.
As a significant portion can be attributed to the invest-
ment companies operating in the shipping area, the
earning power particularly depends on the future char-
ter rates and the expected proceeds from the disposal
or scrapping of ships. 

The recoverability of the interests held in eFonds Hold-
ing AG accounted for using the equity method is pri-
marily affected by the volume of the equity capital
placed by the eFonds Group and the resulting com-
mission income. A reduction of equity capital placed
by 10 % over time would have led to an impairment of
goodwill to EUR 463 thousand as at 31 December
2008, provided that the cost structure of the eFonds
Group had remained constant. 

Actual amounts may deviate from the amounts esti-
mated or assumed.
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(l) Adjustment of comparative information
Liabilities to employees, which were reported under
other miscellaneous assets and liabilities in the consol-
idated financial statements as at 31 December 2007,
are reported as other financial assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements as at 31 Decem-
ber 2008. The consolidated balance sheet as at 31
December 2007, included in the IFRS consolidated
financial statements as at 31 December 2008, was
restated accordingly. 

(4) New accounting requirements issued 
by the IASB 

In accordance with Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 in
connection with Section 315a (1) of the German Com-
mercial Code, the basis of accounting of the HCI
Group in accordance with IFRS are the financial
reporting standards of the IASB as adopted by the
European Commission within the framework of the
endorsement procedure for the European Union. The
newly issued IFRS, and amendments to existing IFRS
made by the IASB in the financial years 2007 and
2008, are required to be applied only after a corre-
sponding resolution of the European Commission as
part of the endorsement procedure.

The following standards and interpretations were
required to be applied for the first time in the financial
year 2008:

■ In October 2008, the IASB issued amendments to
IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” as well as to IFRS 7 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures” that allow an entity to
reclassify, under certain circumstances, certain
financial assets out of the “at fair value through profit
and loss” category to another IAS 39 category as a
result of the development on the financial markets.
The amendments were endorsed by the EU in
October 2008 and may be applied retrospectively
from 1 July 2008. In November 2008, the IASB
published further explanations with respect to 
these regulations, which have not however been
endorsed by the EU. 

■ IFRIC 14 “IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit
Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their
Interaction”, issued in July 2007 and required to be
applied for financial years beginning on or after 1
January 2008, includes regulations governing the
calculation of the limit of the surplus generated from
a defined benefit plan that may be recognised as an
asset in accordance with IAS 19. The interpretation
was endorsed by the EU in December 2008.

The above-mentioned amendments and interpreta-
tions have no effects on the IFRS consolidated finan-
cial statements of the HCI Group. 

The standards and interpretations issued by the IASB
and the IFRIC, respectively, were not required to be
applied due to the fact that these standards or inter-
pretations have not yet been endorsed by the Euro-
pean Union or that the relevant date of first-time appli-
cation has not yet occurred. If an EU endorsement has
been made, the HCI Group has not opted for early
application.

The standards and interpretations already endorsed
by the EU that were not required to be applied in the
financial year 2008, are as follows: 

■ In November 2006, the IASB issued IFRS 8 “Oper-
ating Segments”, which will replace IAS 14 currently
applicable for segment reporting. Segment report-
ing in accordance with IFRS 8 follows the “manage-
ment approach”, which is based on the entity’s
internal reporting structure, for the definition and
presentation of reportable segments. IFRS 8 is
required to be applied for financial years beginning
on or after 1 January 2009.

■ In March 2007, the IASB issued an amendment
to IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs”, according to which
borrowing costs incurred in connection with the
financing of so-called “qualifying assets” have to be 
capitalised as part of the cost of such “qualifying
assets”. The amendments to IAS 23 are required 
to be applied for the first time for the financial year
2009.
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■ In September 2007, the IASB issued a revised 
version of IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial State-
ments”. As a result of the amendments made to 
IAS 1, the consolidated financial statements for
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 
2009 will include a statement of comprehensive
income which shall include all items of income 
and expense, whether recognised as part of profit
or loss or directly in equity. 

■ In January 2008, the IASB issued an amendment to
IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment: Vesting conditions
and cancellations”, which includes a definition of
vesting conditions. The amendment is required to
be applied for the first time in financial year 2009. 

■ In February 2008, the IASB issued amendments to
IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation” and to
IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements – Put-
table Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising
on Liquidation”. The amendments primarily relate to
the classification of puttable financial instruments,
which also includes limited partner interests, as
either equity or liabilities as well as to the associated
disclosures in the Notes. The changes are required
to be applied for the first time for the financial year
2009. 

■ In June 2007, IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Pro-
grammes” was issued. IFRIC 13 is required to be
applied for financial years beginning on or after 1
July 2008.

The application of these standards will not materially
affect the Group’s financial position and financial per-
formance in the financial year 2009, except for the
application of IFRS 8. Starting in the financial year
2009, as a result of the application of IFRS 8, there 
will be the following reportable segments based on 
the internal reporting structure of the HCI Group: 

■ Distribution and Design – This segment will include
the activities of the HCI Group with respect to the

identification of suitable investment vehicles as well
as product design and distribution. 

■ After-Sales Services – The After-Sales Services
segment primarily comprises investor services,
including advising the investor with regard to all 
corporate law and regulatory issues associated 
with their fund investment.

■ Asset Management – The management of invest-
ment vehicles of the funds launched by the HCI
Group in the areas of shipping, real estate and life
insurance funds, as well as the activities as a ship
managing company with third parties, are allocated
to the Asset Management segment. 

The earnings measure for segment results will contin-
ue to be EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes),
which represents the result for the period before inter-
est and other financial income/expenses as well as
taxes on income. EBIT is used for internal manage-
ment purposes as a financial indicator for the seg-
ments based on IFRS. 

The first-time application of the revised IAS 1 will result
in a changed presentation of the consolidated financial
statements, above all due to the combination of
income and expenses recognised in profit or loss and
those recognised directly in equity in a statement of
comprehensive income.

The standards and interpretations issued by the IASB
and the IFRIC, respectively, which have yet to be
endorsed by the EU before they are permitted to be
applied in IFRS consolidated financial statements pur-
suant to Section 315a of the HGB are as follows:

■ The revised IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”,
which was issued in January 2008, includes signifi-
cant changes with regard to applying the purchase
method for business combinations. These changes
mainly affect the measurement of minority interests,
the presentation of successive share purchases as
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well as the treatment of contingent purchase price
components and transaction costs. The revised
standard is required to be applied for financial years
beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

■ The amendments to IAS 27 “Consolidated and sep-
arate financial statements”, which were also issued
in January 2008, affect the presentation of transac-
tions with investments in subsidiaries where the
parent company retains control, as well as transac-
tions with investments in subsidiaries where the
parent company does not retain control. The
revised standard is required to be applied for finan-
cial years beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

■ In May 2008, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS
1 “First Time Adoption of IFRS” which are required
to be applied for the first time for financial year
2009. 

■ In July 2008, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS
39 “Eligible Hedged Items – Amendment to IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measure-
ment”, which clarified the recognition of hedging
relationships in the financial statements. The new
rules are required to be applied for financial years
beginning on or after 1 July 2009. 

■ In May 2008, the IASB issued “Improvements to
IFRSs”, which includes various minor changes to 20
existing IFRSs. The amendments are required to be
applied for financial years beginning on or after 
1 January 2009, unless otherwise indicated in the
standard affected. 

■ In November 2008, the IASB issued a revised IFRS
1 “First Time Adoption of IFRS”, which is required to
be applied for the first time for financial year 2009.

■ IFRIC 12 “Service Concession Arrangements” 
was issued in November 2006 and is required to 
be applied for financial years beginning on or after 
1 January 2008. IFRIC 12 governs the treatment of

obligations undertaken and rights granted under
service concession arrangements. 

■ In July 2008, IFRIC 15 “Agreements for the Con-
struction of Real Estate” was issued. IFRIC 15 
contains specific provisions for agreements for the
construction of real estate as regards the applica-
tion of IAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and IAS 
18 “Revenues”. IFRIC 15 is required to be applied
for the first time for financial year 2009.

■ In July 2008, IFRIC 16 “Hedges of a Net Investment
in a Foreign Operation” was issued. IFRIC 16 con-
tains specific provisions for hedging and identifying
currency risks. IFRIC 16 is required to be applied 
for financial years beginning on or after 1 October
2008. 

■ In November 2008, IFRIC 17 “Distribution of non-
cash assets to owners” was issued. IFRIC 17 con-
tains, among other things, provisions with respect
to measurement of non-cash distributions to equity
holders. It is required to be applied for financial
years beginning on or after 1 July 2009. 

We will apply these standards and interpretations for
the first time when they are required to be applied,
subject to endorsement by the EU. The HCI Group
currently expects that the application of these stan-
dards will not result in material effects on the presenta-
tion of the financial position and performance of the
HCI Group. The impacts of the amendments to IAS 27
and IFRS 3 on the Group’s financial position and per-
formance will depend particularly on acquisitions of
companies and disposals of investments or interests
in companies carried out by the HCI Group after the
date of application of these two standards. 
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Notes to the consolidated  
balance sheet 

(5) Intangible assets
The changes to the individual items of intangible
assets of the HCI Group are shown in the statement 
of changes in non-current assets.

Purchased intangible assets mainly result from the
capitalisation of trust and service agreements with 
certain funds and limited partners. These agree-
ments were acquired by HCI Hanseatische Schiffs -
treuhand GmbH within the context of the purchase of
groups of assets in the years 1998 and 2001. 
The amounts capitalised in both years are amortised
on a straight-line basis over the remaining terms of
the relevant agreements. The remaining useful lives
do not exceed one year as at 31 December 2008.
The carrying amount of these agreements was 
EUR 28 thousand (2007: EUR 854 thousand) as 
at 31 December 2008. 

Of the goodwill existing as at 31 December 2008, an
amount of EUR 809 thousand (2007: EUR 809 thou-
sand) is attributable to the Shipping segment and EUR
66 thousand (2007: EUR 66 thousand) to the Real
Estate segment, and EUR 590 thousand (2007: EUR
1,321 thousand) to the Private Equity segment. In the
financial year 2008, goodwill in the Private Equity seg-
ment was impaired due to unexpected developments
and declined by EUR 731 thousand. The impairment
was calculated by reference to the value in use. 

(6) Property, plant and equipment
With regard to the development of property, plant and
equipment, please refer to the statement of changes in
non-current assets of the HCI Group. 

(7) Investments in companies accounted for using
the equity method and investment securities

The following is a presentation of the associates and
joint ventures included in the consolidated financial
statements of the HCI Group accounted for using the
equity method. The figures do not refer to the share
actually attributable to the HCI Group, but reflect
assets, liabilities, expenses and income, as recognised
in the financial statements prepared by associates and
joint ventures. 

In the fourth quarter of 2008, the significant influence
of the HCI Group on strategic operating policies of NY
Credit Operating Partnership LP was suspended, tak-
ing into account agreements concluded in connection
with the refinancing of NY Credit Operating Partner-
ship LP (previously accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements of the HCI Group using the equity
method), which refinancing was carried out by the
other partners besides the HCI Group. Accordingly,
the recognised interest, previously accounted for
using the equity method, was reclassified as an avail-
able for sale financial asset in accordance with IAS 39.
The cost of the financial asset in accordance with IAS
39 corresponds to the recognised interest under the
equity method in the amount of EUR 3,376 thousand
as at the date of reclassification. In connection with 
the reclassification, the pro rata fair value changes
amounting to EUR 1,935 thousand for derivatives in
cash flow hedges, which had been recognised directly
in equity as at 30 September 2008, and the foreign
currency translation adjustment in the amount of EUR
1,720 thousand, were reversed through profit or loss. 

The following table shows the aggregated financial
indicators of associates accounted for using the equity
method: 

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Non-current assets                                                                                                              110,386                300,636

Current assets                                                                                                                       40,357                313,939

Total assets                                                                                                                        150,743                614,575

Non-current liabilities                                                                                                             22,831                188,405

Current liabilities                                                                                                                     16,789                277,921

Total liabilities                                                                                                                      39,620                466,326

Revenues                                                                                                                             63,630                108,648

Earnings                                                                                                                               -2,344                    8,204
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The following table shows the aggregated financial
indicators of joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method: 

Available-for-sale investment securities measured 
at their fair values comprise freely marketable shares 
in investment funds, as well as shares in closed-end
funds for which the fair value may be reliably deter-
mined on the basis of corresponding transactions 
on secondary markets. In the financial year 2008,
impairment losses for units in closed-end funds were
recognised in the amount of EUR 270 thousand
(2007: EUR 207 thousand).

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Non-current assets                                                                                                              178,001                  36,727

Current assets                                                                                                                            312                    5,354

Total assets                                                                                                                        178,313                  42,081

Non-current liabilities                                                                                                           172,691                    1,526

Current liabilities                                                                                                                          239                    1,736

Total liabilities                                                                                                                    172,930                    3,262

Revenues                                                                                                                                      0                  51,811

Earnings                                                                                                                                 1,472                  25,190

The pro rata accumulated losses from associates and
joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
amounted to EUR 30 thousand, which were no longer
recognised through profit or loss since there was no
obligation to assume such losses due to the fact that
the amount recognised for such interests was EUR 0.

Investments in subsidiaries not consolidated and avail-
able for sale financial instruments included in invest-
ment securities are measured at fair value or, if the fair
value cannot be reliably determined – due to the fact
that no active market exists or through the use of other
valuation methods – at amortised cost, as follows:

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Fair value                                                                                                                                    416                       729

Amortised cost                                                                                                                      18,669                  15,105

Available-for-sale financial instruments                                                                             19,085                  15,834
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Trade receivables have terms to maturity of up to one
year. 

(10) Receivables from related parties
Receivables from related parties can be broken down
as follows:

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Work in progress                                                                                                                         409                       851

Finished services                                                                                                                     1,943                       921

Work in progress and finished services                                                                                2,352                    1,772

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Trade receivables, gross                                                                                                        23,916                  31,834

Valuation allowances                                                                                                                 -363                       -49

Trade receivables                                                                                                                 23,553                  31,785

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Receivables from unconsolidated subsidiaries                                                                               14                       129

Receivables from joint ventures accounted for using the equity method                                          --                       650

Receivables from associates accounted for using the equity method                                             13                       273

Receivables from other joint ventures                                                                                       2,542                          --

Receivables from related parties                                                                                          2,569                    1,052

In the financial year 2008, valuation allowances for
work in progress and finished services amounted to
EUR 807 thousand. In 2007, valuation allowances for
work in progress and finished services were not
required to be recognised.

(9) Trade receivables 
Trade receivables can be broken down as follows:

(8) Work in progress and finished services
Work in progress and finished services can be broken
down as follows:

Receivables from other joint ventures consist of loans
to other order companies.

As at 31 December 2008, valuation allowances for iden-
tifiable default risks had to be recognised in the amount
of EUR 169 thousand. No valuation allowances had to
be recognised as at 31 December 2007. 

Receivables from related parties have terms to matu -
rity of up to one year. 

Further disclosures on related party transactions are
described under Note (34).
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(11) Other assets
Other assets can be broken down as follows:

The receivables from funds recognised as at 31
December 2008 include loans extended to funds,
including accrued interest, in the amount of EUR
6,836 thousand (2007: EUR 18,431 thousand). A
portion of the loans will be repaid upon maturity.
Repayment depends on the sale of the investment
vehicles held by the fund. Interest ranges between
4.0 % p.a. and 6.0 % p.a. The receivables from funds
also include claims arising from preliminary distribu-
tions from secondary life insurance market funds, in
the amount of EUR 2,658 thousand (2007: EUR
3,856 thousand).

Receivables from funds includes a claim against an
investment company in the amount of EUR 1,836
thousand with respect to assuming all risks and
rewards from derivatives entered into by HCI Capital
AG. Please refer to Note (32)(a)(ii). 

The receivable from former affiliated companies is due
from HCI Holding GmbH (the former controlling Group
company) or its legal successor. The claims result 
from the tax entity relationship between HCI Hanse -
atische Capitalberatungsgesell schaft mbH and HCI
Holding GmbH in 2002 and 2003. A guarantee dated
11 August 2005 has been issued for these receivables 

by HCI SICAR A.G. and Christ Capital GmbH in the
amount of up to EUR 11,500 thousand, to secure
these claims. Directly enforceable bank guarantees
were provided in a total amount of EUR 11,500 thou-
sand on 1 February and 5 February 2007. An agree-
ment of 5 June 2007 concluded between Ursula
Roessel, sole shareholder of HCI SICAR A.G., now
operating under the name HST Invest AG, and HCI
Capital AG included an indemnification arrangement
pursuant to which Ms. Roessel assumes the portion of
the obligation attributable to HCI SICAR A.G. 

In 2006, the HCI Group granted a loan to the limited
partners of a shipping company in the amount of EUR
5,000 thousand. The loan has to be repaid at monthly
instalments of EUR 325 thousand in the years 2006
and 2007, and EUR 54 thousand thereafter. The loan
bears interest of 4.0 % p.a. As at 31 December 2008,
the loan including interest accrued amounts to EUR
3,704 thousand (2007: EUR 4,354 thousand).

As at 31 December 2008, valuation allowances 
for identifiable default risks had to be recognised in 
the amount of EUR 406 thousand. No valuation
allowances had to be recognised as at 31 December
2007.

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Receivables from former affiliated companies                                                                         11,454                  11,454

Receivables from funds                                                                                                            9,445                  22,571

Receivables from loans to third parties                                                                                     6,621                    7,257

Deferred interest claims                                                                                                               131                       534

Creditors with debit balances                                                                                                      715                       169

Advance financing of limited partner contributions                                                                         15                         39

Receivables from employees                                                                                                        40                         38

Miscellaneous                                                                                                                          1,335                       302

Other financial assets                                                                                                          29,756                  42,364

Deferred income                                                                                                                         404                       467

Advance payments                                                                                                                     274                          --

Miscellaneous tax receivables                                                                                                     121                         87

Other miscellaneous assets                                                                                                     799                       554

Other assets                                                                                                                         30,555                  42,918
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Other financial assets have the following terms to
maturity: 

(12) Equity
The changes of the single equity components are pre-
sented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

(a) Subscribed capital and capital reserve
As at 31 December 2008, the subscribed capital of
HCI Capital AG amounts to EUR 24,000 thousand
(2007: EUR 24,000 thousand). The Company's sub-
scribed capital is divided into 24,000,000 no-par-value
bearer shares with a theoretical share in subscribed
capital of EUR 1 per share. 

Furthermore, the Management Board was autho -
rised, by way of the creation of authorised capital, to
increase the Company's subscribed capital on one 
or more occasions until 20 August 2010 by up to 
a total of EUR 10,000,000 by issuing new shares
against cash contributions and/or contributions in
kind, subject to the consent of the Supervisory Board.
The Management Board is authorised, subject to 
the consent of the Supervisory Board, to exclude 
subscription rights of the shareholders to the extent
agreed and to determine the further details for the 
corresponding capital increase. On 31 December
2008, HCI Capital AG had authorised capital in the
amount of EUR 6,000 thousand (2007: EUR 6,000
thousand), which was created by the resolution of 
25 August 2005 and registered on 31 August 2005. 

As at 31 December 2008, the capital reserve of HCI
Capital AG amounted to EUR 76,016 thousand (2007:
EUR 76,016 thousand), consisting of the share premi-
um from the initial public offering in the year 2005 in
the amount of EUR 78,000 thousand, less issue costs
of EUR 1,984 thousand. The amount of EUR 78,000
thousand is not available for distributions pursuant to
German stock corporation law.  

(b) Retained earnings 
Retained earnings reflect results earned in prior peri-
ods and in the period under review by the companies
included in the consolidated financial statements, pro-
vided such income was not paid out as dividends. 

In the financial year 2008, HCI Capital AG made distri-
butions to shareholders in the amount of EUR 16,800
thousand (2007: EUR 33,600 thousand) from net
retained earnings in 2007 as determined in accor-
dance with the principles of the German Commercial
Code. Dividends were paid on 11 May 2008 and cor-
responded to EUR 0.70 per share (2007: EUR 1.40). 
In accordance with the German Stock Corporation 
Act (AktG, Aktiengesetz), the dividends to be paid to
shareholders are based on retained earnings as at the
balance sheet date, as reported in the single-entity
financial statements of HCI Capital AG prepared in
accordance with the German Commercial Code. As a
result of the accumulated loss reported at HCI Capital
AG as at 31 December 2008 in the amount of EUR
24,547 thousand, no dividends will be distributed for
financial year 2008. 

(c) Accumulated other equity 
Accumulated other equity comprises the fair value
changes of available for sale financial instruments and
the foreign currency translation adjustment. In addi-
tion, the pro rata share of income and expenses from
associates and joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method are reported in this item. 

The available for sale interests refer to shares held by
HCI in HCI HAMMONIA SHIPPING AG. Due to the sig-
nificant and prolonged negative share price develop-
ment, the gain previously recognised directly in equity
until 30 September 2008 in the amount of EUR 205
thousand, was reduced to EUR nil as at 31 December

EUR 000’s                                                                  Remaining term               Remaining term over        Remaining term 
                                                                                     up to one year          one year up to five years            over five years 

31 December 2008                                                              17,642                                    11,194                           920

31 December 2007                                                              22,411                                    18,275                        1,678
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2008 due to the impairment that had to be recog-
nised. The amount of impairment exceeding the previ-
ously recognised gain of EUR 570 thousand was
recorded in other financial result. 

In connection with the reclassification of the interests
held in NY Credit Operating Partnership LP as avail-
able for sale financial assets in accordance with IAS
39, the pro rata expenses and income from derivatives
in cash flow hedges and from currency translation in

the amount of EUR 3,655 thousand, which had been
recognised directly in equity as at 30 September 2008,
were transferred to profit and loss in 
the fourth quarter 2008. Please refer to Note (7). 

(d) Net cost, in excess of net assets, incurred upon
the acquisition of companies under common
control and on successive share acquisitions 

This item includes the differences arising from acquisi-
tions between 2002 and 2005:

The companies of the HCI Group used the mortality
tables Richttafeln 2005 by Dr. Klaus Heubeck for the
calculation of life expectancy. 

The expenses of defined benefit plans incurred in
2008 amounted to EUR 2 thousand (2007: EUR 
2 thousand) and can be broken down as follows: 

(13) Pension obligations 
Pension provisions are recognised for obligations from
pension benefits earned by active employees of the
HCI Group and their surviving dependents. The Com-
pany maintains both defined contribution and defined
benefit plans. In addition, there are defined contribution
pension obligations which are financed by employees
as part of deferred compensation schemes.

Defined benefit pension obligations are based on indi-
vidual commitments with fixed one-off payments, and
are completely funded by provisions. The calculation
of pension provisions for defined benefit plans is per-
formed in accordance with IAS 19 on the basis of
actuarial assumptions. The following parameters are
used in the financial years presented below: 

                                                                                                                                                                               EUR 000’s

Acquisition of companies under common control                                                                                              -11,045

Successive purchases of shares in companies with existing possibility of control                                                  -3,487

Balance as at 31 December 2008                                                                                                                   -14,532

                                                                                                                                                          2008                      2007

Discount rate                                                                                                                         5.87 %                  5.62 %

Salary increase                                                                                                                            n/a                        n/a

Pension increase                                                                                                                         n/a                        n/a

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                          2008                      2007

Service cost                                                                                                                                    1                           1

Personnel expenses                                                                                                                     1                           1

Interest cost                                                                                                                                   1                           1

Pension expense                                                                                                                          2                           2
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The present value of the pension obligations changed
as follows:

The amount of the provision can be broken down as
follows:

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                          2008                      2007

Present value of the pension obligations as at 1 January                                                                20                         20

Service cost                                                                                                                                    1                           1

Interest cost                                                                                                                                    1                           1

Unrecognised actuarial gains                                                                                                          --                         -2

Present value of the pension obligations as at 31 December                                                   22                         20

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Present value of pension obligations                                                                                              22                         20

Unrecognised actuarial gains                                                                                                         --                         -1

Provision                                                                                                                                     22                         19

Contribution payments for the defined contribution
plans were recognised as an expense in the amount 
of EUR 398 thousand (2007: EUR 417 thousand) in
2008. 

(14) Other provisions
Other provisions are composed of the following:

EUR 000’s                                                                                    Balance at                                                          Balance at
                                                                                                     1 Jan 2008         Additions        Utilisation      31 Dec 2008

Interest rate risk from entity 
tax relationships                                                                              1,267                 408                    --                1,673

Miscellaneous other provisions                                                              --                 135                    --                   135

Other provisions                                                                           1,267                 543                    --                1,808

As at 31 December 2008, a provision in the amount 
of EUR 1,673 thousand was recognised for existing
interest rate risks that arise from obligations resulting
from tax group relationships between HCI Hanseatis-
che Capitalberatungsgesellschaft mbH and HCI Hold-
ing (old) in the financial years 2002 and 2003.

In a letter dated 18 December 2007, the deposit guar-
antee fund of German securities trading firms
requested a special contribution in the amount of
EUR 554 thousand from a subsidiary of HCI Capital
AG; this special contribution was related to the first

stage of proceedings for the compensation of
investors in Phoenix Kapitaldienst GmbH. Said spe-
cial contribution was determined on the basis of the
annual contribution made by the subsidiary for 2007.
HCI Group believes the determination of the sub-
sidiary’s annual contribution to have been financially
incorrect, and therefore does not consider said spe-
cial contribution to be payable by HCI Group. Accord-
ingly, HCI Group has filed an objection against the
request to pay a special contribution. No related pro-
vision was recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS.  
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(15) Debt   
Debt include the liabilities of the HCI Group to banks.
The material liabilities to banks have the following
terms and conditions:

Loan                                                               2008              2007        Currency of                     Interest rate                Final
                                                              EUR 000’s     EUR 000’s    denomination                                 in  %           maturity

HSH Nordbank AG                                  28,579          35,543                  USD             LIBOR + 3  %                     2010

Bankhaus Wölbern & CO.                          6,481                  --                  USD   EURIBOR + 1.85 %                     2011

Dresdner Bank AG                                    5,995                  --                  EUR                      5.22 %– 8.83  %       2009

HSH Nordbank AG                                    3,383            7,571                  EUR                      6.24 %/9.03  %        2009

Commerzbank AG                                           --          22,000                  EUR   EURIBOR + 0.95 %/ 0.60  %       2012

The loan taken out to refinance the acquisition of
shares in Aragon AG, amounting to EUR 22,000 thou-
sand with a term running until 30 September 2012,
was fully repaid in the financial year 2008 due to the
disposal of the shares in Aragon AG.

HCI Real Estate Finance I GmbH & Co. KG raised a
loan in the amount of USD 52,500 thousand to refi-
nance the purchase of the shares in NY Credit Operat-
ing Partnership LP. HSH Nordbank AG subsequently
extended the loan facility until 31 March 2010, taking
into consideration a redemption of EUR 1,250 thou-
sand each quarter. As at 31 December 2008, the car-
rying amount of the loan, including accrued interest,
amounted to EUR 28,579 thousand (31 December
2007: EUR 35,921 thousand). 

In the financial year 2008, the HCI Group took out a
credit line in the amount of USD 9,000 thousand to
finance the deposits necessary for construction phase
loans for nine ships. The credit line was fully drawn
until 31 December 2008 and will be repaid in the years
2009 to 2011 upon delivery of the individual ships. 

HCI Capital AG took out a cash loan in the amount of
EUR 6,000 thousand to finance the purchase of
shares in eFonds Holding AG. This cash loan bore
interest of between 5.22 % and 8.83 % in 2008. As at
31 December 2008, the carrying amount of the loan,
including accrued interest, amounted to EUR 5,995
thousand. In January 2009, the HCI Group made a

repayment of EUR 1,500 thousand. In February 2009,
an agreement was concluded with Dresdner Bank AG
that the loan will be repaid in quarterly instalments of
EUR 150 thousand, with a payment of the remaining
outstanding amount made upon final maturity as at 
31 January 2010. The loan’s interest will be 7.5 %. 

In connection with the purchase of 6,819 shares in HCI
HAMMONIA SHIPPING AG in November 2007, the HCI
Group had concluded an agreement with HSH Nord-
bank AG on the repurchase, by 10 November 2008, of
the 6,819 shares purchased by HSH Nordbank AG on
a trust basis. An early repayment was made in case the
shares were sold by HSH Nordbank AG following the
approval of the HCI Group. The shares were repur-
chased on 10 November 2008 at a price correspon-
ding to the fixed repurchase value of the shares in the
amount of EUR 3,383 thousand, plus accrued interest
at a rate of 6.24 %. A new trust agreement was con-
cluded as at the same date, according to which HSH
Nordbank AG will acquire the shares and hold them
until 10 November 2009. The shares will be repur-
chased on 10 November 2009 at a price correspon-
ding to the fixed repurchase value of the shares, plus
accrued interest at a rate of 9.03 %. In this context, the
HCI Group is obliged to make monthly repayments in
an amount corresponding to one twelfth of the pur-
chase value paid by HSH Nordbank AG.  

Items of debt have the following terms to maturity as at
31 December 2008:

EUR 000’s                                                                  Remaining term         Remaining term over one         Remaining term  
                                                                                     up to one year                year up to five years            over five years

31 December 2008                                                              16,837                                    27,636                              --

31 December 2007                                                              49,514                                    16,532                              --
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(16) Payables to related parties
Payables to related parties can be broken down as 
follows:

Liabilities due to employees refer to outstanding wage
and salary payments, claims for bonuses, and out-
standing vacation entitlements.

Liabilities from loss assumption obligations pursuant
to shareholder agreements relate to obligations of the
HCI Group against order companies. 

We refer to Note (32)(a)(ii) for disclosures on the deriva-
tives measured at fair value. 

Other financial liabilities have terms to maturity of up to
one year.

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Payables to unconsolidated subsidiaries                                                                                     687                       608

Payables to executive bodies of the HCI Group                                                                           851                    1,598

Payables to related parties                                                                                                    1,538                    2,206

Payables to related parties have terms to maturity of
up to one year.

Further disclosures on related party transactions are
described under Note (34).

(17) Other liabilities
Other liabilities can be broken down as follows:

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Liabilities due to employees                                                                                                      3,358                    4,951

Liabilities from loss assumption obligations pursuant to shareholder agreements                      3,016                          --

Derivatives measured at fair value                                                                                             1,836                         35

Debtors with credit balances                                                                                                       417                       478

Liabilities to funds                                                                                                                       275                         50

Loans                                                                                                                                            --                       210

Miscellaneous                                                                                                                            597                    1,531

Other financial liabilities                                                                                                        9,499                    7,255

Miscellaneous tax liabilities                                                                                                       1,707                    5,900

Deferred income                                                                                                                         100                         58

Liabilities from social security                                                                                                          9                           8

Other miscellaneous liabilities                                                                                              1,816                    5,966

Other liabilities                                                                                                                     11,315                  13,221



95

HCI Annual Report 2008 | Notes

Notes to the consolidated 
statement of operations

(18) Revenues 
Revenues can be broken down as follows:

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                          2008                      2007

Sales and design revenues                                                                                                                                            

      Shipping                                                                                                                          55,900                  81,063

      Real estate                                                                                                                      13,163                    9,331

      Private equity                                                                                                                        435                    1,548

      Secondary life insurance market                                                                                      10,688                  13,271

      Other                                                                                                                               12,001                       145

Total sales and design revenues                                                                                         92,187                105,358

Trust and service contract fees                                                                                                                                      

      Shipping                                                                                                                          18,642                  18,083

      Real estate                                                                                                                        2,311                    2,381

      Private equity                                                                                                                        396                       392

      Secondary life insurance market                                                                                        1,933                    1,775

Total trust and service contract fees                                                                                   22,682                  22,631

Management revenues                                                                                                          2,724                    1,823

Other revenues                                                                                                                      2,370                    7,487

Total revenues                                                                                                                    119,963                137,299

Other revenues include performance-based revenues
realised in the case of settlement of funds depending
on certain profitability indicators, or proceeds from 
disposal. 

(19) Other operating income
Other operating income can be broken down as 
follows: 

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                          2008                      2007

Income from the brokerage of ships                                                                                        3,647                    2,826

Income from the brokerage of properties                                                                                     833                    8,680

Income from other services to related parties                                                                               112                         97

Income on receivables previously written off                                                                                 49                       243

Income from the reversal of provisions                                                                                            --                         82

Income from the reversal of impairment losses on receivables                                                         --                         59

Miscellaneous operating income                                                                                              1,998                    1,166

Other operating income                                                                                                        6,639                  13,153

(20) Cost of purchased services
The cost of purchased services mainly includes
agency commissions for the sales of funds, and 
costs for prospectuses. 
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EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                          2008                      2007

Wages and salaries                                                                                                                24,901                  25,242

Social security contributions                                                                                                     2,440                    2,260

Other social security costs                                                                                                          473                       512

Personnel expenses                                                                                                            27,814                  28,014

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                          2008                      2007

Amortisation of intangible assets                                                                                             1,700                    2,550

Impairment losses of intangible assets                                                                                     1,023                       730

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment                                                                             627                       817

Impairment losses of property, plant and equipment                                                                        0                       373

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses                                                             3,350                    4,470

During the financial year 2008, the Group employed 
an average of 309 people (2007: 286 people). 

Employer contributions to the statutory pension
scheme are included in social security contributions.

(22) Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
losses

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment can be
broken down as follows:

Write-downs on financial assets are included in the
financial result. 

Impairment losses on intangible assets in the financial
year 2008 relate to goodwill of the Private Equity seg-
ment – due to unexpected financial performance – in
the amount of EUR 731 thousand, as well as to a non-
competition clause which was recognised as an asset
and for which an impairment of EUR 292 thousand
had to be recognised in the financial year 2008, since
the employee concerned had rejoined the company.

Impairment losses recognised in the financial year
2007 relate to rights granted to the HCI Group in 2005
by a cooperation partner with respect to future fee
arrangements for certain secondary life insurance mar-
ket funds. The impairment was recognised to account
for adjusted expectations concerning the forecast
income. 

(21) Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses are broken down as follows: 
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EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                          2008                      2007

HAMMONIA Reederei GmbH & Co. KG                                                                                    3,728                  12,595

Ship order companies                                                                                                                 556                          --

Aragon AG                                                                                                                                 478                       703 

HELLESPONT HAMMONIA GmbH & Co. KG                                                                             -166                         34

BH & HCI Overschiestraat Holding B.V.                                                                                      -178                     -313

BH & HCI Real Estate Holding B.V.                                                                                             -999                       171

eFonds Holding AG                                                                                                                -1,041                          --

NY Credit Operating Partnership LP                                                                                      -26,928                    1,481

Result of companies accounted for using the equity method                                          -24,550                  14,671

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                          2008                      2007

Legal, audit and consultancy fees                                                                                            4,616                    5,269

Rent and lease expenses                                                                                                         3,156                    3,300

Loss assumption obligations pursuant to shareholder agreements                                           3,016                          --

Advertising costs                                                                                                                     2,550                    2,145

Postage, telecommunication and IT expenses                                                                          2,166                    2,070

General business costs                                                                                                            1,701                    1,622

Travel, entertainment and representation expenses                                                                  1,645                    1,920

Expenses incurred in relation to the takeover offer                                                                        764                          --

Training and incentive costs                                                                                                        738                       773

Bad debt                                                                                                                                    575                       516

Supervisory Board remuneration and per-meeting fees                                                                257                       188

Recruitment                                                                                                                                232                       207

Maintenance and repairs                                                                                                               84                       123

Losses from the disposal of non-current assets                                                                               8                       298

Miscellaneous expenses                                                                                                          3,936                    3,530

Other operating expenses                                                                                                  25,444                  21,475

(23) Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses can be broken down as 
follows:

Rent and lease expenses relate to contracts for the
rental or lease of property, vehicles and office equip-
ment classified as operating lease. 

The rental and lease contracts for the properties locat-
ed in Hamburg and Bremen used by the HCI Group
expire on 31 December 2009. The contracts provide
for two and three, respectively, renewal options for the
HCI Group to extend the term by five and two years,
respectively. At the beginning of the financial year

2009, HCI terminated the contracts for the Hamburg
premises with due notice of termination. Meanwhile,
the Company has signed a contract for new office
premises, starting 1 January 2010. The rental term is
five years. There is no renewal option with respect to
the rental term.

(24) Result of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method 

The result comprises the following companies:
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EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                          2008                      2007

Interest income from receivables                                                                                              1,191                       780

Interest income from bank deposits                                                                                             587                    1,201

Other interest income                                                                                                                  406                         76

Interest income                                                                                                                      2,184                    2,057

Interest expenses for liabilities to banks                                                                                   -3,540                  -4,550

Interest expenses for liabilities to other investments                                                                      -71                       -28

Interest expenses for other financial liabilities                                                                               -11                       -37

Interest expenses for pension provisions                                                                                        -1                         -1

Other interest expenses                                                                                                             -688                     -630

Interest and similar expenses                                                                                              -4,311                  -5,246

Net investment income from funds                                                                                          3,169                    3,663

Foreign exchange gains/losses, net                                                                                          2,429                  -2,876

Gains from the disposal of associates                                                                                          951                          --

Other net investment income                                                                                                     493                       856

Gains/losses from other financial assets                                                                                      432                       760

Income from the reversal of financing positions                                                                               --                    2,030

Impairment of available for sale financial assets                                                                       -4,661                     -207

Result from the reclassification of NY Credit Operating Partnership LP                                     -3,655                          --

Impairment of loans to order companies                                                                                 -2,875                          --

Miscellaneous financial result                                                                                                     -110                         81

Other financial result                                                                                                            -3,827                    3,703

Financial result                                                                                                                     -5,954                       514

Net investment income from funds includes EUR
2,658 thousand (2007: EUR 3,037 thousand) of fees
which the HCI Group receives as preliminary distribu-
tions from secondary life insurance market funds. 

The disposal of the interests held in Aragon AG
accounted for using the equity method led to a gain 
of EUR 951 thousand in the financial year 2008.

The net loss reported by NY Credit Operating Partner-
chip LP for the period until the reclassification of the
interests in accordance with IAS 39 (see Note (7))
consists of the net operating loss of EUR 2,170 thou-
sand accumulated by that date and an impairment of
EUR 24,758 thousand on the carrying amount of NY
Credit Operating Partnership LP as at 30 June 2008.
The impairment was made in view of the impact of the
developments on the US finance market on the oper-
ating activities of NY Credit Operating Partnership LP.
The recoverable amount was determined during the
impairment test conducted in accordance with IAS 36
on the basis of the fair value. The fair value corre-
sponds to the present value of the expected cash
flows, based on a DCF model.

As a result of the inclusion of General Electric Fün-
fundzwanzigste Beteiligungs GmbH, as well as Dr.
Karsten Liebing as additional partners of HAMMONIA
Reederei GmbH & Co. KG in May 2008 by way of a
capital increase, in which the existing shareholders
did not participate, the stake of the HCI Group in
HAMMONIA Reederei GmbH & Co. KG was reduced
from 50 % to 32 %. As a result of the capital contribu-
tions made by the new partners into the jointly held
reserve account of HAMMONIA Reederei GmbH &
Co. KG, the share held by the HCI Group in the net
assets of HAMMONIA Reederei GmbH & Co. KG was
increased by EUR 2,576 thousand. This amount was
recognised in profit and loss.

(25) Other financial result
The other financial result can be broken down as
follows:
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EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                          2008                      2007

Current tax income/expense (Germany)                                                                                  -3,412                    8,969

Current tax income/expense (other countries)                                                                            -462                    2,441

Current tax income/expense                                                                                               -3,874                  11,410

Deferred tax income (Germany)                                                                                              -2,380                  -1,422

Deferred tax income/expense (other countries)                                                                          -235                       206

Deferred tax income                                                                                                             -2,615                  -1,216

Income tax refund/expense                                                                                                 -6,489                  10,194

Deferred tax income includes expenses in the amount
of EUR 9,356 thousand (2007: income of EUR 1,856
thousand) attributable to the creation or the reversal of
temporary differences. 

The notional income tax expense which would have
arisen by applying the tax rate of the controlling Group
company, HCI Capital AG, of 32.28 % (2007: 40.4 %)
to earnings before taxes as determined in accordance

In the fourth quarter of 2008, the significant influence
of the HCI Group on strategic operating policies of NY
Credit Operating Partnership LP was suspended, tak-
ing into account agreements concluded in connection
with the refinancing of NY Credit Operating Partner-
ship LP (previously accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements of the HCI Group using the equity
method), which refinancing was carried out by the
other partners besides the HCI Group. Accordingly,
the recognised interest, previously accounted for
using the equity method, was reclassified as an avail-
able for sale financial asset in accordance with IAS 39.
The cost of the financial asset in accordance with IAS
39 corresponded to the recognised interest under the
equity method in the amount of EUR 3,376 thousand
as at the date of reclassification. In connection with 
the reclassification, the pro rata fair value changes
amounting to EUR 1,936 thousand for derivatives in
cash flow hedges, which had been recognised directly
in equity as at 30 September 2008, and the foreign
currency translation adjustment in the amount of EUR
1,720 thousand, were reversed through profit or loss.
The value of the investment, as determined as at 31
December 2008, amounted to EUR 0 as a result of the
continued weak financial performance and financing
situation of NY Credit Operating Partnership LP, result-
ing in an impairment to be recognised in the amount of
EUR 3,376 thousand in accordance with IAS 39.

Another impairment, in the amount of EUR 570 thou-
sand, had to be recognised in profit and loss in the
financial year 2008 for the shares held by the HCI
Group in HCI HAMMONIA SHIPPING AG as a result 
of the significant and prolonged share price decline. 

In addition, impairment losses had to be recognised
for available for sale financial assets in the amount of
EUR 446 thousand relating to the investment held by
the HCI Group in B&H HCI Tupolevlaan Building BV
and in the amount of EUR 270 thousand (2007: EUR
207 thousand) relating to units held by the HCI Group
in closed-end funds.

Impairment losses of EUR 2,875 thousand were
recognised in the financial year 2008 for loans to order
companies, which are allocated to the “loans and
receivables” category.

(26) Income taxes 
The taxes paid or owed on income in each country 
as well as deferred taxes are recognised as income
taxes. Income taxes consist of trade taxes, corpora-
tion taxes, solidarity surcharge and the relevant foreign
income taxes. 

Expenses for income taxes can be broken down by
origin as follows:
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with IFRS, can be reconciled to income tax expenses as
reported in the consolidated statement of operations: 

German-based companies in the legal form of a corpo-
ration owe corporation tax at a rate of 15 % (2007:
25%) plus a solidarity surcharge of 5.5 % on corpora-
tion tax owed. In addition, these companies – as well
as subsidiaries in the legal form of partnerships – are
subject to trade tax, the amount of which is determined
based upon different assessment rates prevailing in 
the individual municipalities.

As from the 2004 assessment period, corporation 
and trade tax loss carryforwards are subject to certain
restrictions. A positive taxable income of up to EUR
1,000 thousand can be reduced without limitation,
while amounts exceeding this threshold can only be
reduced by up to a maximum of 60 % by applying an
existing tax loss carryforward.

The effects of different tax rates for partnerships and 
for domestic and foreign taxes of the controlling Group
company are reported in the reconciliation as changes
in tax rates.

The permanent differences in the financial year 2008
mainly result from the impairment of interests held in NY
Credit Operating Partnership LP, which are not taken
into account for tax purposes in Germany. The perma-
nent differences for the financial year 2007 above all
include the effects of investment income which has
been settled already with the tonnage tax.

Income taxes for prior years include an amount of EUR
-5,150 thousand of current taxes relating to prior years
(2007: EUR 1,081 thousand).  

Trade tax deductions mainly result from the elimination
of results attributable to the HCI Group from funds
launched in the legal form of a partnership. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities resulting from tempo-
rary differences and tax loss carryforwards are as fol-
lows:

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                          2008                      2007

Earnings before taxes in accordance with IFRS                                                                     -23,239                  40,785

Group tax rate (in  %)                                                                                                            32.28  %                 40.4  %

Expected tax refund/expense                                                                                             -7,502                  16,473

Differences in tax rates                                                                                                               -675                  -2,996

Changes in tax rates                                                                                                                       4                     -658

Permanent differences                                                                                                           10,503                  -3,036

Changes in the recognition of deferred taxes                                                                            1,710                    1,819

Income taxes for prior years                                                                                                    -7,667                       903

Non-deductible business expenses                                                                                         1,981                    2,602

Tax-free income                                                                                                                         -762                     -672

Additions and deductions for trade taxes                                                                                -3,726                  -4,141

Other effects                                                                                                                              -355                     -100

Tax refund/expense as reported in the statement of operations                                        -6,489                  10,194
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                                                                                                                                                          2008                      2007

Consolidated net loss/income for the year attributable to the Group             EUR 000’s         -16,750                  30,591

Weighted average number of shares outstanding                                         in 000’s              24,000                  24,000

Consolidated net loss/income for the year attributable 
to the Group per share                                                                              EUR                      -0.70                      1.27

During the financial years presented, there were no
instruments with a dilutive effect. Diluted earnings per
share thus correspond to basic earnings per share. 

EUR 000’s                                                                                             December 31, 2008                 December 31, 2007

                                                                                                         Deferred          Deferred           Deferred         Deferred
                                                                                                                  tax                    tax                    tax                   tax
                                                                                                            assets           liabilities               assets          liabilities

Intangible assets                                                                                    --                  188                     --                 174

Property, plant and equipment                                                               --                    37                     --                   72

Investment securities                                                                            62                  763                    82                 578

Work in progress and finished services                                                    1                  252                    76                   64

Receivables and other assets                                                             120               1,890                    81              2,787

Pension provisions                                                                                 --                      2                     --                     2

Debt                                                                                                      --                    85                     --                 179

Trade payables                                                                                1,121               9,145               1,498                    --

Other liabilities                                                                                      61                  185                  294                    --

Temporary differences                                                                  1,365             12,547               2,031              3,856

Tax loss carryforwards                                                                12,433                     --                  462                    --

Total                                                                                             13,798             12,547               2,493              3,856

Offset                                                                                             -8,906              -8,906             -1,820             -1,820

Carrying amount                                                                            4,892               3,641                  673              2,036

Deferred tax assets on temporary differences or tax
loss carryforwards are recognised to the extent that
their recoverability is probable in the near future. In the
financial years 2008 and 2007, no deferred tax assets
were recognised for temporary differences and tax
loss carryforwards for corporation tax purposes in the
amount of EUR 4,991 thousand and EUR 802 thou-
sand, respectively, and for trade tax purposes in the
amount of EUR 7,573 thousand and EUR 5,888 thou-
sand, respectively, since it is not considered probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available in the near
future.

The ability to carry forward tax losses in Germany is
not subject to any restrictions according to the current
legal situation. 

No deferred tax liabilities were recognised for temporary
differences in connection with investments in affiliated
companies in the amount of EUR 959 thousand (2007:
EUR 1,690 thousand) since the Company does not
expect a reversal of the differences in the near future. 

(27) Earnings per Share
Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated as
follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated cash flow
statement

(28) Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, as reported in the cash
flow statement, correspond to the same item in the
balance sheet and mainly include bank balances.

(29) Other non-cash transactions 
No material non-cash transactions occurred in the
financial years 2008 and 2007. 

Notes on segment reporting  

(30) General information
Segment reporting is made in accordance with IAS 14.
The primary reporting format is based on the business
segments of the HCI Group which are determined
according to product types. The secondary reporting
format is based on the geographical regions in which
the HCI Group operates.

We refer to Note (4) with respect to the changes aris-
ing from the application of IFRS 8, envisaged for finan-
cial year 2009, and its effects.

(a) Business segments 
The Shipping segment comprises the activities of the
HCI Group in the area of design, launch, sales and trust
management of shipping investments. The services
provided by the Group in the area of operation and
management of ships are also included in this segment. 

The Real Estate segment includes the design, plan-
ning and placement of closed-end real estate funds.
Property management, both during the operating
phase and the subsequent sale of the property, sup-
plements the activities of this segment. 

The Private Equity segment launches private equity
funds of funds which invest in capital and private equi-
ty target funds, and thus enable investors to partici-
pate in the development of the venture capital market.

Group companies that launch secondary life insurance
market funds investing in portfolios of US, UK and Ger-
man term and cash-value life insurances belong 
to the Secondary Life Insurance Market segment. 

The Other/Holding segment includes, above all,
income and expenses from product design and sales
related to aircraft and oil platform products, as well as
expenses pertaining to the holding functions. 

(b) Geographical regions
In addition to Germany, the activities of the HCI Group
extend to the rest of Europe and the USA. Accordingly,
secondary segmentation is between the geographical
regions “Germany” and “Other countries”. 

(31) Segment information
The segment information is collected on the basis of
the accounting policies applied for the consolidated
financial statements. 

Revenues to external customers represent revenues
from the design and initiation and sale of investments,
and the provision of trust and other services. 

The earnings measure for segment results is EBIT
(earnings before interest and taxes) which is common-
ly used on an international basis and represents the
annual result before interest, the other financial result
and income taxes. 

Segment assets represent the assets necessary for
operation of the individual segments. They include the
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
as well as short-term current assets with the exception
of loan receivables, cash and cash equivalents and the
claims from current and deferred income taxes. Good-
will is allocated to the relevant segment assets. 

Segment assets of the Shipping segment as at 31
December 2008 include investments in associates
and interest in joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method amounting to EUR 27,245 thousand
(2007: EUR 19,669 thousand). As of 31 December
2007, the shareholding in NY Credit Operating Part-
nership LP has been recognised in the segment
assets of the Real Estate segment, at EUR 31,831
thousand. Following the reclassification of the interests
as available for sale financial assets in the fourth quar-
ter 2008 in accordance with IAS 39, the interests are
no longer included in segment assets as at 31 Decem-
ber 2008. The investments in the associates BH & HCI
Overschiestraat Holding B.V. and BH & HCI Real
Estate Holding B.V., which were accounted for using
the equity method as at 31 December 2008, are
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Revenues are segmented according to the location 
of the Group company for geographical segment
reporting. 

Other disclosures

(32) Financial instruments and management 
of financial risks

(a) Financial instruments
(i) Disclosures to financial instruments
The carrying amounts of the financial assets by mea-
surement categories in accordance with IAS 39 are 
as follows:

reported in Other/Holding at EUR 3,228 thousand
(2007: EUR 4,406 thousand). The interests held in
Aragon AG, which were accounted for using the equity
method and sold in 2008, had a carrying amount 
of EUR 30,320 thousand as at 31 December 2007,
reported under Other/Holding. Investments in funds
include shares, silent partnerships and other financial
assets in investment companies of the relevant seg-
ment.

Segment liabilities include the operating liabilities and
provisions of the individual segments. Liabilities to
banks, pension provisions and liabilities from current
and deferred income taxes are not included in seg-
ment liabilities.

The reconciliation of the segment assets to total
assets of the Group, and the segment liabilities to lia-
bilities of the Group, is as follows:

EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Segment assets                                                                                                                   71,928                132,159

Other investments                                                                                                                  22,628                  15,834

Receivables and other assets                                                                                                 40,775                  48,973

Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                    29,304                  34,739

Securities                                                                                                                                3,059                    7,501

Deferred taxes                                                                                                                         4,892                       673

Assets of the Group                                                                                                           172,586                239,879

Segment liabilities                                                                                                               17,764                  33,550

Debt                                                                                                                                      44,473                  66,046

Payables to related parties                                                                                                          687                       752

Income tax payables                                                                                                             15,132                  17,984

Other liabilities and other provisions                                                                                          4,689                    1,477

Deferred taxes                                                                                                                         3,641                    2,036

Provisions and liabilities                                                                                                      86,386                121,845
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                                                                                                                 Loans and                           Available-for-sale  
                                                                                                                receivables                                    assets

EUR 000’s                                                                                  December          December         December       December
                                                                                                      31, 2008             31, 2007            31, 2008           31, 2007

Current securities and other investments                                      9,471                       --             16,216            23,335

Trade receivables                                                                       23,553              31,785                      --                     --

Receivables from related parties                                                   2,569                1,052                      --                     --

Other financial assets                                                                 29,756              42,364                      --                     --

Cash and cash equivalents                                                         29,304              34,739                      --                     --

The following table shows the carrying amounts of
financial liabilities by measurement categories in
accordance with IAS 39:

                                                                                                      Fair value through profit              Financial liabilities at  
                                                                                                                    or loss                                 amortised cost

EUR 000’s                                                                                  December          December         December       December
                                                                                                      31, 2008             31, 2007            31, 2008           31, 2007

Debt                                                                                                   --                       --             44,473            66,046

Trade payables                                                                                   --                       --               8,457            19,066

Payables to related parties                                                                  --                       --               1,538              2,206

Other financial liabilities                                                                 1,836                     35               7,663              7,220

The carrying amounts reported in the individual IAS 
39 categories can be reconciled to the classes of
financial instruments on the basis of their individual
characteristics. 

                                                                                                                                     Financial assets

                                                                                                                 Loans and                                         
                                                                                                                receivables                          Available-for-sale

EUR 000’s                                                                                  December          December         December       December
                                                                                                      31, 2008             31, 2007            31, 2008           31, 2007

Current securities and other investments                                      9,471                       --             16,216            23,335

Trade receivables                                                                       23,553              31,785                      --                     --

Loans extended                                                                         12,766              26,428                      --                     --

Cash and cash equivalents                                                        29,304              34,739                      --                     --

Other financial receivables                                                          19,559              16,988                      --                     --
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                                                                                                                                   Financial liabilities

                                                                                                      Fair value through profit                               
                                                                                                                    or loss                                 Amortised cost  

EUR 000’s                                                                                  December          December         December       December
                                                                                                      31, 2008             31, 2007            31, 2008           31, 2007

Loans                                                                                                 --                       --             46,012            66,765

Trade payables                                                                                   --                       --               8,457            19,066

Hedges                                                                                        1,836                     35                      --                     --

Other financial liabilities                                                                       --                       --               7,663              8,707

The following table shows a comparison of the fair
values and the carrying amounts as at the balance
sheet date of the financial assets and liabilities, mea-
sured at cost or amortised cost.

EUR 000’s                                                                                           December 31, 2008                  December 31, 2007

                                                                                               Carrying                     Fair          Carrying                   Fair
                                                                                                amount                 value           amount                value
Financial assets measured 
at cost or amortised cost

Trade receivables                                                                   23,553               23,553           31,785             31,785

Loans extended                                                                     12,766               14,737           26,428             26,355

Other financial receivables                                                      19,559               19,559           16,988             16,988

Financial liabilities measured 
at cost or amortised cost

Loans                                                                                    46,012               46,012           66,765             66,858

Trade payables                                                                         8,457                 8,457           19,066             19,066

Other financial liabilities                                                             7,663                 7,663             8,707               8,707

The statement of operations includes the following
net results for the financial instruments by categories
(income +, expenses -):

EUR 000’s                                                                                                       2008                                                         2007

                                                                                 from subsequent measurement                                                           
                                                                                                                                                                                                 
                                                                                 at fair      Currency        Valuation            from             Net               Net
                                                                                 value    translation     allowances     disposal          result           result

Loans and receivables                                                --            1,405           -3,814           -575        -2,984         -2,956

Available-for-sale financial assets                        -4,661               367                   --            432       -3,862               96

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss                                           -1,836                  --                   --               --        -1,836              -35

Financial liabilities at amortised cost                            --               289                   --               --            289              -30

Total                                                                  -6,497            2,061           -3,814           -143        -8,393         -2,925



106

Welcome | Company | Management Report | Financial Statements Notes

Interest from financial instruments is included in net
interest income. The other components of the net
result are reported in the other financial result, except
for valuation allowances on trade receivables attributa-
ble to the category “Loans and Receivables”, which
are recognised as other operating expenses. 

Foreign exchange gains for the financial year 2008
mainly relate to gains from trade receivables denomi-
nated in US dollars (EUR 1,069 thousand) and cash
and cash equivalents (EUR 866 thousand) as well 
as to losses incurred on other financial assets (EUR
540 thousand). Of the net result for loans and receiv -
ables in 2008, EUR 1,405 thousand relate to foreign
exchange gains and expenses of EUR 575 thousand
from the derecognition of receivables.

Expenses for available for sale financial assets meas-
ured at fair value primarily consist of the write-down 
of the remaining carrying amount of the investment 
in NY Credit LP (EUR 3,376 thousand), the interests
held in B&H & HCI Tupolevlaan Building B.V. (EUR 446
thousand), the interests held in HCI HAMMONIA
SHIPPING AG (EUR 570 thousand) and fund units
(EUR 270 thousand). 

The net result from subsequent measurement of finan-
cial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or
loss in the amount of EUR 1,836 thousand relates to
the fair value measurement of zero-coupon promis-
sory note loans entered into by HCI as at 31 Decem-
ber 2008. 

The valuation allowances for receivables and liabilities
mainly result from the impairment of loans to order
companies (EUR 2,875 thousand). 

The net result for financial liabilities measured at amor-
tised cost primarily refers to foreign exchange gains
from the measurement of liabilities to related parties,
financial debt and other financial liabilities. 

(ii) Disclosures to derivative financial instruments
On 17 and 20 October 2008, respectively, HCI Capital
AG entered into two non-interest bearing promissory
note loans at a nominal amount of EUR 20,000 thou-
sand and a price of 43.88 % as well as at a nominal
amount of EUR 10,000 thousand and a price of 42.83%,
respectively. The loans have a term running from 
30 June 2009 to 15 December 2025 and from 

30 September 2009 to 15 December 2025, respec-
tively. The return on issue amounts to 5.13 % p.a. and
5.37 % p.a., respectively. The promissory note loan
was entered into in the context of the design of a fund
product and is intended to be transferred to the invest-
ment company during the financial year 2009. The
promissory note loans have a negative fair value of
EUR 1,836 thousand on 31 December 2008. The
investment company concluded an agreement with
HCI Capital AG in 2008 on the assumption of all risks
and rewards from the promissory note loans so that
the HCI Group recognises a corresponding receivable
due from the investment company. 

(b) Management of financial risks
In the financial year 2008, the HCI Group began to
establish a central interest and currency management.
The objective of this is to assume an advisory role for
the companies of the HCI Group and its investees
within the framework of hedging the interest and cur-
rency risks described below, and to report to the Man-
agement Board of HCI Capital AG concerning its
activities.

(i) Market risks  
Currency risk
The HCI Group is exposed to currency risks due to
exchange rate fluctuations in connection with the
design and the distribution of funds denominated in
foreign currencies and other foreign currency transac-
tions. The currency risks mentioned exist in particular
with respect to the exchange rate between the US dol-
lar and the euro. Risks in connection with other 
foreign currencies are only of minor significance.

The transactions of the HCI Group in US dollar in the
financial year 2008 mainly comprised income from
design and sales for the three fund products Deepsea
Oil Explorer, Aircraft One and BRIC+. In addition, the
HCI Group is exposed to currency risks in connection
with the refinancing through loans denominated in 
US dollar, loans extended to shipping companies for
bridge financing purposes, and to related parties.

Currency risks exist with respect to future foreign
exchange losses following an adverse development of
the exchange rate of the US dollar. Hedges to mitigate
these risks were not entered into, since the dates of
the future cash flows denominated in foreign curren-
cies are not certain.
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The other financial result of the financial year would
have been EUR 1,949 thousand lower (EUR 2,389
thousand higher) if the exchange rate of the US dollar
had increased (decreased) by 10 %.

Interest rate risk
Risks resulting from interest rate changes exist for the
HCI Group generally in connection with loans exten-
ded and the loans taken out for refinancing purposes.
The HCI Group does not have interest rate hedges
since the risk arising from a refinancing with mismat-
ched interest rates and maturities is considered
immaterial.

Based on the financial assets and liabilities as at the
balance sheet date, the exposure to interest rate risks
is as follows:

An increase of the interest rate level by 100 basis
points would result in an increase of interest expenses
by EUR 393 thousand for a non-current liability of the
HCI Group.

Any other borrowings are not exposed to material
interest rate risks, as a result of their short-term 
maturity.

An increase of the interest rate level by 100 basis
points would result in an increase of interest income
by EUR 62 thousand for other non-current financial
assets bearing variable interest.

Based on the underlying assumptions, this results in
an exposure to interest rate risks in the amount of
EUR 331 thousand. 

In order to determine the effect of exchange rate fluc-
tuations deemed possible as at the balance sheet
date, the sensitivity analyses described below were
conducted. The individual analyses show the effect of
exchange rate fluctuations by 10 % on the financial
result of the HCI Group, based on the financial assets
and liabilities that are exposed to currency risks as at
the balance sheet date.

Transactions in GBP and CHF were considered imma-
terial as at the balance sheet date and therefore were
not subjected to a sensitivity analysis. 

The following table reflects the transaction-related net
exposure to foreign currency risks in USD as at 31
December 2008.

EUR 000’s                                                                                         Carrying                                 Change in 
                                                                                                          amount                           currency position                                                                                                                   

                                                                                                                                           in case of a             in case of an
                                                                                                                                        depreciation             appreciation
                                                                                                                                               by 10 %                    by 10 %

Cash and cash equivalents                                                             14,336                        13,032                     15,929

Other investments                                                                            7,161                          6,511                       7,958

Trade receivables                                                                             6,780                          6,164                       7,534

Receivables from related parties                                                             --                                --                             --

Other financial assets                                                                          327                             297                          364

Trade payables                                                                                  -237                           -215                         -263

Debt                                                                                               -6,256                        -5,687                      -6,950

Payables to related parties                                                                   -29                             -26                           -32

Other financial liabilities                                                                      -622                           -565                         -691

Total exposure to currency risks in USD, 
translated in EUR thousand                                                        21,460                        19,511                     23,849
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EUR 000’s                                                                                                                                December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Balance at 1 January                                                                                                                     49                       109

Additions                                                                                                                                    363                          --

Utilisation                                                                                                                                      49                          --

Amounts released                                                                                                                          --                         60

Balance at 31 December                                                                                                          363                         49

(ii) Credit risk
The HCI Group is exposed to the risk that business
partners, mainly real estate and shipping funds, may
not be able to fulfil their obligations to the Group.
These obligations mainly exist in the settlement of
receivables from agency services as well as from trust
and other services. The maximum exposure to default
risk corresponds to the nominal amounts of the finan-
cial assets as reported for the relevant categories.

Identifiable default risks, which exist in particular for
trade receivables, are accounted for by appropriate
valuation allowances.

The allowance for losses on trade receivables
changed as follows:

The receivables derecognised in the amount of EUR
575 thousand (2007: EUR 516 thousand) as well as
the additions to valuation allowances in the amount of
EUR 363 thousand (2007: EUR 0 thousand) relate to
the “trade receivables” class. 

Financial assets that were past due as at the balance
sheet date, but not impaired, can be broken down as
follows:  

EUR 000’s                                    Gross         of which:                   of which: not impaired as at the balance sheet date,
                                                  amount             neither                         but past due within the following time bands
                                                                        impaired 
                                                                         nor past                                                                                            
                                                                        due as at            less    between    between    between    between         more
                                                                   the balance       than 30        30 and       61 and       91 and     181 and   than 360 
                                                                     sheet date           days       60 days      90 days   180 days   360 days         days

Trade receivables

31 December 2008                  23,553            15,005         2,137         1,965         2,355        1,447           104          540

31 December 2007                  31,785              9,535       15,580            139         1,002           334        2,095       3,051

Loans extended

31 December 2008                  12,766            12,766               --                --               --               --              --              --

31 December 2007                  26,428            26,428               --                --               --               --              --              --

Other financial 
receivables

31 December 2008                  18,984            18,908               --                --               --             76              --              --

31 December 2007                  16,950            12,459         3,482              17               --               --           126          866



109

HCI Annual Report 2008 | Notes

As at the balance sheet date, there are no indicators
suggesting a default of the creditors with regard to
their payment obligations from trade receivables,
loans extended, and other financial receivables that
are neither impaired nor past due.

(iii) Liquidity risk
In order to ensure the HCI Group's liquidity, the cash
requirements of the Group are continuously monito-
red and managed. The Group either holds cash and

cash equivalents in a sufficient amount at any time in
order to be able to meet the payment obligations of
the Group for a particular period, or maintains credit
facilities and overdrafts that are drawn, if necessary. 

The following table shows the contractually agreed
undiscounted interest and principal payments of non-
derivative financial liabilities as well as of derivative
financial instruments with negative fair values: 

The table includes all instruments held by the Com -
pany at 31 December 2008 and for which payments
had already been contractually agreed. Foreign cur-
rency amounts were translated at the spot exchange
rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. Variable
interest payments from the financial instruments were
calculated on the basis of the interest rates fixed on
the last fixing date before 31 December 2008. Finan-
cial liabilities that may be repaid at any time are always
allocated to the earliest time band.

Trade payables of EUR 8,475 thousand and other
financial liabilities of EUR 9,499 thousand are due in
2009. 

(iv) Capital management
Management of capital at the HCI Group is primarily
geared towards maintaining a strong equity capital
base. The Management Board regularly reviews net
indebtedness. The following table shows sharehol-
ders' equity, equity-to-assets ratio and net financial
indebtedness.

EUR 000’s                                                Carrying amount                 Cash flows 2009                        Cash flows 2010
                                                                      at December                                                                                  
                                                                               31, 2008     Interest    Principal        Total     Interest    Principal       Total

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Loans                                                                   45,160        1,741     17,523     19,264           329     26,917    27,246

Derivative financial liabilities

Interest rate derivatives                                           1,836               0       1,836       1,836               0              0             0

Financial liabilities                                              46,996        1,741     19,359     21,100           329     26,917    27,246

EUR 000’s                                                Carrying amount                 Cash flows 2011                        Cash flows 2012
                                                                      at December                                                                                  
                                                                               31, 2008     Interest    Principal        Total     Interest    Principal       Total

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Loans                                                                   45,160               6          720          726               0              0             0

Derivative financial liabilities

Interest rate derivatives                                           1,836               0              0              0               0              0             0

Financial liabilities                                              46,996               6          720          726               0              0             0
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                                                                                                          Group share       Segment

Subsidiaries                                                                                                         

HCI Hanseatische Capitalberatungsgesellschaft mbH,                          100 %      Shipping/real estate/private equity/ 
Hamburg                                                                                                               secondary life insurance market/ 
                                                                                                                             holding-other

HSC Hanseatische Sachwert Concept GmbH, Hamburg                       100 %      Shipping/real estate/private equity/ 
                                                                                                                             secondary life insurance market

HSC Hanseatische Management GmbH, Hamburg                                100 %      Secondary life insurance market

Grundstücksverwaltungsgesellschaft Koch'sche 
Scheune mbH i.L., Jork                                                                         100 %      Holding-other

HCI Fonds Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg                    100 %      Holding-other

HPI Hanseatic Properties International GmbH, Bremen                          100 %      Real estate

HCI Treuhand GmbH, Hamburg                                                             100 %      Shipping/real estate/private equity/ 
                                                                                                                             secondary life insurance market/
                                                                                                                             holding-other

HCI Swiss AG, Zurich                                                                            100 %      Shipping/real estate/private equity/ 
                                                                                                                             secondary life insurance market 

MK Management GmbH, Jork                                                               100 %      Shipping

HCI Hanseatische Schiffsconsult GmbH, Hamburg                                100 %      Shipping

HCI Hanseatische Capitalberatungsgesellschaft 
für Immobilien mbH, Hamburg                                                               100 %      Real estate

HCI Hanseatische Capitalberatungsgesellschaft für 
Beteiligungskapital mbH, Hamburg                                                        100 %      Private equity

HCI Real Estate Asset Management GmbH, Bremen                             100 %      Real estate/holding-other

HCI Immobilien Consult GmbH, Hamburg                                              100 %      Real estate/holding-other

Hanseatische Immobilien Management GmbH, Bremen                         100 %      Real estate

HCI Hanseatische Beteiligungstreuhand GmbH, Bremen                       100 %      Private equity/secondary 
                                                                                                                             life insurance market

HCI Hanseatic Properties International GmbH, Bremen                          100 %      Real estate

HCI Vastgoed Management B.V., Amsterdam                                        100 %      Real estate/holding-other

HSC Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg                             100 %      Secondary life insurance market

HSC Fonds Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg                             100 %      Secondary life insurance market

HSC Invest UK Limited, Windsor                                                            100 %      Secondary life insurance market

The net financial indebtedness is calculated as the 
difference between current borrowings and the
aggregate of cash, cash equivalents and securities.
The decline in net financial indebtedness in the year
2008 over the previous year by EUR 11,696 thousand
is mainly attributable to the repayment of the loan to
finance the purchase of the shares in Aragon AG. 

HCI Capital AG is not subject to statutory capital
requirements. In particular, the Company does not
have any obligation to dispose or otherwise issue
shares in connection with existing share-based pay-
ment programs or convertible bonds. We refer to
Note (12)(a) for disclosures on authorised capital. 

(33) Material subsidiaries and joint ventures
As at 31 December 2008, the Company had the 
following material subsidiaries and joint ventures:

                                                                                                                                                 December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Shareholders' equity in EUR thousand                                                                                   86,200                118,034

Equity ratio in  %                                                                                                                        50.0                      49.2

Net financial indebtedness in EUR thousand                                                                         -12,110                -23,806
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                                                                                                          Group share       Segment

Subsidiaries

HSC Aufbauplan Management GmbH, Hamburg                                   100 %      Shipping/real estate/private equity 

HCI Hanseatische Capitalberatungsgesellschaft mbH, Wien                  100 %      Shipping/real estate

NAUTICA mbH & Co. KG, Hamburg                                                      100 %      Shipping

NAUTICA Beteiligungs GmbH, Hamburg                                               100 %      Shipping

HCI Asset GmbH, Hamburg                                                                   100 %      Shipping/real estate/private equity/ 
                                                                                                                             secondary life insurance market/
                                                                                                                             holding-other

Hanseatische Immobilien Management Niederlande GmbH, 
Bremen                                                                                                 100 %      Real estate

HCI U.S.A. Management Services Company LLC, 
Wilmington                                                                                            100 %      Real estate

HCI Institutional Funds GmbH, Hamburg                                               100 %      Holding-other

HCI Hanseatische Immobilienbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, 
Hamburg                                                                                               100 %      Real estate

HCI Real Estate Finance I GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg                            100 %      Real estate

HCI Real Estate Finance I Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, 
Hamburg                                                                                               100 %      Real estate

Joint ventures                                                                                                      

14 order companies (limited partnerships)                                                50  %      Shipping

Associates                                                                                                           

HAMMONIA Reederei GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg                                   32 %      Shipping

HELLESPONT HAMMONIA GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg                          25 %      Shipping

Verwaltung HELLESPONT HAMMONIA GmbH, Hamburg                        25 %      Shipping

BH & HCI Real Estate Holding B.V., Amsterdam                                       45 %      Holding-other

BH & HCI Overschiestraat Holding B.V., Amsterdam                                35 %      Holding-other

eFonds Holding AG, Munich                                                                 25.1 %      Holding-other 

We make use of the exempting provisions in accor-
dance with Section 264 (3) of the German Commercial
Code for HCI Hanseatische Capitalberatungsgesell -
schaft mbH, HCI Hanseatische Capitalberatungsge-
sellschaft für Beteiligungskapital mbH, HCI Hanseatis-
che Capitalberatungsgesellschaft für Immobilien mbH,
HCI Hanseatische Schiffsconsult GmbH, HSC Hanse -
atische Sachwert Concept GmbH and HCI Asset
GmbH.

The list of shareholdings of HCI Capital AG and of the
Group is published in the German Electronic Federal
Gazette pursuant to Sections 287 and 313 of the Ger-
man Commercial Code. 

(34) Related party disclosures
In accordance with IAS 24, related parties of the HCI
Group are persons and entities that control the Group
or have a significant influence over the Group, or are
controlled by the Group or are subject to significant
influence by the Group. 

Due to the voting rights in HCI Capital AG attributable
to MPC since 30 April 2008, MPC and the companies
controlled or significantly influenced by it are defined
as related parties. 
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In the financial year 2008, there were service relati-
onships with two subsidiaries of Aragon AG, BIT
Beteiligungs- und Investitionstreuhand AG and Jung,
DMS & Cie Aktiengesellschaft, in connection with 
the sale of HCI products. Both subsidiaries had been
included in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method until the sale of the shares 

in Aragon AG on 9 September 2008. Until this date,
the transactions resulted in commission expenses for
HCI of EUR 8,341 thousand (2007: EUR 8,085 thou-
sand). There were no material transactions for the
provision of goods and services between associates
and joint ventures as well as the HCI Group.

Mr. Jochen Döhle, Germany, as well as companies
controlled or significantly influenced by him or his fami-
ly, have to be classified as related parties due to the
voting rights attributable to them since 24 April 2008.  

In addition, the members of the Management Board
and of the Supervisory Board of HCI Capital AG as
well as the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
of the HCI Group are related parties.

In addition to the business relationships with the sub-
sidiaries included in the consolidated financial state-
ments by way of full consolidation, the following busi-
ness relationships existed with related parties.

(a) Relationships with MPC 
MPC was commissioned to raise funds necessary to
finance a mobile semi-submersible floating platform.
MPC and HCI concluded a cooperation agreement
aimed at placing the necessary equity capital. Upon
conclusion of the agreement, it was agreed that HCI
will pay 2.0 % of the funds raised by HCI or by its affili-
ated companies to MPC as consideration for offering
to participate in the project.

With regard to the participation in raising funds to
finance the mobile semi-submersible floating platform
Deepsea Oil Explorer, planning fees of EUR 901 thou-
sand (USD 1,345 thousand) have been invoiced. As 
at 31 December 2008, liabilities in connection with 
the cooperation amounted to EUR 27 thousand (USD
35 thousand).

(b) Relations with Mr. Jochen Döhle 
There were no significant service relationships.

(c) Relationships to Corsair III Investments 
(Luxembourg) S.a.r.l.

There were no significant service relationships. 

(d) Relationships to unconsolidated affiliated 
companies

There were no significant service relationships to the
unconsolidated affiliated companies. 

(e) Relationships to associates and joint ventures
The following business relationships existed in the
financial years 2008 and 2007 with companies in
which the HCI Group exercises joint control, or has
significant influence together with other partners: 

Balance sheet (in EUR 000’s)                                                                                                  December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Receivables from associates and joint ventures                                                                        2,555                       923

Statement of operations (in EUR 000’s)                                                                                           2008                      2007

Cost of purchased services                                                                                                      8,341                    8,085

Result from associates and joint ventures                                                                              -24,550                  14,671

Interest income                                                                                                                           200                         55
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                                                                                                                      Non-perfor-     Performance-                    Total
                                                                                                                mance-related                   based                             
EUR 000’s                                                                                                  remuneration       remuneration                             

Harald Christ                                                                                                    2,357                         --                  2,357

Wolfgang Essing                                                                                              1,436                         --                  1,436

Dr. Ralf Friedrichs                                                                                                893                     314                  1,207

Dr. Rolando Gennari                                                                                           347                     314                     661

Dr. Oliver Moosmayer                                                                                            99                       78                     177

Total                                                                                                                5,132                     706                  5,838

                                                                                                                      Non-perfor-     Performance-                    Total
                                                                                                                mance-related                   based                             
EUR 000’s                                                                                                  remuneration       remuneration                             

Wolfgang Essing                                                                                              3,562                         --                  3,562

Dr. Rolando Gennari                                                                                        1,074                         --                  1,074

Dr. Ralf Friedrichs                                                                                                821                         --                     821

Dr. Oliver Moosmayer                                                                                          522                         --                     522

Dr. Andreas Pres                                                                                                 338                         --                     338

Total                                                                                                                6,317                        --                  6,317

(f) Relationships to related persons

The variable remuneration includes bonuses that are
determined based on earnings before taxes of the
HCI Group as reported in accordance with IFRS.

In addition, there were service relationships with eFonds
Holding AG in connection with the distribution of fund
products. As at 31 December 2008, the relationship
resulted in commission expenses for the HCI Group of
EUR 5,705 thousand and USD 208 thousand.

Balance sheet (in EUR 000’s)                                                                                                  December             December
                                                                                                                                                    31, 2008                 31, 2007

Payables to executive bodies of the HCI Group                                                                           851                    1,598

Provisions for performance-based bonuses                                                                                    --                          --

Statement of operations (in EUR 000’s)                                                                                           2008                      2007

Revenues                                                                                                                                       3                       239

Personnel expenses                                                                                                                6,317                    5,838

Other operating expenses                                                                                                           257                       188

In the financial year 2008, remuneration of the mem-
bers of the Management Board of HCI Capital AG
was as follows:

In the financial year 2007, remuneration of the mem-
bers of the Management Board of HCI Capital AG
was as follows:
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The total remuneration paid to the Management
Board of HCI Capital AG during the past financial year
was EUR 6,317 thousand (2007: EUR 5,838 thou-
sand). Total remuneration for the financial year 2008
includes payments to Management Board members
on leaving the Board totalling EUR 3,820 thousand
(2007: EUR 1,829 thousand). The Board members’
contracts of Wolfgang Essing and Dr. Rolando Gen-
nari, who both resigned in 2008, contained commit-
ments in the event that their term ended prematurely.
The amounts of the payments (EUR 2,890 thousand
and EUR 930 thousand, respectively) result from the
contractual arrangements, taking into account the
remaining contractual period.

In the financial year 2008, Dr. Oliver Moosmayer sub-
scribed to fund shares in the amount of USD 25 thou-
sand. The HCI Group earned commission income

totalling USD 2 thousand from these subscriptions. 
In addition, Dr. Rolando Gennari subscribed to fund 
shares in the amount of USD 20 thousand in 2008.
The HCI Group earned commission income totalling
USD 2 thousand from these subscriptions. 

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board amounted 
to EUR 231 thousand (2007: EUR 170 thousand) 
in the financial year 2008. In addition, expenses for
per-meeting fees amounted to EUR 24 thousand
(2007: EUR 18 thousand).

(35) Contingencies and other financial 
commitments 

As at 31 December 2008, the Company had the 
following material contingencies and other financial
commitments:

In connection with the purchase of the assets underly-
ing fund design and fund structuring by special pur-
pose entities, in which the HCI Group and a partner
hold a joint share, the HCI Group has provided gua-
rantees to secure construction phase loans and, on a
regular basis, placement guarantees to secure bridge
finance facilities. In case that investment and con-
struction phase loans as well as bridge finance facili-
ties cannot be repaid as scheduled as a result of
weak markets and pending fundraising, the HCI
Group is exposed to the risk, in particular in the ship-
ping segment, that the Group will be called upon wit-
hin the scope of such contingent liabilities if the speci-
al purpose entity concerned does not obtain an

extension or prolongation of the financing commit-
ment from the banks involved. The currently available
liquidity of the HCI Group would not be sufficient if it is
called upon to a significant extent, resulting in the
Group’s illiquidity. 

The HCI Group counters this risk by intensive negotia-
tions with the lending banks, by analysing and valuing
the potentially affected ship types and orders for 
new ships, and by designing an individual action plan
for each ship affected. Potential measures include,
above all, the cancellation of orders for new ships,
delaying the scheduled date of delivery, the exchange
of ships, re-negotiating the purchase price of ships,

                                                                                      December 31, 2008                                 December 31, 2007

EUR EUR USD EUR EUR USD
000’s 000’s 000’s 000’s 000’s 000’s

Guarantees 1,480,102 343,761 1,578,036 1,362,044 317,364 1,541,008

of which drawn 941,295 256,918 950,395 851,120 229,372 917,141

Placement guarantees 639,182 263,997 521,019 313,644 68,354 361,828

of which: for funds not yet 
in distribution 248,093 60,477 260,543 279,602 55,045 331,244

Future payments under 
operating leases  3,566 3,566 -- 5,006 5,006 --
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partially deferring purchase price payments (deferred
consideration), the structuring of new employment
concepts, as well as adjustments of margins and dis-
tribution concepts on the sales side. If these measu-
res are not successful, the HCI Group needs to obtain
an equivalent financing from banks. Accordingly, the
HCI Group has initiated negotiations with banks in
order to conclude agreements to secure liquidity.

HCI Group issued guarantees regarding real estate
fund units with an aggregate value of EUR 8,900
thousand in the 2008 financial year; under these gua-

rantees, in the event of a sale of real estate held by the
investment funds and subsequent fund liquidation,
fund buyers are indemnified against any shortfall of
excess liquidity distributed below 90 % of the amount
invested. On the basis of current performance data
reported by the real estate funds, HCI Group believes
that it is unlikely to be drawn upon under these gua-
rantees.

The future payment obligations from rental and lease
agreements relate to operating leases and can be
broken down as follows: 

EUR 000’s                                                                         Remaining term                  Remaining term         Remaining term 
                                                                                               up to 1 year                 between 1 and 5            of more than 5  
                                                                                                                                                     years                          years

31 December 2008                                                                     2,180                                1,387                              --

31 December 2007                                                                     2,316                                2,690                              --

                                                                                                                                                                             New share in  
Shareholder                                                                 Date                                    Type of change                    voting rights

Fidelity Advisors Series I                                24/01/2008          Exceeding the threshold of 3 %                            3.62 %

Fidelity Advisors Series I                                05/05/2008       Falling below the threshold of 3 %                            2.82 %

Fidelity Advisors Series I                                20/05/2008          Exceeding the threshold of 3 %                            3.23 %

Fidelity Advisors Series I                                24/10/2008       Falling below the threshold of 3 %                            2.93 %

Arnold and S. Bleichroeder Holdings, Inc       28/02/2008          Exceeding the threshold of 3 %                            3.03 %

Arnold and S. Bleichroeder Holdings, Inc       10/03/2008       Falling below the threshold of 3 %                            2.95 %

Döhle Group                                                 14/03/2008        Exceeding the threshold of 15 %                          15.07 %

Döhle Group                                                 23/04/2008        Exceeding the threshold of 20 %                          20.09 %

Corsair III Investments S.a.r.l.                         30/04/2008            Falling below the thresholds of                           1.00 %
                                                                                                      20 %, 15 %, 10 %, 5 %, 3 %                                      

                                                                                                                                                                          35.13 %
MPC Münchmeyer Petersen Capital AG        30/04/2008                Exceeding the thresholds of   40.8 % after expiration
                                                                                                                     20 %, 25 %, 30 %        of the takeover offer

No other notifications were received by the Company.

(36) Declaration of compliance with the German
Corporate Governance Code

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board
of HCI Capital AG declare that the recommendations
of the Government Commission “German Corporate
Governance Code” were, with few exceptions, com-
plied with and will also be complied with in future. This
declaration, stipulated by Section 161 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG, Aktiengesetz) was
made by the Management Board and the Supervisory

Board and was made permanently available on the
website of HCI Capital AG under www.hci.de.

(37) Mandatory disclosures of transactions 
in securities or investments pursuant to 
sections 15a and 21 et seq. of the German
Securities Trading Act (WpHG)

In the financial year 2008, HCI Capital AG received
notifications of reportable shareholdings pursuant to
Section 21 of the German Securities Trading Act:
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Name

Dr. John Benjamin Schroeder
Chairman

Udo Bandow 
Deputy Chairman
Banker, Hamburg

Jochen Thomas Döhle
Businessman in the shipping
industry, Hamburg

Stefan Viering
Businessman, Barsbüttel

Membership on other statutory 
supervisory boards

Aramea Asset Management AG, Ham-
burg (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)

BÖAG Börsen AG, Hamburg/Hannover
(Chairman of the Supervisory Board)

Conrad Hinrich Donner Bank AG, Ham-
burg (Deputy Chairman of the Super -
visory Board)

HANSAINVEST Hanseatische Invest-
ment-Gesellschaft mbH, Hamburg
(Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory
Board)

Holsten-Brauerei AG, Hamburg 
(Member of the Supervisory Board)

SIGNAL IDUNA Group, Dortmund/Ham-
burg (Member of the Supervisory Board)

Fondsbörse Deutschland Beteiligungs-
makler AG, Hamburg (Chairman of the
Supervisory Board)

Eurogate Geschäftsführungs-GmbH &
Co. KGaA, Hamburg (Member of the
Supervisory Board)

Eurokai KGaA, Hamburg (Member of the
Supervisory Board)

Wellington Holdings Group SA, Rio de
Janeiro, Brazil (Member of the Super -
visory Board)

ICL – Independent Container Lines, Rich-
mond, USA (Member of the Supervisory
Board)

Compania Libra de Navegacion (Uruguay)
S.A., Montevideo, Uruguay (Member of
the Supervisory Board)

Deutsche Hypothekenbank AG, (Member
of the Supervisory Board, until February
2008)

Nimos Immobilienprojekt AG, Vienna,
Austria (Chairman of the Supervisory
Board)

Membership on comparable German and
foreign supervisory bodies

Miles Fashion GmbH, Norderstedt (Mem-
ber of the Advisory Board)

Greystone Textilhandelsgesellschaft mbH,
Hamburg (Member of the Advisory Board)

CCC Machinery GmbH, Hamburg 
(Member of the Advisory Board)

HANSA-NORD-LUX Managementge-
sellschaft AG, Luxemburg (President 
of the Board of Directors)

Deutsche Schiffsbank AG, Bremen/
Hamburg (Deputy Chairman of the Board
of Directors)

VHV Versicherungen, Hannover (Member
of the Advisory Board)

Hanseatische Wertpapierbörse Hamburg,
Hamburg (Honorary President)

Kurt und Karin Barnekow Stiftung, 
Hamburg (Deputy Chairman of the 
Management Board)

Friedrich und Louise Homann-Stiftung,
Hamburg (Deputy Chairman of the Advi-
sory Board)

Uwe Seeler-Siftung, Hamburg  (Deputy
Chairman of the Management Board)

Waltershof-Peute Hafen Betriebs
G.m.b.H., Hamburg (Member of the
Board of Directors)

Deutsche Schiffsbank AG, Bremen 
(Member of the Advisory Board)

Eckelmann KFWA GmbH & Co. KG, 
Hamburg (Advisory Board)

(38) Supervisory Board and Management Board
At the Annual General Meeting held on 15 May 2008,
new members were elected to the Supervisory Board

of HCI Capital AG following the resignation of mem-
bers from office. The Supervisory Board consists of
the following members:
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The following have been appointed members of the
Management Board of the Company:

■  Dr. Ralf Friedrichs, Master's degree in Business
Administration (Diplom-Kaufmann), Stade 
(since 1 June 2008)

■  Dr. Oliver Moosmayer, Lawyer, Hamburg
■  Dr. Andreas Pres, Lawyer and Master's degree in

Business Administration (Diplom-Kaufmann),
Hamburg (since 13 August 2008)

■  Wolfgang Essing, Banker, Rheine, Chairman 
(until 31 May 2008)
Managing Director of Wolfgang Essing Beteiligungs
GmbH, Rheine

■  Dr. Rolando Gennari, Businessman, Hamburg 
(until 30 June 2008)

The remuneration of members of the Management
Board and the Supervisory Board is presented in
Note (34).

Name

Karl Gernandt
Businessman, Hamburg

Alexander Stuhlmann
Lawyer, Hamburg

Membership on other statutory 
supervisory boards

Holcim (Deutschland) AG, Hamburg 
(Member of the Supervisory Board)

Alstria office REIT-AG, Hamburg (Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board)

BVV Pensionsfonds des Bankgewerbes
AG, Berlin (Member of the Supervisory
Board)

Capital Stage AG, Hamburg (Deputy
Chairman of the Supervisory Board)

Deutsche Hypothekenbank (Actien-
Gesellschaft) (Chairman)

Hamburger-Feuerkasse Versicherung
AG, Hamburg (Deputy Chairman of the
Supervisory Board)

LBK Bausparkasse Schleswig-Holstein-
Hamburg AG, Hamburg (Member of the
Supervisory Board) 

Membership on comparable German and
foreign supervisory bodies

Kühne Holding AG, Schindellegi, Switzer-
land (Delegate of the Administrative Board)

Kühne + Nagel International AG, Schin-
dellegi, Switzerland (Delegate of the
Administrative Board)

Deutsche Bank Nord (Member of the
Advisory Board)

BVV Versicherungsverein des Bankge -
werbes a.G., Berlin (Member of the
Supervisory Board)

BVV Versorgungskasse des Bankge -
werbes e.V., Berlin (Member of the
Supervisory Board)

Frank Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH,
Hamburg (Member of the Advisory
Board)

HASPA Finanzholding, Hamburg (Mem-
ber of the Board of Trustees)

Siedlungsbaugesellschaft Hermann und
Paul Frank mbH & Co. KG, Hamburg
(Chairman of the Advisory Board)

Studio Hamburg Berlin Brandenburg
GmbH, Hamburg (Member of the Advi-
sory Board)

Jahr Holding GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg
(Chairman of the Advisory Board)
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Dr. Oliver Moosmayer
Member of the
Management Board

Dr. Ralf Friedrichs
Chairman of the
Management Board

Dr. Andreas Pres
Member of the
Management Board

Responsibility Statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with
the applicable group reporting principles, the consoli-
dated financial statements give a true and fair view of
net assets, financial position and result of operations of
the Group, and the group management report includes
a fair review of the development and performance of
the business and the position of the Group, together

with a description of the principal opportunities and
risks associated with the expected development of the
Group.

Hamburg, 4 March 2009

HCI Capital AG

Dr. Oliver Moosmayer
Member of the
Management Board

Dr. Ralf Friedrichs
Chairman of the
Management Board

Dr. Andreas Pres
Member of the
Management Board

(39) Auditors’ fees
The auditors’ fees recognised as an expense in the
consolidated financial statements amounted to EUR
502 thousand in the financial year 2008 (2007: EUR
433 thousand), and is comprised of the following 
items:

The fees for the audit of financial statements include
expenses of EUR 157 thousand for audit activities of
the 2007 consolidated financial statements. 

(40) Events after the balance sheet date
No significant events have occurred in the financial
year 2009.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared
by the Management Board on 4 March 2009 and will
be submitted to the Supervisory Board for authorisati-
on for issue. The consolidated financial statements will
be submitted to the Supervisory Board for approval at
the Supervisory Board meeting on 5 March 2009. 

Hamburg, 4 March 2009

HCI Capital AG

Type of service                                       Fees in EUR 000’s

Audit of financial statements                                       385

Other testation and 
valuation services                                                         81

Tax advisory services                                                   31

Other services                                                                5
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements
prepared by HCI Capital AG, comprising the consolida-
ted balance sheet, the consolidated statement of ope-
rations, the consolidated statement of changes in equi-
ty, the consolidated cash flow statement and the notes
to the consolidated financial statements, together with
the report on the position of the Company and the
Group for the business year from January 1 to Decem-
ber 31, 2008. The preparation of the consolidated
financial statements and the group management report
in accordance with IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, and
the additional requirements of German commercial law
pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch
”German Commercial Code“] are the responsibility of
the Management Board of the Company. Our responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on the consolidated finan-
cial statements and on the group management report
based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with § 317 HGB [Handels-
gesetzbuch ”German Commercial Code“] and German
generally accepted standards for the audit of financial
statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschafts -
prüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit such that misstatements materially affecting the
presentation of the net assets, financial position and
results of operations in the consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework and in the group management
report are detected with reasonable assurance.
Knowledge of the business activities and the economic
and legal environment of the Group and expectations
as to possible misstatements are taken into account in
the determination of audit procedures. The effective-
ness of the accounting-related internal control system
and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements and the group
management report are examined primarily on a test
basis within the framework of the audit. The audit inclu-
des assessing the annual financial statements of those
entities included in consolidation, the determination of
entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting
and consolidation principles used and significant esti-

mates made by the Management Board, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements and group management report.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the
consolidated financial statements comply with IFRSs,
as adopted by the EU, the additional requirements of
German commercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1
HGB and give a true and fair view of the net assets,
financial position and results of operations of the Group
in accordance with these requirements. The group
management report is consistent with the consolidated
financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable
view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the
opportunities and risks of future development.

Without qualifying this opinion, we refer to the discussi-
on of the Company’s Management Board in Note (1)
“Basis of presentation” and (35) “Contingencies and
other financial commitments” of the notes to the con-
solidated financial statements and in section E, I.9
“Financial risks” of the group management report. It is
stated there that the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern is dependent on the successful comple-
tion of the negotiations of the HCI Group with the
banks, which are aimed at the implementation of the
necessary liquidity-securing measures with respect to
the existing contingent liabilities of the HCI Group resul-
ting from guarantees and placement guarantees

Hamburg, 4  March 2009

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
(formerly
KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft 
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft)

Schmidt                          Tauchen
Wirtschaftsprüfer            Wirtschaftsprüfer

Auditors’ Report
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Ladies and Gentlemen,

HCI Capital AG has achieved a remarkable result in
terms of placements in the 2008 financial year, in a
challenging environment. Against a background of 
significant changes to the shareholder structure, the
composition of the Supervisory Board and not least 
of the Management Board of HCI Capital AG, and
despite a significant non-recurring charge from the
write-down of the investment in NY Credit Operating
Partnership LP, HCI demonstrated its operative
strength, beating the market trend to take the top
position of the industry with EUR 599 million in place-
ments during 2008. Even though original profit targets
could not be achieved, due to non-recurring effects
and the adverse general market conditions that pre -
vailed particularly during the fourth quarter of 2008,
the HCI Group proved the strength of its product port-
folio and sales force. We thus consider the company
well-positioned to continue expanding its market posi-
tion as one of the leading providers in the industry,
even in the difficult environment expected for 2009.

On the basis of a resolution adopted by the General
Meeting on 15 May 2008, the size of the Supervisory
Board was increased from three to six members. In
this regard, the General Meeting elected Jochen Döhle,
Dr John Benjamin Schroeder and Stefan Viering as
new members of the Supervisory Board. At its mee-
ting of 9 June 2008, the Supervisory Board elected 
Dr John Benjamin Schroeder as its new chairman. 
The previous chair, Udo Bandow, was elected Deputy
Chairman of the Supervisory Board. 

Mr Wolfgang Essing, then Chairman of the Manage-
ment Board, and the Supervisory Board of HCI Capital
AG agreed by mutual consent on 23 April 2008 that 
Mr Essing’s contract would be terminated with effect
from 31 May 2008. On 8 May 2008 the Supervisory
Board appointed Dr Ralf Friedrichs as a new member
of the Management Board and also appointed him as
CEO. Dr Friedrichs took up his position with effect from
1 June 2008 as agreed. The previous CFO, Dr Rolando
Gennari, and the Supervisory Board of HCI Capital 
AG agreed by mutual consent on 30 June 2008 that  
Dr Gennari’s contract would be terminated with effect
from that date. On 25 July 2008, the Supervisory Board
appointed Dr Andreas Pres as a new member of the
Management Board and, at the same time, Chief
Financial Officer (CFO), effective 13 August 2008.

The Supervisory Board of HCI Capital AG held four
scheduled meetings in 2008. Key agenda items dealt
with during these meetings included:

■  Passing of a resolution on the approval of the finan-
cial statements and the consolidated financial state-
ments, and on the proposal of the Management
Board for the appropriation of net retained profit for
2007

■  Discussion of the quarterly financial reports, and of
the  half-yearly financial report 2008

■  Submission of the risk management report

■  Presentation and discussion of the investment held
by HCI Real Estate Finance I GmbH & Co. KG in NY
Credit Operating Partnership LP

■  Corporate planning and strategic direction

■  Approval of the acquisition of a 25.1% stake in
eFonds Holding AG by HCI Capital AG 

■  Approval of the acquisition of a stake in HAMMONIA
Reederei GmbH & Co. KG by General Electric Trans-
portation Finance

■  Approval of the sale of the 25% plus one share stake
in Aragon AG

In the context of the increase in size of the Supervisory
Board, in its meeting on 14 November 2008 the Super-
visory Board adopted new internal rules of procedure
for the Supervisory Board and for the Management
Board of HCI Capital AG. Based on the new internal
rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board, a Human
Resources Committee, an Audit Committee, and an
Investment Committee were established. The new
internal rules of procedure for the Management Board
provide for reduced thresholds determining transac-
tions requiring Supervisory Board approval.

All members of the Supervisory Board attended all
meetings. A total of 17 resolutions were adopted outsi-
de meetings.

The Supervisory Board has reviewed and examined
the report on business relationships with affiliated
enterprises (dependancy report – Abhängigkeitsbe-
richt), as prepared by the Management Board in accor-
dance with section 312 of the AktG. The external audi-
tors have confirmed that the report is free from factual
misrepresentations, and that the company did not pay
any excessive consideration with regard to the transac-

Report of the Supervisory Board
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tions identified in the report. The Supervisory Board rai-
sed no objections against the declaration made by the
Management Board within the scope of the subordina-
te dependancy report.

The Management Board of HCI Capital AG informed
the Supervisory Board about material issues regarding
company management, promptly and on a regular
basis, and ensured that the Chairman of the Super -
visory Board was regularly kept informed on events 
of fundamental importance. The Chairman of the
Management Board and the Chairman of the Super -
visory Board also maintained close contacts outside
scheduled Supervisory Board meetings. The relations-
hip between the Management Board and the Supervi-
sory Board is characterised by transparency, allowing
the Supervisory Board to efficiently carry out its monito-
ring and advisory functions. Furthermore, the Super -
visory Board maintained direct contacts to the major
shareholders of HCI Capital AG.

The Supervisory Board complies with the German
 Corporate Governance Code to a large extent. The
Supervisory Board and Management Board issued 
the Declaration of Compliance pursuant to section 161
of the AktG on 29 January 2009. Please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report for details. 

The Annual General Meeting on 15 May 2008 appoin-
ted KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft Aktienge-
sellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft (since 1
October 1008 KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesell-
schaft), as external auditors for the financial statements
and the consolidated financial statements for the finan-
cial year from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2008.

KPMG AG has audited the annual financial statements
of HCI Capital AG for the period ended on 31 Decem-
ber 2008 and the management report, and have issu-
ed their unqualified audit opinion which contains an
explanatory paragraph. The consolidated financial
statements were prepared in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adop-
ted by the EU, and the additional requirements of Ger-
man commercial law pursuant to section 315a (1) of
the HGB, and supplemented by the Group manage-
ment report forming an additional component. The
consolidated financial statements and group manage-
ment report were also audited by the external auditors
and given an unqualified opinion which contains an
explanatory paragraph. The audit report for  the
financial statements also affirmed that the Manage-

ment Board took the measures for the early detection
of risks, as set out in section 91 (2) of the AktG.

The Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board analy-
sed and reviewed the reports of the external auditors
regarding HCI Capital AG and the HCI Group in great
detail, and the Chairman of the Supervisory Board held
a personal discussion with the external auditors. The
Audit Committee held two meetings on 10 February
2009 and on 5 March 2009; during the first meeting,
the Committee discussed key issues regarding the
financial statements with the external auditors. During
the second meeting, the financial statements themsel-
ves were discussed, and were explained to the subse-
quent plenary meeting of the Supervisory Board (also
on 5 March 2009) in detail. All audit reports and docu-
mentation regarding the financial statements were
made available to the members of the Supervisory
Board in good time. Having conducted its independent
review, the Supervisory Board agreed to the results of
the audit by the auditors. In particular, the Supervisory
Board concerned itself in great detail with the com-
ments regarding risks threatening the company’s con-
tinued existence, and discussed these in detail with the
external auditors, and with the Management Board.
The Supervisory Board endorsed the consolidated
financial statements, the financial statements, and the
reports on the position of HCI Capital AG and the
group, as prepared by the Management Board. The
financial statements were thus approved.

The Supervisory Board of HCI Capital AG would like to
thank the Management Board for the trusting coopera-
tion. The Supervisory Board also thanks all members of
staff, for their strong commitment during the 2008
financial year.

Hamburg, 5 March 2009

Dr. John Benjamin Schroeder, 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Dr. John Benjamin Schroeder
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Corporate Governance

The German Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
includes numerous rules and guidelines for the man-
agement and supervision (governance) of German listed
companies. HCI Capital AG largely complies with the
standards set by the Code, and complies with its rec-
ommendations; a small number of exceptions is
required by (and substantiated with reference to) the
company’s specific circumstances. The Management
Board and Supervisory Board believe that good corpo-
rate governance advances value-oriented manage-
ment. Notwithstanding this positive influence, the Code
only provides the structural basis – putting this into
practice is an essential task for anyone acting on the
company’s behalf. The members of the Management
Board and Supervisory Board of HCI Capital AG are
committed to trusting and efficient cooperation. Our
decisions are guided by the objective of increasing
company value. We see the transparent and compre-
hensive communication with shareholders and other
stakeholders as a natural part of what we do. 

Management Board and Supervisory Board
HCI Capital AG operates a dual-level management and
control structure, in accordance with German company
law. The three members of the Management Board
manage the company independently, with the objective
of a sustained increase in company value. As a rule, the
Management Board meets for scheduled meetings
every fortnight; its members are in constant close con-
tact outside regular meetings. The composition of the
Management Board was subject to change during the
financial year under review. An introduction of the Man-
agement Board is provided on page 4 of this Annual
Report.

The Supervisory Board of HCI Capital AG performs
monitoring and advisory duties. It consists of six mem-
bers, who are introduced in the Report of the Supervi-
sory Board on page 120; their offices held are listed in
the Notes, on pages 116 et seq. The Supervisory
Board’s responsibilities include the approval (and
hence, confirmation) of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the financial statements of HCI Capital AG;
for this purpose, the Supervisory Board maintains close
contacts with the external auditors. The members of
the Supervisory Board do not maintain any personal or
business relationships with the company that would
give rise to any conflicts of interest, and would hence
compromise their independence. Over and above his

involvement as a major shareholder of HCI Capital AG,
Supervisory Board member Mr Jochen Döhle has an
interest in parts of the HCI Group’s operative shipping
business, through his group of companies, for exam-
ple, in the capacity of shipowner or freight broker. No
conflicts of interest have arisen from this to date. Within
the context of the increase in size of the Supervisory
Board, from three to six members, the Supervisory
Board established an Audit Committee, a Human
Resources Committee, and an Investment Committee
by way of a resolution adopted on 14 November 2008.

Close dialogue between the Management Board
and the Supervisory Board
Regular contacts between the members of the Man-
agement Board and the Supervisory Board are a key
element of efficient cooperation, in the company’s best
interests. During the four Supervisory Board meetings,
the Management Board gave a detailed account of HCI
Group’s corporate planning, business strategy, and
current business developments. Discussions also cov-
ered risk management issues and divergences between
business development and budget planning.The mem-
bers of the Management Board notify the Supervisory
Board without delay of any conflicts of interest as they
arise. There were no conflicts of interest affecting any
member of the Management Board during the financial
year under review. 

Directors’ Dealings
In accordance with section 15a of the German Securi-
ties Trading Act (WpHG), the company discloses an
up-to-date listing of securities transactions executed
by members of the Management Board or Supervisory
Board, on HCI Groups’s website (www.hci.de ⇒
Investor Relations ⇒Corporate Governance).

Securities holdings
No member of the Management Board directly or indi-
rectly held more than 1% of the company’s shares in
issue on 31 December 2008. Mr Jochen Döhle, who
was elected to the Supervisory Board of HCI Capital AG
by the Annual General Meeting on 15 May 2008, holds
a 21.43 % stake in the share capital of HCI Capital AG,
including indirect shareholdings via Döhle ICL Beteili-
gungsgesellschaft mbH, Peter Döhle Schiffahrts-KG,
and Verwaltungsgesellschaft Peter Döhle mbH. No other
member of the Supervisory Board directly or indirectly
holds more than 1% of the company’s shares in issue.
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Open and active communications
The company provides extensive information to all tar-
get groups, on a timely basis, thus ensuring that mate-
rial information is made available to the general public
at the same time. Moreover, HCI Capital AG maintains
a close and transparent dialogue with the capital mar-
kets and the general public. To us, this is an integral
part of successful company management.

HCI Capital AG uses a variety of communication chan-
nels. The company’s quarterly and annual reports give
a detailed account on business developments, finan-
cial position, and profitability. In addition, current devel-
opments are covered in numerous press releases.
Throughout the year, the Press and Public Relations
Office conducts a large number of discussions with
media representatives, and is always ready to answer
any queries regarding HCI. All shareholders have the
opportunities for direct interaction with management
at the General Meeting. Within the scope of our
Investor Relations activities, we regularly present the
company on capital market and investor conferences,
maintaining direct contacts with analysts, as well as
with private and institutional investors.

Company structure
The HCI Group is managed and controlled by the
Management Board and, at an operational level, by

the Senior General Managers and by the Managing
Directors of subsidiaries. 

Managing opportunities and risks 
The systematic management of opportunities and
risks is an essential element of good corporate gov-
ernance. In this context, actively exploiting opportu-
nities whilst avoiding risk exposure is crucially impor-
tant to the company’s continued existence. The
ongoing development and refinement of this system
falls within the responsibility of the Management
Board. For more detailed information, please refer to
pages 50 et seq. of this Annual Report.

Accounting and external reporting
HCI Group’s accounts are prepared in line with Inter -
 national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as
adopted by the EU. The Annual General Meeting
appointed KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft
Aktiengesell schaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft,
Berlin and Frankfurt/Main (since 1 October 2008
KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft), as audi-
tors for the financial statements and consolidated
financial statements. The Supervisory Board has
arranged for the external auditors to report, without
delay, on all facts and events of importance for the
tasks of the Supervi sory Board which arise during the
performance of the audit.

Declaration of Compliance

Declaration of Compliance by the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board of HCI Capital AG 
in accordance with section 161 of the AktG 
on the German Corporate Governance Code
The Management Board and the Supervisory Board of
HCI Capital AG declare that the company has com-
plied with the recommendations of the Government
commission ‘German Corporate Governance Code’,
as amended on 14 June 2007 (the “Previous Code”)
and published by the German Federal Ministry of Jus-
tice in the official section of the electronic Federal
Gazette (Bundesanzeiger), since the last declaration
and until 8 August 2008, subject to the exceptions
identified below.

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board of
HCI Capital AG also declare that the company has
complied with the recommendations of the Govern-
ment commission 'German Corporate Governance
Code', as amended on 6 June 2008 (the “Code”) and

published by the German Federal Ministry of Justice in
the official section of the electronic Federal Gazette
(Bundesanzeiger) on 8 August 2008, since 9 August
2008, and will continue to do so in the future, subject
to the exceptions identified below.

If the company takes out a D&O (directors and officers’
liability insurance) policy for the Management Board
and Supervisory Board, a suitable deductible shall be
agreed (Section 3.8 of the Code). HCI Capital AG has
taken out a D&O liability insurance policy for members
of the Management Board and the Super visory Board
that does not provide for a deductible. HCI Capital AG
believes that such a deductible would not enhance the
members’ sense of responsibility in carrying out their
duties and functions. HCI Capital AG’s position is in line
with international standards. 

An age limit for members of the Management Board
shall be specified (Section 5.1.2 (2) sentence 3 of the
Code). HCI Capital AG does not currently have an age
limit for the members of its Management Board, nor
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does it plan to introduce such a limit. Key qualifications
for members of the Management Board are the nec-
essary knowledge, skills and specialist experience;
therefore HCI Capital AG does not consider an age
limit to be adequate.

Depending on the specifics of the enterprise and the
number of the Supervisory Board’s members, the
Supervisory Board shall form committees, each having
expertise in a particular field (Section 5.3.1 of the Code).
The Supervisory Board shall set up an Audit Committee
(Section 5.3.2 of the Code) and a Nomination Commit-
tee (Section 5.3.3 of the Code). Up until 28 May 2008
the Supervisory Board of HCI Capital AG was com-
posed of only three persons in accordance with the
company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association.
The General Meeting of HCI Capital AG, on 15 May
2008, resolved to increase the size of the Supervisory
Board from three to six members. In accordance with
section 181 (3) of the AktG, this increase entered into
effect on 29 May 2008 upon its entry in the company’s
commercial register. Until such time as the Supervisory
Board was increased in size, the formation of commit-
tees did not appear appropriate. By virtue of a resolution
adopted on 14 November 2008, the company’s Super-
visory Board established an Investment Committee, an
Audit Commitee, and a Human Resources Committee.

An age limit to be specified shall be taken into account
for nominations for the election of members of the
Supervisory Board (Section 5.4.1 sentence 2 of the
Code). HCI Capital AG does not currently have an age
limit for the members of its Supervisory Board, nor does
it plan to introduce such a limit. Key qualifications for
members of the Supervisory Board are the necessary

knowledge, skills and specialist experience; therefore
HCI Capital AG does not consider an age limit to be
adequate.

Pursuant to Section 5.4.6, para. 2, sentence 1 of the
Code / Section 5.4.7, para. 2, sentence 1 of the previ-
ous Code, the members of the Supervisory Board should
receive a performance-related form of remuneration as
well as a fixed component. The Memorandum and Arti-
cles of Association of HCI Capital AG do not provide for
any performance-related compensation for members of
the Supervisory Board. HCI Capital AG believes that
performance-related compensation would not enhance
the Supervisory Board’s monitoring functions.

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of 
HCI Capital AG

Hamburg, 4 March 2009

For the Management Board:

Dr. Ralf Friedrichs
Chairman of the Management Board

For the Supervisory Board:

Dr. John Benjamin Schroeder
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Remuneration Report

The Supervisory Board is responsible for setting the
remuneration of the Management Board members,
reviewing it in regular intervals. From an internal per-
spective, the level of compensation is defined by ref-
erence to the company’s size, its business develop-
ment, and financial circumstances. The area of
responsibility of each Management Board member,
as well as his personal performance, are also taken
into account. Taking an external view, the remunera-
tion package is comparable to the compensation
levels of peer-group companies. In this way, HCI
Capital AG ensures that its remuneration structure
provides sufficient incentives for highly-qualified
executives.

The compensation of the Supervisory Board was
adopted by the Annual General Meeting on 18 May
2006 and is specified in Article 11 (4) of the Memo-
randum and Articles of Association. 

Further details regarding the principles, structure, and
level of remuneration of the Management Board and
Supervisory Board are provided on pages 48 and 50
of this Annual Report.  The information complies with
the requirements of the German Corporate Governance
Code, and includes disclosures required pursuant to
sections 314 and 315 of the German Commercial Code,
and pursuant to the German Act on the Disclosure of
Executive Board Remuneration. 
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Financial Calendar
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Jun/Jul 2009 Annual General Meeting
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11 Nov 2009 Publication of the interim report for the first nine months
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